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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we" or “us”) is
a real estate investment, property development and property management
group operating in the mainland of the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland
China”) and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong").

The Group is persistently positioned as an operator of boutique properties,
with a strong focus on the investment, development and sales of commercial
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the centres of which are Hong Kong,
Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as other regions including Shanghai and
Sydney, Australia. It is also actively exploring the “real estate plus” business
opportunities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$104.3 million (2018: HK$895.4 million), pre-
sold saleable gross floor area ("GFA") of 8,172 square metres (“sq.m.”) (2018:
112,715 sg.m.) and gross profit margin of recognised sales of 49.3% (2018:
29.2%).

In 2019, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$272.0 million (2018: HK$245.4 million), representing
an increase of approximately 10.8%. As at 31 December 2019, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group's investment properties was approximately
87.4%. As at 31 December 2019, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s
operating investment property portfolio increased to approximately 240,834
sq.m. from approximately 220,970 sq.m. as at 31 December 2018. Taking
into account the projects that have been completed but yet to operate in
the next one to two years, the estimated total leasable GFA of the Group’s
investment property portfolio will reach approximately 300,268 sq.m.. Its fair
value was approximately HK$8.22 billion as at 31 December 2019, representing
approximately 32.9% of the Group’s total asset value. In addition, as at 31
December 2019, the accumulated total area of properties managed by the
Group amounted to approximately 14,310,000 sq.m., of which approximately
9,440,000 sq.m. was properties not developed by the Group and approximately
550,000 sg.m. was commercial property management projects. Currently, one
of the property companies of the Group ranked 67th in the “Top 100 Property
Service Companies in China” in 2019 and has been recognised as one of the
“Top 100 Property Service Companies in China” for five consecutive years from
2015 to 2019 with its scale of property management expanding year on year.
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As at 31 December 2019, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 19 projects of the Group was approximately 512,588 sg.m.. In terms of land
bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Greater Bay Area and the
first-tier cities in China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.

BUSINESS ANALYSIS

China’s economy, including its real estate market, remained subject to rather
complicated conditions in 2019. At the Central Economic Work Conference
held in December 2019, it was pointed out that “risks and challenges at
home and abroad have significantly increased”, “the downside pressure for
the economy has increased” in China, multiple issues “have intertwined” and
“sources and risk points have increased significantly across the globe” in 2019.
The government's position of “housing for accommodation, not speculative
trade” was emphasised, and the resolute implementation of “the long-term
management and control mechanism for stabilising land premium, housing
prices and expectations” was affirmed. Against this backdrop, the policy
environment for the domestic real estate market was tightened in general,
underpinned by squeezed financing, slackened sales and dampened enthusiasm
in land acquisition. The real estate industry became increasingly concentrated,
as market leaders were engaged in intense competition, while small and
medium enterprises were facing greater pressure.

Based on our close monitoring of and anticipatory deliberations on current
economic conditions, we have persisted in the strategy of prudent progress
and made strategic adjustments to our business and financial structure ahead
of time. As a result, we have been able to sustain stable operations amidst the
complex business environment in 2019. With the launch of various operational
initiatives and the development of new projects coupled with the marketing of
one project in each of Hong Kong and Shenzhen, respectively, we expect our
profitability to pick up gradually in 2020.
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We utilised our cashflow from operating activities to engage in vigorous
development of premium projects. In cities that holds out good prospects
but where we have yet to deploy development teams, we entered into joint
ventures with other developers capitalising on our strong cashflow and locked
in short-to-medium-term gains by way of financial investment. Currently,
several projects of this nature have been entered into in the Greater Bay Area
and Australia. Meanwhile, we strongly focused on Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Dongguan and other core cities of the Greater Bay Area, where we actively
explored project opportunities relating to urban renewal and conversion and
urban industrial community. We have entered into an agreement for strategic
cooperation with the district government of Panyu District, Guangzhou,
pursuant to which joint efforts will be actively sought in connection with smart
retail commercial complex and industrial community.

We have been actively driving the progress of our development projects
in Mainland China according to our plans. The Shuixie Mansion Project at
Shangtang Metro Station in Longhua District, Shenzhen, a high-end residential
project with a GFA of approximately 73,000 sq.m., is scheduled for pre-sale
in the third quarter of 2020; the Shangtang Metro Station Commercial/Office
Project in Longhua District, Shenzhen with a GFA of approximately 122,000
sg.m. is scheduled for pre-sale in the second quarter of 2021; the Buji Project
in Shenzhen with a GFA of approximately 264,000 sq.m. (subject to final
approval) is scheduled for project listing in 2020 and pre-sale is expected in
2023 at the earliest; the Dalang Project in Longhua District, Shenzhen with a
GFA of 113,000 sq.m. (subject to final approval) is scheduled for project listing
and planning approval in 2021 and pre-sale is expected in the second quarter
of 2024 at the earliest.

Our projects in Hong Kong have also reported sound progress. The Kowloon
Tong Waterloo Road Project, located in a traditional high-end residential area
and a much coveted school net with a GFA of approximately 86,000 square
feet (“sq.ft.”), is scheduled for pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020; the Shap
Pat Heung Road Project in Yuen Long with a GFA of approximately 245,000
sq.ft. is scheduled for pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2022; the Tai Tong Road
Project in Yuen Long with a GFA of approximately 36,000 sq.ft. is scheduled for
pre-sale in the third quarter of 2022; the Ma Sik Road Project in Sheung Shui
(with a site area of approximately 98,000 sq.ft.) has received approval from the
Town Planning Board for development into low-density residential units; the
Tong Yan San Tsuen Project in Yuen Long (with a site area of approximately
119,000 sq.ft.) is an agricultural land site for which the Group is currently
engaged in active negotiations with the government in relation to its proposed
participation in the land sharing scheme, which is expected to hold out better
prospects for development. The Group has also been working actively through
various channels to identify opportunities for investment in premium projects,
with a view to ensuring continuous investment and development in the Hong
Kong market.
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In connection with commercial and properties management, our commercial
company was named among the top 100 commercial real estate enterprises in
China; our property company was awarded the title of “Accredited Enterprise
for Trustworthy and Exemplary Operations” in 2019, while ranking 67th among
the “Top 100 Property Companies 2019” and being included in the “Top 50
Property Companies in Shenzhen”. In the meantime, we continued to explore
opportunities and report positive results in relation to the development of
asset-light licensing, metro station commercial facilities, aviation properties,
government properties, school property management and others in 2019. In
the future, we will actively expand our property management business in terms
of the number of projects and area managed, looking to a spin-off listing as
and when appropriate.

In connection with our “real estate plus” business, we have established a
joint venture with the operator of “Creative Kindergarten” and “Creative Day
Nursery”, a renowned kindergarten and nursery group in Hong Kong, in an
active move to expand and enhance our existing education-related operations,
as well as to develop the education market in Mainland China, in connection
with which a number of education projects in the Greater Bay Area are
currently under negotiation. In addition, we have established “Future Cities
Technologies Group Limited” (7K 24 T B2 & B A R 2 &) in joint venture
for the promotion and application of the deliverables of advanced scientific
research relating to smart building, smart city and smart life, with a view to
integrating such state-of-the-art technologies into our property projects, as well
as into industries, commercial activities and the human residential ecology, such
that new product models and residential experience will be created.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Consistent focus on opportunities in the Greater Bay Area,
particularly core cities in such area

As one of the regions with the strongest economic vitality in China and the
world, the Greater Bay Area reported GDP of over RMB10,000 billion in 2018
with a total population of over 70 million. During the first half of 2019, with
the successive announcements of important documents, such as the Outline
Development Plan for Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
promulgated by the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (“CPC
Central Committee”) and the State Council, Opinion on the Implementation
of the Outline Development Plan for Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area promulgated by the Guangdong Province and the Three Year Action
Plan of Guangdong Province for the Development of the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (2018-2020), the development progress of
Greater Bay Area is gaining pace.

Core cities in the Greater Bay Area were fuelled by various favourable news.
In August 2019, according to the Opinions of the CPC Central Committee
and the State Council on Supporting Shenzhen in Building a Pioneering
Demonstration Zone for Socialism with Chinese Characteristics promulgated
by the State, Shenzhen will be built into an international benchmark city full
of competitiveness, creativity and effectiveness. In the following October,
CPC Central Committee published “four action plans” to be introduced by
Guangzhou, and proposed to connect the revitalization of Guangzhou and
the building of the pilot demonstration area of Shenzhen and support the
implementation of the projects at full steam with equal strength and force.
Nansha District of Guangzhou City is facing a development breakthrough. It
is located in central part of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area,
which has the advantages of the overlap of the three zones including the
State-Level New Area, Pilot Free Trade Zone and the Demonstration Zone for
Comprehensive Cooperation among Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao. In
2019, an infrastructure investment project over RMB570 billion was introduced
(according to the press release). At present, a “half-hour transport circle” is
initially developed in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

The Group will seize the historic opportunities presented by the development
of the Greater Bay Area with intensive effort. With a strong focus on core
cities such as Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Guangzhou (particularly Nansha District)
and Dongguan, the Group will endeavour to explore opportunities for urban
industrial community projects and premium land parcels on a highly selective
basis as well as planning and creating large-scale urban industrial community
projects integrating industry, commerce and residence with all-round resources.
On the other hand, we make key concerns on opportunities of urban renewal
and reform projects in Shenzhen and Guangzhou. It is expected that favourable
outcomes are coming on stream in 2020.
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Maintaining and moderately expanding the portfolio of
rental properties promising steady growth

The Group is of the view that it is imperative to maintain a steadily growing
rental income. The Group looks forward to achieving greater growth in rental
income by expanding the portfolio of premium properties held as investment.
In the meantime, the Group will also actively develop the light-asset business
model of sub-leasing, namely, to rent entire blocks of selected quality
properties with good potential at lower fixed prices and then sub-lease their
units at a premium after upgrading such properties with the Group’s superior
resources for commercial operations, with the aim of unleashing higher profit
returns through the model of light-asset operation coupled with value-added
management.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.
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China International Electronic Commerce Center
China National Credit Information Service Ltd. China National Credit Information Service Ltd. Market Supervision and Regulation Bureau
of Shenzhen Municipality

I EELE DI L]
GR201 B0 L ROk M

RYTRRDERBEERAF] FMNTREMERBBRAR EMTRRDEREERAF EMTRRDEREERAF

018 FERITNERBEELES ARAEERTIEES BIEFHRAAR 018FEHEMERB LR

Ehht® FEEREFEERL FEARRITEITERNBEFE BEMNTRERTEMRBESRD
RYTOEREETERE LIREEREREEARAR HE

BARRERERARNTIHA AR

Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.  Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.  Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.  Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2018 Shenzhen Top 50 Property Management Certificate of Business Credit Evaluation Credit Rating of AAA 2018 Top Ten Property Management Enterprises
Companies in terms of Comprehensive Strength  China International Electronic Commerce Centre Credit rating agencies recognised by the head The Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural

Shenzhen Property Management Association China National Credit Information Service Ltd. office of the People’s Bank of China Development in Wujin district, Changzhou
China Lianhe Credit Information Service Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Branch
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ER—KRLTRAE  £EBH TEEEHANRE
B RSB AHRCEEREERARZMHEEME -
ZER REX-BEEBRIPRETHEEL &
BEITIHAEE D ERDINEEEEE
BEETHOEECEHEETIENER

SENE - AEEIEE RS E
TR KA B RERE -
HE - EELNERNE N EEROBE
nE .

RERA—EBNRT E2EEERNEBER
24 HOMELENINER B -F—FF
B REEREGEKEESAFEAIIHER
PEESHA -ARPEES  RERBER
& TAREINERKBERESR - [
B RKIR-E-=FHRYTRREEES
T RAZ(XBHEER BEAFZA:
BHANBEIERE ERASQGEEINGR
5 BEBRXFM2ESET S AREB BN
RPBEEEEXNERAEBL O NE -

As an evolving listed company living up its corporate value of “joint efforts
in creating and celebrating success”, Top Spring is always conscious of its
responsibilities as a corporate citizen to the community at large and spares
no effort in fulfilling its social responsibility and has always been proactive in
promoting the development of corporate social responsibility.

In 2019, the Group, under the leadership of our Chairman, Mr WONG Chun
Hong, gained a lot of recognitions from society for a variety of charitable works
including the provision of aids to minority society, improving the living standard
of the community and making contributions in education and cultural affairs.

Top Spring put forward with continued efforts to support students from poor
families for further education in China. Since 2010, Top Spring and China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation have jointly established New Great Wall
Scholarship Project — Top Spring International Scholarships, providing supports
to college students from poor families in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Jiangxi and
Sichuan. Meanwhile, Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation, founded in
2013, adheres to its philosophy of “supporting education development,
caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian spirit, developing social welfare
undertakings”, and has proactively supported and participated in various charity
activities in the society and donations, contributing its part to the development
of the charity undertakings in China.
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—hF EENMFITRREEEZEN
EREREEESS URTFHIODESE
RINTREXBES  LECHAHRESE
BITHIIRERESIAR]  EHAE &Y

HEe2g [—F - RIBREEFEDL  KE
BEBHLEHBIOEE Tﬁﬁjﬂﬁ499%/aﬂ:
N EFDFNRERE  KEHAEXLEE
NEREH G AXEMBRIRS

ENMEHERSERBERE REGFEINE
REEZ AEBREMNTEREZSSMEMN
TEYREES  HIEEEAONE208E B
hERBEMENRBEZZ  RNEHNTERE
BEEGEzZN BEOTRARNEGRE
TR

AEERREROER  —0ORTRIRAE -
KE HESEZQAREY  BORAEET
FEANRTCEAR - #ELEML N
FERE -

In 2019, the Group and Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation has made
donations of over HK$4.99 million in total to the institutions or activities such as
Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (bt IEZ 22 HH © &), Beijing Zhonglun
Foundation (It R @ Az & © &), Shenzhen Children’s Literature Society ()7

P 57 B EE @) Shanghai Cedar Charity Foundation (_E/& 21 QA zf &
4 &), "Wang Xiquan Scholarship Project” (LR #EE$IEH ) in Tongjiang
County, Lingnan University, Caring For Children Foundation ({84 &£ & &),
Belt & Road Hong Kong Centre ([ —# — & | BB & 1EE B L) as well as
Bay Area Hong Kong Centre (K& [@ & &9 1)), aiming at promoting healthy
development of the youth and fostering education and cultural activities to
enhance the social and liberal arts environment.

At the critical moment of fighting the novel coronavirus epidemic outbreak and
ensuring the orderly resumption of work, the Group donated 200,000 medical
masks to Guangzhou Panyu Charity Federation (E%d‘l‘l mHEAREESEE) and
Guangzhou Nansha Charity (& /N T @ & ) to help alleviate the urgent
need for protective gears. We will continue to devote efforts on protecting
people’s life, health and safety with love during the fight against the epidemic.

While maintaining focus on the steady growth, the Group continued to commit
itself to charity and public welfare work relating to people’s livelihood, poverty
alleviation and education and promote the sustainable development of the
Company and the society by fulfilling its corporate social responsibility.
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KM EBEHRE
OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS

TREIIR-_Z—AF+=-_A=1+—BHM The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
EMEBBERFAHERTHESESEMmMBE  our 19 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31

BR(REREMERBED) o December 2019,
BIIARTEE
HIEEAE
FIEHAR HE L AR
RREEER BEEE
Contracted
to be acquired
or under
Under  Held for future application
Completed development development for change in
GFA GFA GFA land use GFA
ST S FhK FiK
sg.m. sg.m. sg.m. sg.m.
BELENE Properties held for sale
= Residential 11,064 43,271 30,494 29,534
REARE Serviced apartments 1,029 - - -
TE Retail 99,745 78,277 - -
Nt Sub-total 111,838 121,548 30,494 29,534
BERENE Properties held for investment
TE/PRE Retail/Office 218,600 - - -
R& Campus 574 - - -
Pt Sub-total 219,174 - - -
FUHERTHERETE Net saleable and leasable GFA 331,012 121,548 30,494 29,534
REREBRES HHEAI NG FUHERTHEREEE
RZZE-—NF+A=+—8H
Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and region/city
as at 31 December 2019
59% 5.8% 7.2% 5.9%
16.2%
RERERED R T EI S
KRR TS HIESEETE
GFA by 6.1% GFA by
Development Status City
32.6%
5.1%
64.6% o1% 19.3%
u % TIHHE Completed projects 331,012 = RYIKREE  Shenzhenand 166,920 nRE Tianjin 31,358
= ffiEEE Projects under development 121,548 Dongguan R Changzhou 82,845
FEHER K Projects held for future 30,494 = b Shanghai 98,883 £ HongKong 36,904
FERMIEE development BR Nanjing 717 u R Australia 30,494
R4 FHEES  Projects contracted to be 29,534 '%% Chengdu 38,285 N
IFfEERESRE 1 acquired or under application = HM Hangzhou 26,182 BREEMSA
AEmIEe for change in land use Total GFA 512,588

WEEEE Total GFA 512,588
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—E-NFEBEE

(1) EE®H
AEBR - NFHEVEREEMN
78 & %5 ££ 49 104,300,000 T (H F 4
95,200,000/ TR B M TEERE) - &=
T N\FTREHEI0% AEEKR -Z
—NWENETEEEEEEELN A8 I172F
K BZFE-N\FTMEE2.7% =
T-NF AEEYEBEEFHEE(FE
HEE]) BT KLD11,64958 T (=
T N\F : BFFKHT,7106%ETL) &
—E - N\FLEFAL51.1% - AEEBEF
HEBLELADEEARKERIHAY
¥BEBHrFHEERHEMHETEEN
FHEBHRERSATR - o REBP
—E-NFREEMTEERELA9,100,000
B AR EESEFER -

AEBREBEE-_T—NF+=-_A=+—
AIEFEENYDERIEENTES AR
E PN,

() MEAER

W City HE-BAE&E

®M  Changzhou  EMERHE

Project - type of project

REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2019

(1) Pre-sales

In 2019, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and
car park units of approximately HK$104.3 million (of which approximately
HK$95.2 million was from pre-sales of properties), representing a decrease
of approximately 89.0% as compared with 2018. The Group’s total pre-
sold GFA was approximately 8,172 sq.m. in 2019, representing a decrease
of approximately 92.7% as compared with 2018. The average selling price
(“ASP") of the Group’s pre-sales of properties in 2019 was approximately
HK$11,649.5 per sq.m. (2018: approximately HK$7,710.6 per sq.m.),
representing an increase of approximately 51.1% as compared with 2018.
The increase in the Group’s overall ASP was mainly due to the pre-sales of
properties of Tianjin Le Leman City, which has a relatively higher ASP as
compared to projects in other cities. In addition, the Group’s pre-sales of
car park units in 2019 was approximately HK$9.1 million from the sale of
65 car park units.

A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out as follows:

(a) Pre-sales of properties

CHREEREER REH REFHEE
Pre-sold GFA Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
TR BBAT BT/ FHK
sg.m. HK$ million HK$/sq.m.

Changzhou Fashion Mark

—fE=E — residential 43 0.5 0.4 0.4 9,302.3
K#  Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City

= - residential 8,129 99.5 94.8 99.6 11,662.0
#it Total 8,172 100 95.2 100 11,649.5

(b) FEMNEESHE

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EREFENEA
Number of pre-sold B/E RETLHERE
Project car park units Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
] BEBT B/
unit HK$ million HK$/unit
R Nanjing KEEXR-FR The Spring Land — Nanjing 4 6.2 0.6 6.6 150,000.0
R Nanjing KIS K- R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 61 938 85 93.4 139,344.3

#it  Total

65 100 9.1 100 140,000.0
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2 R=B-IEXFRARNIER (2) Projects delivered and booked in 2019

BHE-_Z—NE+_RA=+—BIEE -
AEBRERRRENYELERE LK
SMEHEERA(TEEBEEEMHEE) L
153,200,000 7T - AR E R A HE
BEBMBENABI12,704F H K REE =
TE-NFE+-A=Z+—ALEFEEH I
IN#41100.8% K71.2% - BE T —H
FHFZA=ZT—HALTFE AEBERH
EMENEHRTFHEBNABTE XK
12,0592 m - B R TFHEE LAY
173% " TEHRAEERKENTEIEA
BEHRMEHE TRIEEMHEE)
HHHIEXR ZBEBHEHBEE-ZZ—N\F
+-A=+—BHLFEEHEEMWIEE
WEEBLLE  EFHEERAEERR -

HE _Z—-NEF+-_A=+—8I1t#
B AEERXNREREEMEENR
9,100,000 7T + & i 70 (&= H 7 ©

AEER-_T-NFEIANDERER
RIS EFIBIIRIT

HE-HE &G

Project - type of project

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s property development
business in Nanjing and Tianjin achieved revenue from sale of properties
(excluding sale of car park units) of approximately HK$153.2 million
with saleable GFA of approximately 12,704 sq.m. being recognised,
representing an increase of approximately 100.8% and 71.2%,
respectively, as compared with the year ended 31 December 2018. The
recognised ASP of the Group’s sale of properties was approximately
HK$12,059.2 per sq.m. for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
approximate 17.3% increase in recognised ASP was primarily attributable
to a significant proportion of the recognised sale of properties (excluding
sale of car park units) being contributed by the Group’s residential project
in Tianjin, which has a relatively higher ASP as compared with the ASP of
other projects sold during the year ended 31 December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$9.1 million from
the sale of 70 car park units.

Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in
2019 are listed below:

EPN:
AHE ERER
EEER

Saleable Sale of

LES )] BRER
FHEE
GFA properties Recognised
booked recognised ASP
FHAK BEBT AL/ EAK
sq.m. HK$ million HK$/sg.m.

KZE  Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City
—E= - residential 11,775 144.5 12,271.8
-ZE - retail 929 8.7 9,364.9
st Total 12,704 153.2 12,059.2
2 AR 2®a
FEUHE FEUMER B2H®R
Number of Sale of FHER
car park car park units Recognised
Project units booked recognised ASP
&l BEET /(&
unit HK$ million HK$/unit
EEN Nanjing KIS - R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 66 8.4 127,272.7
MR Nanjing KEER-ER The Spring Land - Nanjing 4 0.7 175,000.0
st Total 70 9.1 130,000.0
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(3) BEME

(3) Investment properties

REBEBSRENWEIN AEE I T
MBI LR EYEEAEs HEER
EEYES tEREPL  TEHE -
R AERIFER - A2 B A&
KBEX-FY - BINRTEE ek
SEEPL - MMNESEEP L RIIDK
MIEH KRS - LEDHFHLER

Bk EEER  URMREBHNEEER
"MEBEE - R_ZE—NAhF+=-A=+—
H AEEREVMENBAABENA
6,362,200,000/8 7T " (h A B & E 4 E
#25.4% « REBEREYEMEEHIHE
MEEMEL A240,834F T K - HEZ
T-NF+-_A=+—HLFE ~&£H
BEREMERNABBERE (NBRETR
18) #)149,700,0008 L (BE=ZZ—N\F
+ZA=+—H1EFE : £230,600,000
BIT) °

AEBERBBEENEEEN  AEHRE
WMmHBER MEBEHEEKERBAAHR
BERESHERRBORERKERR - K
EERSIRAMENEFE  EPHAEER
ABEEEBE ASHEEZSMNEENHE
PEIBRRAEREREZEMNHNER -
HEBEZENERIE BHETREER
MEZEBARBEREBHIER L ER -
RZE—-AF+_A=+—8 X&EH
MAEBEENHEF (B—HREMEHERE
HEGIEERELEEERBI10.0%) AT
HEREHBEAEEEEPREME
A EAmEL353% (R _T— \F
+ZA=1+—H8:#%46.4%) -

HE-_Z-NF+-A=1T—HLEE"
¢%l&§%¥mmﬁzm Z—N
F+ZA=+—H#%8.0% =%
—NF+ZA=+—HH87.4% AR
ﬁﬁiﬁ&@gﬁ$ﬁlm7ﬁf@
EEBEEM BHRE_ZT-NF+=A
St HLFE AEEELHAS KA
#9272,000,0008 7T  REBEZE T —/\F
+ZA=+—H1EFE 4245,400,000 7%
TLIENA108% - BEZT—NF+=A
Tt BLEFEAEEEEFREME
mﬂﬁﬁ$WA%#i$E%4w9%ﬁ
(BEzZZ—N\F+ZA=1+—HLFE:
%ﬁ#?ﬁ%ﬂmo%n)

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops, serviced apartments and car park units in The Spring
Land - Shenzhen, Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark,
Hangzhou Landmark, Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion
Mark, Shanghai Shama Century Park and Shanghai Bay Valley in Mainland
China and Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant Project in Hong Kong. As at
31 December 2019, the total fair value of the investment properties of the
Group was approximately HK$6,362.2 million, representing approximately
25.4% of the Group’s total asset value. The Group’s investment property
portfolio had a total leasable GFA of approximately 240,834 sg.m.. The
Group recorded approximately HK$149.7 million (for the year ended 31
December 2018: approximately HK$230.6 million) as gain in fair value
of its investment properties (net of deferred tax) for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2019, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 35.3% (as at 31 December 2018: approximately 46.4%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties decreased from approximately 89.0% as at 31
December 2018 to approximately 87.4% as at 31 December 2019. Due to
the rental of Shanghai Bay Valley, resulting in an increase in the Group’s
leasable GFA, the Group generated rental income of approximately
HK$272.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, representing an
increase of approximately 10.8% from approximately HK$245.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018. The average monthly rental
income of the Group’s investment properties under operation for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$107.9 per sg.m. (for the
year ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$104.0 per sq.m.).
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AEER-_FT-NE+_A=+—HH
REMERAEEHEZE_T-NF+=
A=Zt—BUEFENESBAFEHT

LI

RENF (BES BARE

HENRENE)
Investment properties
(inclusive of investment
properties classified

as held for sale)

TZA=+-
WARE
EEEE

Leasable GFA
asat
31 December

RZZ-nF
tZR=1-R
HARER
Fair value
asat

31 December
2019

gz
“E-hF
+=A=1+-AH
LLEER
HeWA
Rental income
for the year
ended

31 December
2019

Bz
ZB-hE
+=A=t+-H
LFEH
BYEX
ABEEKA
Average
monthly
rental income
per sq.m.

for the year
ended

31 December
2019

HK$ million HKS million HKS$/sq.m.
EENRENFE Investment properties under operation
EMFEHE- R Changzhou Fashion Mark Phases 1 and 2
(ByASsREEL) (Shopping mall and car park units) 77,726 14180 a7 627
RERFHEPD Dongguan Landmark
(BYESREEL) (Shopping mall and car park units) 20,172 5739 3638 1520
MNFEZEZRL (BYES) Hangzhou Landmark (Shopping mall) 26,182 4146 269 928
RAERH (TEEE) Shenzhen Water Flower Garden (Retall assets) 4,992 2942 262 4517
KEEX-RY|— 5 The Spring Land - Shenzhen Phase 1
-REEH (FEEAE) - Fashion Walk (Retail assets) 3,35 2006 177 4395
KEEXR-RYI=H The Spring Land - Shenzhen Phase 3
-R5EH (TEAERBEf) ~ Fashion Walk (Retail assets and car park units) 22,393 6809 290 1233
KEEX - R 7 The Spring Land - Shenzhen Phase 5
-REEH (FEEE) - Fashion Walk (Retail assets) 3,521 2195 163 3993
KEEXR- RN EA The Spring Land - Shenzhen Phase 6A
-REEH (TEEE) ~ Fashion Walk (Retail assets) 1,291 73 8.1 5328
KEER-RY~HB The Spring Land - Shenzhen Phase 6B
-REEH (FEEE) - Fashion Walk (Retail assets) 2,893 1772 9.0 2593
RAFREHE Chengdu Fashion Mark
(ByAsREEL) (Shopping mall and car park units) 38,285 7612 25.1 58.2
HESBHEAR Shanghai Shama Century Park
(RBALERES) (Serviced apartments and car park units) 1,029 64.7 - N/A
HaEa Shanghai Bay Valley 38,420 1,150.1 280 60.7
BRENEERREER Hong Kong Kowloon Tong Rutland
Quadrant Project 574 336.0 72 1,044.8
@i Total 240,834 6,362.2 2720 107.9

faE: R=E-AF+-A=+—-—HNATREER
SEETBREESEA -

Note: The leasable GFA as at 31 December 2019 excluded car park units.

Details of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2019 and
the Group’s rental income for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out as follows:

+=A=1-AH
=
HiaE
Occupancy
rate as at

31 December
2019

70.7

100.0

922

%.8

100.0

875

9%.6

98.1

100.0

939

N/A
100.0

100.0

874
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4 BEZ=—FT—HLE+=-HA=+—HH (4) Land bank as at 31 December 2019
T i &

BN
Australia
Efe
Sydney
)
I:FI & fEst. LeonardsiEH
— Sydney St. Leonards Project
The PRC
— RRREE .
Tianjin Le Leman City
— ENREEHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
KEER —FR
The Spring Land — Nanjing
=
Beijing b
&
Tianjin
i3 | EieEAER
Xi'an Changzhou Shanghai Bay Valley Project
e EESEHEAR
e 1 anjing.4¢ 2 J:gg_,_shanghai Shama Century Park
Qe Wuhan M4 Songhal MEEE DD
engdu ¢ Hangzhou a 9 Hangzhou Landmark
REHRSEHE &M _Fuzhou
Chengdu Fashion Mark BP9/ Xiamen
cceo RERSHEHRL
. D
BN il ¥ Dongguan | Dongguan Landmark
Guangzhou | &3 Shenzhen N N
M= BB LKEEEKER
Nannin % Hong Kong Hong Kong Sheung Shui
9 g .
Ma Sik Road Project
BETH T N\HBKIER
Hong Kong Yuen Long
Shap Pat Heung Road Project
BE-_Z-h&F+=A 19 property projects SEH K A8 TEER =38 AR B
=+—BAW19EYEER as at 31 December 2019 Shenzhen Water Flower Garden HonEKon ﬁi(uen Lon
RYIA L Tai Tgon R%ad Pro'ectg
® ®TIEAH Completed projects Shenzhen Hidden Valley E5k5 EEEA%ﬁﬁxé 5
. BT ¥
® EREIER Projects under development ~ KEIEX —HII
. J P The Spring Land - Shenzhen Hong Kong Yuen Long .
® F{ERMERADETH  Projects held for future O Tong Yan San Tsuen Project
ﬁf@%ﬁi%%EEﬁaﬁ e de\éelopmelnté)r contclj'acted ;'herfzhen Longhua Shangtang EANEEBITZEER
BHIRA to € acquired or under Metro Station Project Hong Kong Kowloqn Tong
gppllcatlon for change Waterloo Road Project
o ~ infanduse B ARERREER
FHEEREFEHEBHM  Major city with high speed Hong Kong Kowloon Tong
railway Rutland Quadrant

— R High speed railway Project

it
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AEBERPEARKME ((HE]) 2E
BAER  RI=AM - 2 TERK
AR ERTARERBOBER R ZEN
REEMENBERIBE -

R-ZE—NAFE+-_A=+—H0 KA&£H
RI0ER A S X 19EERTRER
PEEEMIEE » BEMETEAIHEE A
EREMMEA331,012F HKNERTIA
B g HE AHEREEREY
121,548 F FoREUfE 218 B ~ (& 51F 7] 8
& /Al B 2 E 430,494 F 75K HY
BEHRREREL REHFAHEE
A EEEmMIEH29,534F KB ET
NETFTEEARER AR IERE A

The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongging regions in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 19 projects over
10 cities in various stages of development, including an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 331,012
sg.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under
development of approximately 121,548 sg.m., an estimated net saleable/
leasable GFA of projects held for future development of approximately
30,494 sq.m. and an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects
contracted to be acquired or under application for change in land use of
approximately 29,534 sg.m., totalling an estimated net saleable/leasable
GFA of approximately 512,588 sq.m., the details of which are as follows:

BHIEE TEEBEMGIEUHEE
A EREEMEAFT4/A512,588 F 5K
BREFBWOT -

(ChRE
AHE/AHE ES 3
BREER FEfb R

Estimated net Interest

HEAFR

Project Bl
no. W City Project

Region/ saleable/  attributable to
leasable GFA

sg.m. %

HEER Type of project the Group

BRIER
Completed Projects

1 R Shenzhen  FIIKHI L Shenzhen Hidden Valley e Residential 4,015 100.0
2 sl Shenzhen  KHEX—FII The Spring Land [EES Commerdial 33,454 100.0
- Shenzhen
3 sl Shenzhen  RIIKHHTEE Shenzhen Water Flower Garden 7% Commerdial 4,992 100.0
4 M Changzhou EMHEZHE Changzhou Fashion Mark [SES Commercial 82,845 100.0
5 R Dongguan ~ RERFHEFRDL Dongguan Landmark HE Commerdial 20,172 100.0
6 M Hangzhou — MMESEEH L Hangzhou Landmark [SES Commercial 26,182 100.0
7 B #B Chengdu RERZEHE Chengdu Fashion Mark EES Commerdial 38,285 100.0
8 g Shanghai LESBHEAR Shanghai Shama Century Park ~ fR#E=\AE  Serviced apartments 1,029 70.0
9 X2 Tianjin REFKEH Tianjin Le Lemen City £%,/#%  Residential/Commercial 20,893 58.0
10 BR Nanjing KEER-ER The Spring Land - Nanjing HE Commerdial 717 100.0
11 i) Shanghai BARER Bay Valley Project HE Commerdial 97,854 70.0
12 EE HongKong  &ENBEEEMRE Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
A Rutland Quadrant Project

/Mgt Sub-total 331,012
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a3
/g rE
EEHE LR
HARS Estimated net Interest

Project EiF,/ Region/ saleable/ attributable to
no. ) City E Project HEER Type of project leasable GFA the Group
FERHK

sg.m. %

HEER

Projects under Development

9 Xz Tianjin RERFSH Tianjin Le Lemen City £%,/#%  Residential/Commercial 10,465 58.0

13 w0 Shenzhen  RYIEEZE F3EMETE  Shenzhen Longhua Shangtang £,/ % Residential/Commerdial 104,287 100.0
A Metro Station Project

14 & HongKong ~ EENLEESE Hong Kong Kowloon Tong FE Residential 6,796 60.0
BITE£EBER Waterloo Road Project

et Sub-total 121,548

BERRRBBNER

Projects Held for Future Development

15 SEINEE Sydney, St LleonardsBE  Sydney, St. Leonards Project FE Residential 30,494 49.0
Australia

BTNRTFTREREAFFAZ T HARNER

Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use

16 & HongKong ~ &ABA+/\#%IEE  Hong Kong Yuenlong Shap % Residential 20,050 100.0
Pat Heung Road Project
17 B HongKong &EBTHARRKIER Hong Kong Yuen Long = Residential 2,987 100.0
Tai Tong Road Project
18 EE HongKong  &ETTEAE AFTA Hong Kong YuenlongTong A %E Composite TEA 100.0
) Yan San Tsuen Road development N/A
Project(Note)
19 BE HongKong &8 L/KHiEK Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma =% Residential 6,497 50.0
A Sik Road Project
N Sub-total 29,534
@zt Total 512,588
iy : HAETBHEATNEERRIETEESE Note: Hong Kong Yuen Long Tong Yan San Tsuen Road Project is currently under scheme

oo (R EAEL) A 11,123 F K » development. The site area is approximately 11,123 sg.m..
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REIBETH L HEEFBEINOT Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:

st ®

AHE TS

EEMEE

Estimated

net saleable/

BE, W H Region/City leasable GFA

sg.m.

Y REZE Shenzhen and Dongguan 166,920

& Shanghai 98,883

[EI= Nanjing 717

i Chengdu 38,285

AU Hangzhou 26,182

KiE Tianjin 31,358

B Changzhou 82,845

B Hong Kong 36,904

SENETE Sydney, Australia 30,494

et Total 512,588
REEBREBERELS THMEER The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
FEEAR SR EENEEERE land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
B TH) M - 0 U R S B AT advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
B initE EREE R T o st - well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
NEBREBNPEEAR PR Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
INFERMEEENTAGBERERE NN projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
s WES T iIBE - TERFEKX and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area (including
B (PEEE RIEERSE) - LER Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan), Shanghai and Sydney of Australia.

HHETE -
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5) R=E—hFHKBEEENER
RZZT—NhF  AEERKBEEMEESR
Bt FAHE AIHELEETmENA
43271 F 7K »

EREBFHBHRHIIMT

Region/
City

(5) Projects with commencement of construction in 2019

In 2019, the Group commenced construction of two projects with a total
estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 43,271 sg.m..

Details of such projects are set out below:

HETRAHE
AHEEEEE
Estimated

net saleable/
leasable GFA
sg.m.

Project

wY Shenzhen FYIBEEE iR 1R B Shenzhen Longhua Shangtang
Metro Station Project 36,475
B Hong Kong BRENEEBITEEEE Hong Kong Kowloon Tong
Waterloo Road Project 6,796
43,271

(6) FHR-—ZE_Z=FHBMNIER
RZEZTF AEBEFERARERZ=
BIEE @ BB e WHERESE
ETE4) 490,849 F J7 K o

BRAEB FHBHIIMT

Region/
City

(6) Projects with expected commencement in 2020
In 2020, the Group intends to commence construction of three projects
with a total estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 90,849
sg.m..

Details of such projects are set out below:

e BRAHE
AHEREEE
Estimated

net saleable/
leasable GFA

sg.m.

Project

B Hong Kong BEBETRA+ N\ IE B Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap

Pat Heung Road Project 20,050
ik Hong Kong EE T AEKIER Hong Kong Yuen Long Tai

Tong Road Project 2,987
el Shenzhen AYIIBEEE FIE IR B Shenzhen Longhua Shangtang

Metro Station Project 67,812

90,849
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HE_Z—NWF+-_A=+—HILEFEN
WABRBEE-_ZT—N\FEF+_A=Z+—H1t
F[Z#9619,700,0008 LI 1149 16.1% = 4
719,200,000/ 7C c WA M EEHR KEH
MEFEERAE N BHE-_T—NLE+ A
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4162,300,000%8 7T + (B A 4922.6% ° 7N
£ BEHERE S U A 4272,000,0008 7T ¢ 1k 42
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2019, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$719.2
million, increased by approximately 16.1% as compared with 2018. The loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$582.9 million, as compared to a profit
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company of approximately
HK$102.6 million recorded in the previous year. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group’s basic and diluted loss per share of the Company
(the “Share(s)") decreased by approximately 642.9% and 2,000% as
compared with 2018 to approximately HK$0.38 and HK$0.38 respectively. Net
assets per Share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs") decreased by
approximately 8.7% from approximately HK$6.9 as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$6.3 as at 31 December 2019.

In order to maintain a stable dividend policy, the Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK2 cents per Share attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs for the year ended 31
December 2019 (for the year ended 31 December 2018: HK6 cents per Share),
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Revenue

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 increased by approximately
16.1% to approximately HK$719.2 million from approximately HK$619.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. This increase was primarily
due to an increase in the Group’s income from sale of properties. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised property sales of
approximately HK$162.3 million, representing approximately 22.6% of the
total revenue. The Group recognised rental income of approximately HK$272.0
million, representing approximately 37.8% of the total revenue. The Group
recognised property management and related services income of approximately
HK$237.2 million, representing approximately 33.0% of the total revenue. The
remaining approximately 6.6% of the total revenue of approximately HK$47.7
million was income from education related services.
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Revenue from the Group’s sale of properties increased by approximately 66.0%
in 2019 as compared with 2018, primarily due to an increase of approximately
71.2% in the Group’s total saleable GFA sold and delivered (excluding sale of
car park units), after deduction of sales return, from approximately 7,420 sq.m.
in 2018, to approximately 12,704 sq.m. in 2019. As a result of an increase in
the accumulated GFA of the properties managed by the Group, the income
from the property management and related services increased.

Direct costs

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group’s direct costs increased to approximately HK$291.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$279.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. This increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in the saleable GFA and the related construction costs of the Group’s
properties completed and delivered for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 25.9% to approximately
HK$428.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately
HK$339.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Group reported
a gross profit margin of approximately 59.5% for the year ended 31 December
2019 as compared with approximately 54.9% for the year ended 31 December
2018. The increase in gross profit margin was primarily driven by a higher
proportion of properties sold and delivered from Tianjin Le Leman City in 2019
which contributed higher gross profit margin.

Other revenue

Other revenue decreased by approximately HK$556.3 million, or approximately
78.3%, to approximately HK$153.8 million in 2019 from approximately
HK$710.1 million in 2018. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in other interest income.
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Other net (loss)/income

The Group recorded other net loss of approximately HK$380.6 million in 2019
as compared to other net income of approximately HK$256.9 million recorded
in 2018. The turnaround was mainly due to the overall impact incurred by the
absence of fair value change on conversion option embedded in convertible
bonds and compensation income for return of prepaid investment cost recorded
in 2018 and the increase in fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL
which was mainly due to adjustments of certain assumptions on project-related
indicators.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately 69.7% to
approximately HK$51.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from
approximately HK$30.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
increase was primarily attributable to the increase in advertising and promotion
expenses incurred in 2019 as compared with 2018. Selling and marketing
expenses accounted for approximately 49.5% of total pre-sales amount in 2019
(2018: approximately 3.4%).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 31.4% to approximately
HK$421.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately
HK$320.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was due
to the absence of reversal of staff cost, which was recorded in 2018.

Valuation gains on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale

Valuation gains on investment properties and investment properties classified
as held for sale decreased by approximately 32.5% to approximately HK$197.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$292.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease was due to the
slow growth in average market rents in 2019.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 39.4% to approximately HK$323.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$533.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the increase in the percentage of interest expenses being
qualified for capitalization from approximately 24.0% to 51.6%.
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Income tax

Income tax expense decreased by approximately 69.7% to approximately
HK$85.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately
HK$282.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease
was primarily attributable to (i) the reversal of CIT provision net off against
corresponding deferred tax assets of HK$77.6 million and (i) the absence of CIT
provision for compensation income of approximately HK$123.0 million incurred
in 2018.

Non-controlling interests

The profit attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$53.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (for the year ended 31 December
2018: approximately HK$25.2 million).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash position

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$4,727.8 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$8,054.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately
41.3% as compared with that as at 31 December 2018.

Borrowings and charges on the Group’s assets

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank and other
borrowings, bonds payable, lease liabilities and amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders) as at 31 December 2019 of approximately HK$9,647.8 million,
of which approximately HK$4,479.6 million is repayable within one year,
approximately HK$3,703.5 million is repayable after one year but within five
years and approximately HK$1,464.7 million is repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$8,132.6
million (as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$7,114.5 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$11,819.3 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately HK$9,345.4 million). As at 31 December 2019, the
Group's bonds payable was secured by issued share capital of a subsidiary of
the Company and receivables owned by the Company.
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The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other borrowings and bonds
payable were denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$3,840.0 million (as at 31 December
2018 approximately HK$3,400.4 million) and HK$1,435.0 million (as at 31
December 2018: approximately HK$3,262.9 million) as at 31 December 2019
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately
HK$187.2 million which bore fixed interest rates at 6.35% per annum.

US$200 million convertible bonds due 2019 (the “Bonds")

On 28 December 2015, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with Lord Business Holding IV Limited, Great Wall Pan Asia International
Investment Co., Limited, China Orient Enhanced Income Fund and Caiyun
International Investment Limited* (% Z B[R % & G 2 &) (“Caiyun”)
(collectively referred to as “Investors”) pursuant to which, on the terms and
subject to the conditions of the said subscription agreements, the Company
agreed to issue, and the Investors agreed to subscribe and pay for the Bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of US$200 million due 2019. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2015.

The Bonds were issued to the respective Investors in two tranches on 6
January 2016 and 21 March 2016, respectively. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 6 January 2016 and 21 March 2016,
respectively.

The Bonds were fully redeemed by the Company on 7 January 2019.
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Cost of borrowings

The Group's average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 6.4% in 2019 (2018: approximately 6.8%).

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group’s
existing borrowings was approximately 6.3% (2018: approximately 7.6%).

Net gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group’s net gearing ratio increased from
approximately 29.5% as at 31 December 2018 to approximately 50.0% as at
31 December 2019. The increase in net gearing ratio was mainly due to the
settlement of land premium and project cost in respect of the land reserves in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Foreign exchange risk

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB3,779.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,212.4 million), in US dollars of approximately US$18.5 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$144.0 million) and in Australian dollars of approximately
AUD$7.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$41.8 million).

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. In addition, RMB is
not freely convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor the Group’s
foreign exchange exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances
and trend of foreign currency, consider adopting significant foreign currency
hedging policy in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BREEFE
R-E-—NFE+_A=+—BE-_ZT—N\&E
T AZ+—BNARBRBRBRONEEFE
SEMT

ARmERBREIGEEFE

NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018 are calculated as follows:

R=-ZB—h%=E w=
+=A

= — )\
+—H
As at

31 December
2018

+=—BA=+—H
As at

31 December
2019

Net assets attributable to equity

(FA&7T) shareholders of the Company (HK$'000) 9,684,241 10,582,279
BETERAIREE (TR Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,385,575
BARITE KA AT AR F S EE (FA) Number of outstanding PCSs ('000) 116,553 143,553
RETEEREEFENRNEE Number of Shares for the calculation

(FR%) of net assets per Share ('000) 1,529,286 1,529,128
NN A R AR B e oK A AT AR RE Net assets per Share attributable to equity

HEANELEGREEFECET) shareholders of the Company and the

(M3E) holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 6.3 6.9

Misk : AREERRERKAATRBRBELFZEARES
IR & EFELKATRREFFAEARZE—N
F+ZA=F+—BE=ZFE-N\F+=ZA=+—H
BEBK A RRESARGTH -

ZAREE

RZZE-hE+_A=1+—B BRETLAE
EVMEERNRBERBEMR S EEIR
#£#49412,200,000 0 (R=ZE—N\F+=ZA
=+ —H : £592,100,000 7T) &R 50 - K&
EEEMEAKABLE -

RIBRIBAR  HARTERLAEEARERD
RBERREHER BEERENERTIURE
WERERERAEMEAUNECESEER
NFERRL - MERERIZRBENR  A&E
AIRE A B EIRIB B RARR Y - A%
BEZELOMEBYE  AZRBRTINERH
WMESAREE (ERERA) RERBERN
ETE%E -

Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$412.2
million (as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$592.1 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEBLAR BMENARGERE
CEARRBREESE

I

BAREHAREESN AEER-F-AFR
BEBRELHEAMBAT  BEATRA
BO¥ Y BAMBREEEE -
BERFMBUER

R-BE-AE+-A=1+—8 KAEEETH
i FBEMBRMNAE HEALHSTIREE (B
—E-N\FE+-A=+—H 9DB0KEE) -

Hep 772 BR @B e 20880
MEFRER NS HBREEELERYMES
- Z’M%%EA%Z'A"*B&Z’]H%%J‘EAgﬁ

H-BE_E-NF+ZA=Z+—HLFEE
iﬁ%ﬁ;l&mI%%WZMW%257,300,000,%75
(ﬁ%:%ﬂ\fﬁL—H*waEltEE:%@
136,900,000 7T) - B EHBMBIEE KRR - T

TR R - fXBE %D?ﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%léﬁkfF%Ec’
AEBURARFS  WHEEN R EAKE

HEER T O AR R S A H -

ARRERZZ-ZET-_A-HARMBERR
%ﬁﬁé%mﬁ%ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%(FE&Q’RE%?&%HUE%BQE
sHE ) M) R 3 ([IRDRBETE) - &
It ARBMETEERES R D BAERE
Bt o  RRELBHAERREUAEELE
AT R - ARBTHRER T ——
FAZTN\BRAKBRAFABESEBEREST
(ERLHBERBRER ) - K0 EE
B BRRBEEABRENS  BRAF
BERBREFEFBIERLIRENESTER
HA e

* ERES)

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during 2019 and after
the end of the reporting period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of approximately 887
employees (as at 31 December 2018: 930 employees) in Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Australia, of which, approximately 177 were under the headquarters
team, approximately 20 were under the property development division,
approximately 675 were under the retail operation and property management
division, approximately 4 were under education division and approximately
11 were under funds division. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
total staff and related costs incurred was approximately HK$257.3 million
(for the year ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$136.9 million).
The remuneration of the employees was based on their performance, work
experience, skills, knowledge and the prevailing market wage level. The Group
remunerated the employees by means of basic salaries, fringe benefits, cash
bonus and equity settled share-based payment.

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) and a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
on 2 December 2010, under which the Company granted share options and
award shares to certain eligible employees. The Company also adopted a
post-IPO share option scheme (“the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on
28 February 2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contribution that eligible employees have made or may make to the Group.
Details of the Share Award Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the Director’s Report of this report.

*  for identification only
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VMXEHBE

REEREEERAT -2 NFH

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RN KA L

SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

EfcHRE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 4 4
AT (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
e T A HA Construction start date —ETLFELA July 2007
BT HH Completion date —T——FXA June 2011
fhEHABESEEE (FFK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 131,736 131,736
N —E-—NF+=-—A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEtF o tEE M HEEEEmE (CFAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 4,015 4,015
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location BREARMEREFTER Yulong Road, Bao'an District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
YEERE  Property type = Residential
=% Highlights FINSERIEIEE 2 — 4% 25 One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and was
BEICEtRIRAE| R [PEIEE awarded “Global International Garden Community
TEE =K Nominations Award” and “China International
Garden Community Award”
TP OESE((ROLEEE]) (BB Offers close proximity to central business district
BERTLAFRETSESER) ©  (“CBD”) (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and
M ERBMAB AR - BEREBES  is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment
—HR T N\FER AHERITR = Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became the
TENFRAERIZEEEMSA  best selling project in the luxury residential market
=HEIEH  c —HR Z_ZZ/)\F L in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was launched in
AtEH  BIFEmE 2kE B E# - September 2008 and was sold out within a short
DRERBAZIHED period of time despite the global financial crisis
FRYIK

Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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KEEX-RY
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

35

FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 6 6
AR mEAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
FaaHE T A HA Construction start date —ZETNFAHA May 2009
% T HE Completion date —ZT—HFENA August 2014
fhEH AR EmEE (7 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZFE—-NF+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
fhEHFRISEE AIAERE®E ((F5K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 33,454 33,454
HEME
Project Overview
b B Location ERER)TEL REER Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao’an District,
AREE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
BREXDH Lease term of EHMAE Long lease
HEMR  investment
portion
YIEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=8 Highlights 7 P Hb 884 70 5% AR AT 1L Locates at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line No. 4

KEER—FI (R 8 k(=
HR _Z-—TFR_ZT——FHjl
#IFINRGIHE N E —GEER

KEER—FI (AR R -_F——
FE=FRIFNRBIHEEHEE

The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and
(Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-
selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in the
third quarter of 2012

EHE X — R
The Spring Land - Shenzhen

L4
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MRIEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ARYIK A5 7E R
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

EfcHRE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 3 3
AT (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 164,764 164,764
F 1A T B & Construction start date —ETF=f March 2002
3% T B Hf Completion date —TERFTA October 2006
fhEHABESEEE (FFK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 294,638 294,638
N —E-—NF+=-—A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEDFEAIEE AT EREEEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 4,992 4,992
HEBE
Project Overview
b B Location ERERYITEDREEEE Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type = - ZEEKEMR Residential, retail and clubhouse
=E Highlights BESET AR OB M EL - SRELEE W Situates prominently in the exclusive region of the
BE_HER city centre and offers unique view of the Honey
Lake

YR F[hEEELHERE It was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model Residential
BEIUE-ZZEZ-_FLR_FE=F Property’ in 2003 and 'Real Estate of the Year’ in
BEIEIELE both 2002 and 2003

RN TEE

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EMNRERHEG
CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZH No. of phases 4 4
AR AR (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
FA e T A & Construction start date —ZETRF)N\A August 2005
% T HH Completion date —T—=%7"A June 2013
fhEHABEEEE (7 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 513,404 513,404
R_E—NF+=—A=1+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHE TS, AIHEREEETE (FA2K)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019 82,845 82,845
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location IEE B MNmEEZRARE Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
BREILDH Lease term of FHIEE Medium—term lease
HEHR investment
portion
mERR Property type =  ZERHAE Residential, retail and office
=% Highlights LR E MR EF D Locates at the commercial centre of Changzhou city

Y BT RF[FEEmEMLE+T A Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
FTREEA] MEEMNEIETE Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced
BEHREAE (REAAE)LEI=Z apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best
ERFERERBEAE] International Apartment in China”

—HE=HEFEHRTENAELMM 0 Phases 1-3 comprise mainly of retail or apartments
PWHR A B = @ 150 K B KAEUEETE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
E| height over 150 metres

BHBAEXEMRRF Secured well-known anchor tenants

EMNRZEHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RREEEP DL

DONGGUAN LANDMARK

FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
AW (FJ77K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
%A T B B Construction start date ZETREFRA June 2006
3% T B Hf Completion date —EENELA July 2008
fhEHABESEEE (FFK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 79,679 79,679
RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—HHKN Estimated net saleable / leasable
DR AT S, AR EREEEE (F2K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 20,172 20,172
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location B A oo mh B & B 1R 3K 88 5 No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type FEKRZTE Residential and retail
=2 Highlights UREEFOLEEE  ANEEF L Locates in the CBD of Dongguan and the dramatic
JEEERE MEMEH  KKIEHAE setting and accessibility of the mall substantially
b, 55 Y 7K upgrade the local amenities
RERREEP L

Dongguan Landmark
“in ‘.-\.\‘Hu B
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HANGZHOU LANDMARK
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FERTHE Key Statistics

HRZL No. of phases 1 1
AR (F 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 14,780 14,780
FaaiE T B HA Construction start date —ETRE—H January 2006
3% T A & Completion date —ET+F LA July 2007
hetaEEmE (FAHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
R=E—NF+=—A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
fhEHFAHE, A ERZEmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019 26,182 26,182
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location AT A TN T R R R T Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
FBIEMKRE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
BREHDH Lease termof HHHAE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
YERR Property type =& Retail
SE Highlights e 3 Hb 399 0 Close proximity to metro station
BRESEEHMES BFHEA Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping is
MJH “REEEREEN T — set to be one of the three high growth satellite cities
of Hangzhou
BEfNEmEENBEPL  NMEKIY  Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not only
Wl Kb TR 0 M B RS EEARA  other retailers, but also significant pedestrian traffic
vy
1L
MMNERFEH O

Hangzhou Landmark
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MRIEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

REBREHE

CHENGDU FASHION MARK
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 2 2
AT (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
%A T B B Construction start date —T——%F XA June 2011
BT HH Completion date —T——&+_H December 2012
fhEH AR SEmEE (7 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 139,265 139,265
RZZE—-NF+=—A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
DR AT HE, AR EREEEE (F52K)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019 38,285 38,285

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location W RE TR R ZIREME Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,

AR Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province
MEER  Property type ZERPAE Retail and office
=8 Highlights S = SR AR SR PR IR Uh Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro line
no. 3

IR T T 5 KL AR 1,426.57T  Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5 per
BE RBEMNATELSREEMFE sqm, significantly lower than the average land cost
5 T # K AR for comparable projects

MRZTE—FF+—FH AEEBEX In November 2010, the Group entered into a
TSR MAER ARG M — T tenancy agreement with Rainbow Department
Ea HEWENBEEMBEL A Store Co., Ltd. The GFA of the leased premises is
30,500 F 5K - HEA R 204 approximately 30,500 sq.m. for a term of 20 years

BBRREE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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SHANGHAI SHAMA CENTURY PARK
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FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
Y i B A Acquisition date =Z== 27 September
NAAZ++H 2013
ErrREE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,357 49,357
T = B L 4 B Total number of underground
car park units 240 240
R=E—NF+=—A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHF O tEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 1,029 1,029
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location LBHRRRAAR Dongxiu Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai
BREWBDH Leasetermof EHHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFRR Property type BREALE Serviced apartment
=% Highlights EESBHELAB AN ERFE Shanghai Shama Century Park is a serviced
o) WNGS apartment located in Pudong New District
LESBHLEAE

Shanghai Shama Century Park
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RFHER
TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY

FERTTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 3 3
AW (FJ77K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
)=l Construction start date —E—ZFKA June 2012
FEH % T H A Expected completion date ZE-TFRA June 2020
hEtaEEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 114,080 114,080
N —E-—NF+=-—A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEDFEAIEE AT EREEEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 31,358 31,358
HEBE
Project Overview
ih Bh Location RAET GGk Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
EREERAKEKDO Jinhai County, Tianjin
YEER  Property type FERZTE Residential and retail
=8 Highlights BEEARETmHRL (FRE)?2 Located 20 kilometres (“km") away from Tianjin city
([RE]) centre (Nankai District)
EE BitmRKESR ﬁ & 7 uh %’7 12 Approximately 12 km away from the south station
REBERIRRESRAELSR of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and 5 km away
from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway
RERSHE

Tianjin Le Leman City
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KBER-ER
THE SPRING LAND - NANJING

FERTEE Key Statistics
ER gL No. of phases 1 1
AR mEAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 60,825 60,825
FaaiE T B HA Construction start date —T—=F—A8 January 2013
3% T B Hf Completion date —T—HFN\A August 2015
hetaEEmE (FAHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 188,125 188,125
RZZF-—NF+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
fhEHFAHE, A ERZEmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019 717 717

HEME

Project Overview

i Bh Location JLERAE R R TR PO Hexi CBD, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province

B
WEER  Property type FERTE Residential and retail
=5 Highlights 2 78] 75 0 B 7S [ ) R D 7S Located in the central area of Hexi CBD

TR LEEEBEZERER AT Hexi CBD has been planned to be a modern area
BEES mE - XL RESHAE integrating trade, business, culture and sports in
iR WiEBEM R REIT = AMNE  the city which is connected with Shanghai in the
abic] Yangtze River Delta

KEER-FR
The Spring Land - Nanjing
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

FEEBAIER

SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
Y s B A Acquisition date —E—+F 31 July

+A=+—H 2017

fhFT B EEmE (T K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
R-E—NEF+_A=+—H0HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFIEE AIAEEZERE (FHK) GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2019 97,854 97,854

EHEBE

Project Overview

b B Location EEBHEEINTESEE LRI International Community Sector, New Jiangwan

City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
YIEER Property type iz Office
=B Highlights R AEREIR L — EEE Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —

CHABFHERT SR EERSE  Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level as
WIEML Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park

LEEARIER
Shanghai Bay Valley Project
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ERNEERREER
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
WeiE H 51 Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February
—AtH 2018
R-_ZE—hAF+=-_A=+—80H Estimated net saleable / leasable
EHFAHE A HEREEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 574 574
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location ERENEEEBHOR No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YIEER Property type #& Campus
=% Highlights EENBESE B UL 2P T 5 D88 5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station

BRNEREMREEAR
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT

——r

ERNEERREHEB

O
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIBEE L E E IS TH H
SHENZHEN LONGHUA SHANGTANG METRO STATION PROJECT

FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
TEAAR 4R e T B BA Expected construction start date —E-\FMA April 2018
TEHR% T HHA Expected completion date —E-—FmA April 2021
hFH R EmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 202,338 202,338
RZE-AF+ZA=+—HBH Estimated net saleable / leasable
R iEE M EREmE ((FAX) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 104,287 104,287
HEBE
Project Overview
ih B Location BRERYIMIEERME L& Jianshang Community, Longhua District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
MEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=3 Highlights ZBTE BT ML 0 27T Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking distance
55 % from Shangtang Metro Station

RYIBEE EEHEVEIEE
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ERNEREBEITEEEE
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG WATERLOO ROAD PROJECT
FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
AR (F 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692
g i% B 88 Acquisition date —E— & 15 December
+ZA+HH 2017
wrErsEmE (FhK) Total GFA (sq.m.) 7,966 7,966
RZE-—NAFE+ZA=+T—HAHW Estimated net saleable / leasable
st RO iEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 6,796 6,796
HEBE
Project Overview
It B Location BAENEEGITEE 1285 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YEER Property type f{t= Residential
=% Highlights B NLBEE BRI IR R =T Luxurious landmark residence located in prestigious

school district in Kowloon Tong

BRNEREBTZEERAR
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG WATERLOO ROAD PROJECT

PR fidinal

N AEEEiTENTE
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7 JE ST. LEONARDS & B
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT

FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
Y s B A Acquisition date —E—+F 28 April
mA—+NR 2017
(hErEEEmEE (5 XK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 35,876 35,876
R-E—NEF+_A=+—H0HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFIEE AIAEEZERE (FHK) GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2019 30,494 30,494
HAME
Project Overview
ih B Location 7&JE St. Leonards St. Leonards, Sydney
MEFRR Property type i Residential
=E Highlights B St. Leonards X B ¥ 2517 5 5 6 5-minute walk from St. Leonards train station

7% e ST. LEONARDS 3 H
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT

ZE RSt Leonardsig g
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EARATEAT N\AKIEH
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT
FERTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
R AE (FF 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 6,504 6,504
g Acquisition date —ZE—hF 9 October
+ANH 2015
AR (T K) Total GFA (sg.m.) 22,764 22,764
RZE—NAF+ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEH RO iEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2019 20,050 20,050
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location BRI R ITRAR T\ 45K Shap Pat Heung Road, Yuen Long District, NT,
Hong Kong
MEER Property type f{t= Residential
=% Highlights PR ARTTRAUA 5 D $E A2 - H/\BF 5-minute drive from Yuen Long Station of West Rail
AR ET R Line, to reach downtown within half an hour
EBTHT N\MEEER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT
_ omm . - BESEARY
SR Y ¢ ikl salinsannslAARMRL 7
ERRRESEEFE0 O ™ f
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ERATEARERIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT
FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
AR TE A& (P77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,031 1,031
Wi B HA Acquisition date —E—RHE 31 December
+=ZA=+—H 2015
wrsEmE (FAK) Total GFA (sg.m.) 3,383 3,383
RZEBE—NF+ZA=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
GET B HE A HEREmE GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019
(F7HK) 2,987 2,987
HEBE
Project Overview
b B Location ERFRTHARKREE Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
MEER Property type {i= Residential
=B Highlights PP AR TTRAUA S D EE AR - 5-minutes drive from Yuen Long Station to West
FNFEAR A ET R Rail line, to reach downtown within half an hour
EBTHAEKIER

g

7
F 4
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BEEBTHEAFNIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT
FERTEE Key Statistics
ER gL No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR EAE (77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 11,123 11,123
G A=R1 Acquisition date ZT—tF 25 October
+A=Z+HA 2017
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location BEFA TR FEILEIEEAFN  Tong Yan San Tsuen, Ping Shan South,
Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
mERR Property type #H&%E Composite development
=% Highlights 5 98 932 X P R A% T RA Interchange for Light Rail Line and Yuen Long

Station of West Rail Line

BERETHEAFNER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT

R

PWE i

HETLHEAMF
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EBLKBERER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
AW (FJ77K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
Yo H 51 Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July
+A+—H 2017
et EmE (FAHXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
RZE-NAFE+ZA=+—AH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HET Bl E A HEREmE GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2019
(F7HK) 6,497 6,497
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location BEFALKBEE Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong
WHEER  Property type =% Residential
=5 Highlights B 3T b 7K b 88 0k DA K2 #9323 3 83 Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and Fanling
MTR Station
EBLKEBEKIER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
4“&'9%

o ]

HELKBERERHE

EEEEIAS
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1.1 AEEROER
REEEER  AEBTERED
B A kB EE I ER R R
W FEETREBEEEYEHFR
BAHE o o REEFEBEEE
EZMER R ZE (BB HHEE
LREENHRE) EENLERNAKA
BMOE RINEEBTIREHE E
ol EBEHBEIE S RIBHEAR -
BRIR - NERESEERHRIZER -

1.2 {EHE
ABE HEREAREZERM
RO EB R ESEENIBE R
SXRB -MERBEPRRBIEE
((ERRBEE) RENLEFE
RBEMASA PR R EEES
MEEE SEERT) - T XARE -

1 RYIPREL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
2 MMEEREESL
Hangzhou Landmark
3 KEER-RI
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
4 REREEEPL
Dongguan Landmark
5 KEEEHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”)
has been prepared in accordance with the “comply and explain” provision
of the “Environment, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
"ESG Guide") as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "HKEX"). The ESG Report elaborates the environmental and social
policies and performances of Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(the "Group” or “we") from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.
For details on corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report of the annual report.

1.1 Core Business of the Group

During the year under review, the Group is principally engaged in the
development and management of real estate property in Mainland
China and Hong Kong, with a focus on the development and sales
of residential properties in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has
successfully diversified into the education business by forming a
joint venture with the operator of a famous group of kindergartens
and nurseries in Hong Kong, namely the “Creative Kindergarten”
and “Creative Day Nursery”. And this business segment mainly
involves provisions of books, school uniforms, snacks and course
management for these schools.

1.2 Report Boundary
The ESG Report focuses on the environmental and social
performances of our core business during the year under review.
The reported environmental key performance indicators (the “KPIs")
cover our own assets (prior to sales) in Mainland China and Hong
Kong during the year under review, which are listed below:

6 KEBR-ER
The Sunny Land — Nanjing
7 BBNERBIEEER
Hong Kong Kowloon Tong Waterloo Road Project
8 EHEIKEEKER
Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project
9 FEETMATNHRKIER
Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project
10 BABTHBAMNIER

Hong Kong Yuen Long Tong Yan San Tsuen Project
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1.3
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1.3

1.4

Overall ESG Approach

The Board understands the significance of ESG and has incorporated
ESG-related risks into the Group’s risk management. Our overall ESG
approach is aimed at creating profit for shareholders in a responsible
manner while taking into account our employees, community
and environment. In our business decision-making processes, we
give importance to the value of human with emphasis on the
contribution to our consumers, the environment and the society.
Our ESG approach has three main focus areas:

- Community contributions through monetary donations

- Environmental advocacy

Anti-corruption

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment
Stakeholder engagement

The Group’s major stakeholders include its shareholders, customers,
employees, suppliers, communities, government and regulators. We
strive to maintain effective stakeholder communications through
various channels. In preparation of the ESG Report, we continued to
engage our stakeholders to understand their material ESG concerns.

Materiality Assessment

During the year under review, we conducted a review on the
Group’s material ESG issues on the basis of last year’s stakeholder
engagement results, which helps to identify the Group’s up-to-date
ESG concerns and priorities. Based on these identified material ESG
aspects (categorised into environment and social aspects), we strive
to adequately address the most significant issues throughout our
business operations.



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 55

R -HEREBRS
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

iR EXEE pikIk 3
Area Material Aspects Relevance
RIE JE K HERR BEOR F P9 T3t 0 BE /K HE AT & AR B BERUR 28
Environmental Wastewater discharge Ensure wastewater discharge on our construction sites
meet relevant discharge standards
ENEREER FREARMETEHENEZEAERERUNBEEE
Indoor air quality Ex

Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality
in our residential projects

K BBEYERTPLREKEE RS AKM
Use of water BIrkERERRER

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient
designs such as water-saving fixtures in our properties
design; recycle and reuse of water in our construction

1

sites
A& FEBERMATHA REIENERNE LR KR
Use of electricity & (INERRE BRBA) 0= B IR Al e

Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of
energy-efficient designs and equipment such as lighting
in our designed and managed properties

e EmEL WRMEEARKEMENRE s BREWENE
Social Product responsibility PEMBIZERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational
supplies; ensure customer information collected is well

protected
BENEZE BREIAIZALENIERE  MEETEDE
Health and safety OHSAS 18001 B = 2 fz & %2 & 771 £ 51| (Occupational

Health and Safety Assessment Series) ;375 : [ 8 T 12
HEBRE N Z 2T

Ensure safe working environment for our staff;
property management is certified with OHSAS 18001
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series;
provide regular health and safety training for staff

BRI FERMATE B TRERIFI REEEREEE
Development and training HETETIERE

Continue staff's development by providing in-house
training to front-line staff and sponsoring further
studies by application

REB R BHRESETOITERNNBES
Anti-corruption Set up whistleblowing channels and conduct internal

audit for routine monitoring
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#t& Community

X &5 Anti-corruption

EfE T Product responsibility
HESEETE Supply chain management
EAZETRMHILE Child & forced labour
8 T 8% %3l Employee development & training
& FRE1% % Health and safety

8 T4&# Employee benefits

BEME Packaging materials

F7K Use of water

B8 fARABEFE Fuel for mobile uses
JEIEHAERABEFE Fuel for non-mobile uses
FE Use of electricity

#EEREZEY) Non-hazardous waste

B EFEEY) Hazardous waste

EE7KBE Wastewater discharge
FEARZERE ZE Indoor air quality

JEE RBERR Air emission

FIEEE Climate change

B E RPN GHG emission

W & Social

1l #®1% Environmental

RS2

Overall materiality

—

REFNHENERIZE

Importance level per stakeholder
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2 ENVIRONMENT

2.1

2.2

Commitment Principle

In order to minimize the negative impacts on the environment
and natural resources, the Group adopts environmental-friendly
practices during our business operations and strictly complies
with all the applicable environmental laws and regulations. We
have implemented different environmental protection measures
for property development, along with the incorporation of green
building designs and implementation of responsible construction
practices in our work sites. Also, we uphold the principles of reduce,
recycle and reuse during the operation of education-related business.

Initiatives and Performances

Property Design

Aiming to reduce the buildings’ future consumptions of water and
electricity by referencing applicable green building designs, the
Group endeavours to track back the environmental impact of a
building as early as its design phase. We follow or refer to national
standards like the newly updated Assessment Standard for Green
Building (GB/T 50378-2019) or local provincial green building
requirements, which take into consideration green design elements
like building materials, indoor air quality, site selection and energy
considerations. During the year under review, two of our property
projects have adopted the one-star design of the national green
building standard, sponge city design and anti-seepage design.
Other examples of green building designs and features include:

—  Incorporation of passive building designs to improve ventilation
and optimise sunlight exposure;

- Use of water-efficient fixtures;

—  Improvement of energy efficiency with designs such as variable
speed ventilation drives and heat recovery;

—  Greening of rooftops and vertical walls; and

—  Consideration of use of renewable energy features such as
solar energy.

In Hong Kong, we map out improving indoor air quality through
introducing the air purifying equipment in the property projects.
We also implement smart designs by installing sensors capable of
measuring temperature and humidity in each unit to monitor and
thus enhance residents’ living conditions.
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Construction Sites

The construction process gives a direct impact on the environment
from the generation of air emissions, wastewater discharge
and construction waste. Therefore, we strictly follow relevant
government requirements to properly reduce and manage the
environmental impact of our construction sites, and continued to
focus on the following key construction site management aspects:

- Regularly communicate with construction contractors to ensure
they are updated on local environmental laws and regulations
and comply with these laws and regulations;

- Implement the “Six 100% " measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at our construction sites as per
regulatory requirements;

—  Measure and limit the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-
road mobile machinery as required by local government;
—  Strengthen the dispose of construction wastes and recycle

construction wastes in response to latest requirements;

—  Use qualified vendors for the proper disposal of hazardous
wastes;

—  Treat wastewater at our work sites prior to discharge; and
—  Regqularly visit construction contractors to see if they have

conducted adequate environmental, safety and health
inspections.
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Property Management

The Group has adopted various green measures in our self-operating
properties to improve the overall environmental performance. For
example:

—  Energy efficiency: We have been able to reduce our energy
consumption by replacing lighting fixtures with LEDs and
reducing the amount of lighting used in common areas.

—  Environmental management: Shenzhen Top Spring Property
Services Co., Ltd. Has obtained ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System certification.

—  Tenants’ engagement: Our tenants are encouraged to minimise
their resource consumption (electricity, water and material use)
and are provided with recycling facilities to reduce waste.

—  Used clothing recycling: We continued to support the old
clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging
tenants to donate old clothes to those in need. While those
can no longer be worn were processed into other products or
fabrics.

—  Rainwater collection and reuse: We also continued to assist
construction contractor to implement safety protective
measures for tenants during the implementation of the project
separating rainwater from sewage.

The following are some of our main environmental objectives
regarding property management, which have been achieved during
the period under review:

—  Use of pesticides and cleansing agents in accordance to
relevant regulations, aiming for zero incidents regarding their
use and storage; and

- Manage community wastewater, waste and noise according to
national standards.
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Material Aspects

Education-related business

We also place great emphasis on energy conservation and
environmental protection while operating education-related
business. In order to improve working efficiency as well as reduce
paper consumption and warehouse space, we have been pushing
forward the paperless office by initiating the implementation of
online management system and keeping only electronic copies
where practicable. In the meantime, we strongly support the
transition from traditional paper books to e-books and will move
towards this direction in the course of book publications. Apart
from abiding by the stringent requirements of the Education Bureau
of Hong Kong regarding the quality of educational supplies, we
endeavour to provide schools with reusable teaching supplies. We
also regularly cooperate with green groups and management offices
to promote the recycling of mooncake cans, second hand books,
plastic bottles, and so on, to improve the environmental protection
awareness of school children through practice.

Performance of identified Material Environmental Aspects 2019

ARERERE (BEEDRE) Total GFA (Gross floor area)’ 10,000 F /7 5K 186.24 300.28
10,000 m?

BkE Water consumption MHAK 481,485 714,232
m3

A7k Water intensity? MAK/FERK 0.26 024
m*/m?

REE Electricity consumption TR 14,345,525 20,492,011
kWh

RERE? Electricity intensity? FRE/FHK 7.70 6.83
kWh/m?

AEmE? Diesel consumption? # 0 123,829
L

AR S Diesel intensity #/EHK 0 73.19
/m?

EEaRM
REBEFERN AEEAREXE
ERRREEERNEREMF -

1 EHEZEEETRIAR-Z A
FYEEEMHEE -

2 —E-NFHEPEE R AREREY
BRHED  BEAKERBERD - R
- 8 TR IAE WP ABAE 58
- BHAKKAEEREEN -

3 CEAFNARAESEBMER
EERH - E R R LA

B -

Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, there were no reported non-
compliance with environmental regulatory requirements within the
Group.

1 The decline of total GFA resulted from the sales of property projects in 2019.

2 Total number of tenants and total GFA both decreased in 2019, resulting to
the decrease of water and electricity consumptions. However, the number of
tenants in our remaining property projects relatively increased, resulting to
the increase of water and electricity intensities.

3 Diesel consumption of 2019 was under control of the property contractor
in Hong Kong. There was no diesel consumption in the property projects of
Mainland China.
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3 EMPLOYMENT

We consider our people our prime asset. Our way of enlisting talents is
in accordance with our core values, demonstrating the importance we
place on social responsibility. We anticipate our staff to “be virtuous and
talented, have morality come first”, and we encourage duty and trust.
Our policies and guidelines are set in place to support staff employment
and development, including Recruitment Management System, Guidelines
for Talent Referral Reward, Staff Welfare Management System, Training
Management System, Guidelines for Assignment Management Training,
Internal Trainer Management Guidelines, Attendance and Leave
Management System, Assignee Management System, Guidelines for
Career Planning for Officers, Annual Training Plan, Group Accelerated
Talent Training Scheme and a Group Management Trainee Program.

3.1 Employee Benefits

We are committed to guaranteeing fair treatment for every
employee. The principles of equal opportunities have been applied
in all our employment policies, in particular to recruitment, training,
career development and promotion. We strive to promote fair
competition and prohibit discrimination or harassment against
any employee on the basis of their gender, age, marital status,
religion, race, nationality, disability or any status protected by law.
We structure the remuneration and benefit packages of employees
based on market terms, and make adjustments upon regular review
of individual responsibility and performance. All eligible employees
are enrolled to a defined contribution mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong or social insurance scheme in Mainland
China. In addition, our employees are awarded other employment
benefits at the discretion of the Group. We encourage our staff to
provide feedback. In line with this, there are channels in place for
our employees to express grievances and complaints, which will be
addressed as per the predetermined procedures. The Group strictly
complies with all the regulatory requirements with respect to labour
standards and prohibits the employment of child and forced labour.
Such emphasis has been included in our employment policy.

During the year under review, neither any non-compliances with
respect to employment, child labour or forced labour, nor any
discrimination or harassment incidents were reported within the
Group. The Group’s staff turnover rate was 12.9%, which was 17%
in 2018. The average service length of our employees was 3.45 years
(31 December 2018: 3.5 years) as at 31 December 2019.
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Healthy and Safe Working Environment

A healthy and safe workplace is essential to the wellbeing of
employees. We have in place a Safety Management Handbook and
an Emergency Management Handbook to provide our staff with
safety guidelines. We organise relevant training sessions to improve
our employees’ awareness on health and safety. In addition, regular
checks on self-managed properties and construction sites are
carried out. And our property management is certified with OSHAS
18001 Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series. We have
formulated a safety policy at all our construction sites and provide
workers with regular body check-ups and medical insurance. Our
occupational health and safety policy is aimed at:

- Enhancing safety management to ensure traffic safety of
the community where our properties are located (We aim to
achieve a zero incident rate per year within our community);

—  Complying with occupational health and safety regulatory
requirements and standards; and

- Striving for zero major health and safety incidents, including
health and safety accidents and emergency such as fire.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-
compliance with significant health and safety regulatory
requirements within the Group.

Development and Training

We encourage our employees to learn continuously through
coaching and further studies. The Group has formulated a number
of training policies, including Training Management, Guidelines for
Assignment Management Training and Internal Trainer Management
Guidelines. All employees, ranging from management to front-line
staff, receive in-house training. To encourage further studies, we
provide sponsorships by application.

In aid of enhancing teachers’ professional knowledge and skills as
well as improving their comprehensive ability to meet the learning
demands of different students, we organized a series of on-the-
job training courses and invited senior family therapy consultants
and keynote speakers on our Staff Development Day and special
workshops during the period under review. Content of these courses
included child development, teacher positioning, game design and
development, support for non-Chinese speaking students, learning
diversity, and rehabilitation support at school.
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3.4 Anti-corruption
Being “honest and righteous” echoes the element of integrity in
the Group’s talent management. All our staff members are expected
to uphold broadly acknowledged ethical standards or even the
highest professional standard, so that they work with honesty,
broadmindedness, integrity and righteousness.

We value business integrity and adopt zero tolerance towards
any form of corruption in our business activities. Such provisions
are included in the Group’s “Employee Handbook” and “Group
Disciplinary System”. Staff members are required to immediately
report any gifts or benefits they receive from clients. We have
set up reporting channels to escalate any suspected incidents of
corruption, and conduct internal audit for routine monitoring. Our
staff members are continuously reminded on the importance of anti-
corruption through training. During the year under review, there
were no reported non-compliances with regard to corruption within
the Group.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

The Group firmly believes that quality property is the key to quality living.
We strive to provide residents with quality property and tasteful life
style through innovation and delicacy. Through such efforts, we aim to
improve the living quality of our tenants and become trusted partners of
consumers. By virtue of pursuit and persistence of excellence in quality,
we have been devoted to providing schools with high-quality, safe and
stable products and services to ensure students’ access to healthy and safe
learning resources.

4.1 Supply Chain Management

During the process of property construction, we carefully appoint
external contractors by taking into consideration various factors such
as environmental protection, construction safety and product safety.
in selection of contractors for our property construction, we search
for those who are familiar with the environmental, social and safety
requirements. We work in close cooperation with the contractors on
all constructions and sourcing affairs and organise regular meetings
to facilitate two-way communications. In addition, we regularly
evaluate the performance of contractors based on environmental
and social risks.

In terms of suppliers for our education-related business, we not only
work closely with brands and companies with good reputation and
mature products, such as food suppliers and school bus operators,
but also regularly evaluate them to assess their alignments with our
strategic visions.
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4.2 Quality Services

To ensure the consistently high quality in our property management
services, we have been certified with ISO 9001 Quality Management
System. We stick to the following objectives in quality services to our
tenants:

Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and
enhance the neighbourhood;

—  Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property
management;

- Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised
property management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

-  Provide a tasteful living and working environment with
standardised service.

We are also committed to creating new living experiences for our
residents by integrating technologies of intelligent buildings, smart
cities and smart life into our property projects. Such efforts included
upgrading the Access Control to Bluetooth-based systems, fully
enabling the ENJOY (%) APP in our management service, and so
on. During the period under review, we were honoured with the
title of “Top 100 Property Management Companies in China” (“
B2 AR A oa b2 ) for five consecutive years and re-elected as
the “Star Enterprise of Customer Satisfaction Service in Guangdong

Province” (" ERE B REREHELZE").

We pay high attention to the health and safety of students and staff
in our schools and have set up a quality control system that closely
monitors the quality of our day-to-day food supplies. Dedicated
personnel are assigned to manage food supplies in specific areas
of each school. To ensure that food quality is up to standard, we
conduct regular inspections on the hygiene conditions of food
processing, handling, storage and distribution. Some suppliers
have obtained ISO 9001 Quality Management System Certification,
ISO 22000 Food Safely Management System certification and BRC
Global Standard for Food Safety Certification.
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4.3 Protection of Privacy

To ensure the well-being of our tenants, we regularly communicate
with them through satisfaction surveys in order to identify
potential areas for improvement. We keep customers’ information
confidential, and limit the access to their data. We have formulated
a series of policies to protect the privacy of our tenants, such as
Guidelines for Information System Security Management and Staff
Non-disclosure Agreement. We have a hierarchical authorisation
management system, under which different personnel are granted
different permissions. We also strictly protect the privacy of students
and parents from being leaked in accordance with the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong and other applicable regulations.
During the year under review, there were no reported non-
compliances regarding product responsibility within the Group.

4.4 Protection of Intellectual Property

Protection of intellectual property and copyright are important for
the Group as our business involves book publishing. We strictly
comply with applicable laws and regulations, such as the Intellectual
Property Law of Hong Kong to protect both our and the book
authors’ intellectual properties from infringement. During the year
under review, there were no reported non-compliances regarding
intellectual property and copyright.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

While pursuing business development, we also pays close attention to
the social well-being and is committed to fulfilling our corporate social
responsibility. We continued to create education opportunities for under-
privileged students, assist families in difficulties and take care of elderlies
through Top Spring International Holdings Limited.

During the year under review, the Group and Shenzhen Topspring Charity
Foundation donated HKD4.99 million to the institutions or activities such
as Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (1t R 2 ZZH £ &), Beijing
Zhonglun Foundation (1t = 7 fa Az & € &), Shenzhen Children’s
Literature Society (R Il 1 52 Z X 2 2 &), Shanghai Cedar Charity
Foundation ( L/ A& E £ €), “Wang Xiguan Scholarship Project”
(EWEHRESIEE ) in Tongjiang County, Lingnan University, Caring For
Children Foundation ({841 &% &), Belt & Road Hong Kong Centre ([ —
BB BB AEREBP D) as well as Bay Area Hong Kong Centre (K
@ &F B L) to contribute to the public welfare undertakings.



66

REEREBMARAIR —T—NFH

R -HERERRE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Al

Environmental

3,871

Emissions

ERERAREREHR MARLHNHS EEEER
ﬁ%%i%%ﬁﬁ%?%%ﬁAﬁiﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%&&
R

Policies relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

R R KRR SR

Types of emissions and respective emission data

RERBOFNE ARG E) R (MER) ZE (WNEES
B BERGHE)

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)
FELASEENAE UBEAE) R (MER)EE (WhE
ESB - §EREHE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)
MELAERZNRE CANEEE) R (WER) BE (e
ESEN  BEREHE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)

R EH R E AR ERAEKR

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and result
achieved

HARREEREEEENNTE NEEESNERRA
HRE

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

6 HKEX ESG CONTENT INDEX

EF R
Section Remarks
2.1-22

2.2

2.2

BREEETABIAUASIRSE - RMBEEER
EEZPURB RV EREMTMRKEER -

KPl is not identified as material for the Group. We will continue
to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosures needed
in the future.

BRENEETASIRHARABRESZ - RAMBEEEER
EERPURBRUBRBHMEMBREER -

KPlis not identified as material for the Group. We will continue
to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosure needed
in the future.
BEBRZMOBEBMARE - Al - ZABEERAKK
FRETAERHEE

The amount of hazardous waste is insignificant. We will however
plan to more properly monitor its quantity in the future.

REMOITHERERMHLE  ERREIERREANA
AEEMEZERD - URKSEEYE -

Basic material sorting is in place in our work sites but the KPI is
not identified as a material aspect of the Group. No data is being
collected.

—REZNABHRARENERER °

General waste is not identified material for the Group.
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Aspects

A B
Environmental

A2 ERER
Use of resources
BRERER(BREER  KREMRME) PR
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials

A2.1 RERES WE&&/iﬁﬁm/ (W& - &30m) @ (b
TRTEKAE) REE (WAGES BN - BERHEHE)
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.qg.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility)

A22 BREKEREE (WNBESEN - BELMHE)
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

A23 W RERAR GBI RAERR
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and result
achieved

A24 KRB KRR AR R - AR Bk s 8 R
S Es
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

A25 HARRHAREMRNEE UBHE) R (NER) BEEE
it g
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced

A3 RERARER
The environment and natural resources
BERLETAHRERRRERENEAYBNIE
Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the
environment and natural resources

A31 HREBEHHRERARERNEAYERERRERESR

WY ENTH
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the action taken to
manage them
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B B
Section Remarks
2.1-22
2.2
2.2
2.2
22 RKETREKEPIRM - DRERA T REERR -
Water is supplied by municipal water supply department. No
potential risk is anticipated in its sources.
- BEMHERRSIALEEANEEREE -
The use of packaging material s not identified as a material
aspect of the Group.
2.2
2.2
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e
Social

"

Employment
BERBEREANTHRETHETABEAYEN A ER
SOER

Policies on employment and compliance with local laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer on the

followi

REEZ2

Nng aspects:

R E

RERE

TIHRERS
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Eth i REN
Compensation and dismissal
Recruitment and promotion
Working hours and rest periods
Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination
Diversity

Other benefits and welfare

Health and safety
ERRAZ2TIFRERREEEREBELBENEER
EFEBERERER

Policies on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations

BREREA

Development and training

BRRTEERT TIFBEMNAMBRKBEMER - Hs

i)

Policie

s on improving employees' knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work; description of training activities

HEREE

Labou

r standard

BRI EETHREIS TNER - RETEARRER
Policies and compliance with laws and regulations on preventing
child and forced labour

ftEmERE

Supply chain management
ERHEENRE A S RRBE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

supply

chain

BEf  #E

Section

32

33

Remarks
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B W #HH
Aspects Section Remarks
B e
Social
B6 EREE

Product responsibility
FEMRHEMEIRBNERSAR S BE BHELEE 4
EARBRODENRE - B TREEEER
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations on
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress

B7 R&S
Anti-corruption
BAMER 9% FEFRARENRE  RETHEBEE 34
Ty
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

B8 HERE
Community investment
BHNHE2BRTREEFEHRZERRRE 5

(BEDEZRUBRNRNBE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities' interests
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and, where appropriate, adopted the
recommended best practices set out in the CG Code, except for the following
deviation:

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of the
Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximise interests of the shareholders of the Company.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Mr YUAN Zhi Wei, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr LIANG Rui Chi,
two non-executive Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHENG Yuk Wo,
Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.
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REBEFERN EFCEHRTNREESEE During the year under review, the Board held four Board meetings (exclusive
(TEHEHEEERINEELZESHNEIES  of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
EARTHNER) - REFENLFEXREET®  the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
T below:

HEXRE
Number of
attendance/Total
HITES Executive Directors
BRBLE(EERTHAER) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4
REBEE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei 3/4
MERL L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 4/4
R S A (HHEE1) Mr LIANG Rui Chi (Note 1) 212
PRAEZ ST (FIEE2) Mr CHEN Zhi Xiang (Note 2) 212
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BERENXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 3/4
B2 58 5 A (BT 5% 3) Mr KUl Qiang (Note 3) 212
FFERE (BIEE) (KB 4) Mr XU Lei (Vice-Chairman) (Note 4) 0/4
BIYKHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BRGNS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 4/4
ROMREIZ Professor WU Si Zong 4/4
PR 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 4/4
B 5 Notes:

(1) RImtbEEEZTARTESE B_ZT—HLEN (1) Mr LIANG Rui Chi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 5 August
AABBER - 2019.

Q) MESLLEBETHTES B-Z2—HF/\AF () MrCHEN Zhi Xiang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 August 2019.
AR o

(3) MicAEETAIENTEE B-Z—HAFE () MrKU Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 December
TZRARNBERES - 2019.

(4) FEEEBRERARAFRTESENBTENE @) Mr XU Lei was removed as a non-executive Director and the vice-chairman of the
b = ey e = Sl = A= P o ) Company with effect from 6 December 2019.
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Name of Director

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.

The Company provides a series of directors’ trainings including “Code of
Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the Securities and Futures
Commission”, “Leadership role and accountability in ESG”, “How to prepare
an ESG report” and “Exchange’s New ESG Requirements” with relevant reading
materials to the Directors to help and ensure that they are apprised of the latest
changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which the
Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of the
continuous professional development (“CPD") trainings undertaken by
them from time to time. Based on the details so provided, the CPD trainings
undertaken by the Directors in 2019 are summarized as follows.

HE - EAR EENASG -
BERBE
Directors’ roles,
functions and

duties

TrEER

Legal, regulatory
and corporate
governance

FRBER

Businesses of
the Group

B1TES Executive Directors
BEREE Mr WONG Chun Hong

(EEFTHAEH) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v v
REERE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei v/ v/ v
MERLZL Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley
P35 5 (1) Mr LIANG Rui Chi (Note 1) v/ v/ v
REELAE (FE2) Mr CHEN Zhi Xiang (Note 2) v v/ v
FHTES Non-executive Directors
ERXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v/ v/ v
B o 50 A (M 3E 3) Mr KUI Qiang (Note 3) v/ v/ v
FERE(FZE) (BFE4)  MrXU Lei (Vice-Chairman) (Note 4) v/ - -
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BHEAaLE Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v/ v/ v
RMRHE Professor WU Si Zong v/ v/ v/
BRELE Mr CHAN Yee Herman v v v
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FEMNREREECEERREN RENZF
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B-FUAELNEETERNE RIFNTIELIEHR
TER  ARAFERFRITRBRE -

IIF

Remarks:
v represents compliance

Notes:

(1) Mr LIANG Rui Chi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 5 August
2019.

(2)  Mr CHEN Zhi Xiang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 August 2019.

(3) Mr KUI Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 December
2019.

(4) Mr XU Lei was removed as a non-executive Director and the vice-chairman with effect
from 6 December 2019.

The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong
has become the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person ensures consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient planning
of long-term strategies and implementation of business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations and governance of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board members being non-
executive or independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the
current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.
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REBEFEAN - AQRAIRZF—NLFHRA Durng the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
“+ZRETABRREFAE((ZF—hE  on 23 May 2019 (“2019 AGM"). The attendance of each Director is set out in
REBFAE)) -ZSEROLFERNEHIINTE - the table below.

BRBFAE
Annual general
meeting
=E-hF
BRBFAE
2019
Name of Director AGM
HITES Executive Directors
EERBRE (FEFETHBAEAZ) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v/
RERLE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei v
EEH LA M) Mr CHEN Zhi Xiang (Note 1) v
MERL L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v
Rt 5 & (i EE2) Mr LIANG Rui Chi (Note 2)
FHITES Non-executive Directors
FFEGE (BIEE) (BIFE3) Mr XU Lei (Vice-Chairman) (Note 3)
ERXTE Mr YIP Hoong Mun
B o 5t AE (BT 5 4) Mr KUI Qiang (Note 4)
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
R AN S = Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v
ROMRHIE Professor WU Si Zong v
PRERE Mr CHAN Yee Herman v
fiat Remarks:
v EHE v/ represents attendance
B o Notes:

(1) BEEBFLABCHRTEE A-_Z—NAF/NAAFE (1) MrCHEN Zhi Xiang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 August 2019.
ABER -

() REMBELERZTARTESE B-F—NF/\ () MrLANG Rui Chi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 5 August
RERREX - 2019.

(3) HEAEWREARTENTEERIEIFENB  (3)  Mr XU Lei was removed as a non-executive Director and the vice-chairman with effect
B AT -AF+ZANBRBER- from 6 December 2019.

(4) MEBEAEETAEHNTEZT B _ZFT—HLEFE (@) MrKU Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 December
T ANBRER - 2019.
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FEZEeNIEREARARAHEZRS
RERENTFMBERERB AL R ERBE S
BBRBRLEARAZARNER  AEFE
RIEHEBEE -

HETEZLSRERBNHING  HHEE
ETEAALBARXNNE S EERSR
EEENRARBHEERE BEERERER
ENXRBREBMAETREBERE -

REBEFEAN  FHZESRRITHREE -
BHMEZE KRB FEREERIINTR

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr
WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERE EE

Number of

attendance/Total

BRGNS (/) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 4/4

BERELE Mr WONG Chun Hong 4/4

ROMTRHIE Professor WU Si Zong 4/4
REBEEERN $HEESRFZZEEGMEAL  For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee recommended

AMTEELRAAEEBRMBE_T—NF
TZA=+T—BLEFENFRIEL -HEESR
DEREEAR T H R ER A B AAE -

HE-_Z—NWF+-A=+—HLFE EF
MARBRHRERES ANHHFBERIIAAR
EEGREMBERRMFIRARERESRSE
EmEBERABZHME] -

to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. No
Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or options granted.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the section headed
“Remuneration for Senior Management” under the Directors’ Report of this
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is Professor WU Si Zong. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr WONG Chun
Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and
Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure of its
summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate governance
report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to make disclosure
of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the Company annually;
and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of reference are set out
in the circular where the Board propose a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural
background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After
assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board was
appropriately structured and no change was required.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE EE

Number of

attendance/Total

RNREE (FE) Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 2/2
H5ERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2
ERGRAN ST Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 212

REBEFER REZBERELTRAE
BN0ARIRE EFTERRE - RE AR R
BEEBREERIE=S-

EREES

ARBEREZEE ((BREEE]) TFERE6H
MEL - RAREAY BERZEGEE=4
BAFFRNITESE  MEHFMEL  RIWRHER
RERGEFEA -

ERZEQRNESRERUES ZSRENE
EFRREEAARMBERRNOTEML - ERE
EgEBMAEMBREEARARRIZARE
B R NEE R AR R - R EREISSNE
ZEMmMESSREE RARBRER LT
B KB ESNE BB B 1 R BB B
B2 Z AR »

ERZECARRAWEE BERERIIE
REMNEERNESSRIEBZE  EEH
EHAREZERBRNARBBRERAEG L1t
B TTHEE - REEFERN  EFTGLERR
HE - R - SR KA RIS 12 BUAD M 5K A £
ERZEBETANER -

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

BRER RN A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 202
ROMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
PREESE Mr CHAN Yee Herman 2/2

REbtgs BEZZEECER BHALI®W
AEERANSTRARER #BE-FT—N
FHoA=T-"RLFENFERE BE—
ZE-NFRA=ZTHILRNEANTEZEE - A
NS ERE - ABEE - BRERS - REER
Bk EREE RSN A R -

BB AT BN &
BE-Z-NF+-A=+—BLEE #E
BRIEBERBEN BN R DINEE U
LEARHAFHEAOBALARIIMT -

At the above meetings, the Audit Committee has considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function and risk management systems.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

BE-ZT—h&F

+=BA=+—8H

IHFE

For the year ended

31 December 2019

THExT

HK$'000

EZR Audit services 4,784

H RS (BisE) Other services (Note) 3,674

FE Total 8,458
et ER - BRIBHEEBZREIN  KEBINEZY Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,

FMESHEMELMMGEARE DR BEER
REEMRY  MASENEB QAT BHERRM
RERTS - AREMIFEZRY (RIERHERE
HEREABEARRBER) -

also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and other non- audit services including provision of
environmental, social and governance report and tax advice during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget during the year under review. The Board is
not aware of any significant internal control and risk management weaknesses
nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and considers the
existing internal control system and risk management systems effective and
adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management and internal
control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2019.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.



80 FEEREEARAT T NEH

EEERB|E

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

APYE T R B ) 4 5 B 4R B R M AT R AR B
ER BN R ARIREN E B R - FHEEE
FERBMEERIZE - RSB RS H ¥
MONERIRG R LRS- HIERST T ERAR
HEITEREIREEERBRAEEA - BREEA
BERBERER MMERZEZEZSTH
B - REFTHEFSERLAZTEREE - AR
2 R EREE R AR EE S AR NRR
HAR -

REETIZRBRERERE EFSHREAL
RABRENEHEEB RINBREAEENE
M AREE -

BB BE

EXgR T NE-A-RECERMNEHEZ
FZERBEWEREEE]  AAFRRZEAR
RAIEFE D B R AR BRE B S e i
RRERMT - ETHA  ERRERRE
HEERRE  WASEEN 2EBRERE
AREBWEERNREHAE  NAR]EAK
RERNEERE -

FERBRTHBERERE

NG| BMAL BN SIR R e EE TR
FEEHBEARENEZRAR L THBRAZE
R -

B EYET SRR
AEBABOWEBEEMAPBE R - EAb A
R BEB RGN MAEBABOWEIGHAF
BEA RZZET—AF+-_A=+—0 4%
EEEAHKIVEERESEERBEMNIER -
At - AREEBERERGEYETBEBENE
% o AEBENAPERE BN L EYEREE -
Flegs) HETHRBELCERIORER
S E BRI HASERER - MR
BIERBER TR E -

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems are reviewed by the Board on an on-
going basis to ensure they are effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group’s revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 19 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to the funding of property development
The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regards to the redevelopment projects
Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to the property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group’s operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such
a way to avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside
information policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2019. To ensure
compliance, all Directors were requested to send a notice of intention to
deal with the securities of the Company to the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee and should obtain an approval from the chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee or the designated person by the Board
during the year under review to deal with securities of the Company.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final version of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully
apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and that it takes these into consideration when making
decisions for the Group. From time to time, he organises seminars on specific
topics of significance and interest and disseminates reference materials to the
Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting of the Shareholders is a good
opportunity for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
Notice of annual general meeting and related documents will be sent to
Shareholders pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), and are
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition; and the Company shall hold general
meeting within two months after receiving the requisition. If a Shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as
a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of
Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice,
duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the Company’s
head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong (the
“"Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited. The period
for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at general
meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company Secretary
and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company. The results
of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on the
Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders and
investors.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (E & &), aged 65
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the second
largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of Rainbow
Department Store Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He has over 22 years of experience in the real estate business in the Mainland
and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the finance and retail
fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG was awarded 20104 € & & A ¥
(2010 Person of the Year) by China Real Estate Information Corporation (7
BEEEBEEE) FRLE (Sina House), 2011 the Most Influential Person
in China and 2012 the Most Influential Person in real estate sector in China in
the 11th and 12th Boao Real Estate Forum respectively and 2011 CEIBS Alumni
Award Programme by China Europe International Business School. Mr WONG
also attended the Global CEO Programme for China in 2007 which was co-
organised by China Europe International Business School, IESE Business School
and Harvard Business School. He is the executive chairman of Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations Limited, the chairman of
Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou Associates Limited, the president of
Hong Kong Real Property Federation and a member of Guangzhou Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (& /N ™ EX 1% & £ ). In July 2016,
Mr WONG was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in recognition of his continuous
contribution to the well-being of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
over the years, and for his distinguished achievements towards the commercial
sector and community affairs. The Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) was introduced in
1998 and is presented to individuals who demonstrate remarkable performance
in long-term community services.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.l.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong's Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this report.

Mr YUAN Zhi Wei (R {&), aged 34
Executive Director

Mr YUAN was appointed as an executive Director on 1 September 2017.
He joined the Company as the Assistant President since 16 March 2016. Mr
YUAN joined Yunnan Metropolitan Construction Investment Co., Ltd.* (&
MAMMEZIRESEFRAA) ("YMC") in 2011, and has worked for a
fund company under YMCI, the board office of YMCI and Caiyun, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of YMCI and a substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company. He is currently the deputy general manager of
Caiyun. Mr YUAN has extensive management experience in the fields of fund
management, capital markets, real estate development, corporate governance
and cultural tourism. Mr YUAN obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
the Faculty of Economics of Yunnan University (£ & X £) in July 2008 and
a master’s degree in economics from the Institute of Development Studies of
Yunnan University* (£ A2 2R FTPT) in July 2011.

Mr YUAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr YUAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (# % %), aged 49
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 22 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is @ member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr LIANG Rui Chi (R%5th), aged 48
Executive Director

Mr LIANG was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5
August 2019. Mr LIANG joined the Group in February 2006 and worked as the
general manager of operations management department, strategic investment
department and Water Flower Property Development Co., Ltd. of the Group,
and a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. He was appointed as the
assistant president of the Group and the general manager of the Guangdong
regional branch in February 2014, and then left the Group in April 2015 due
to personal reason. He rejoined the Group and was appointed as the executive
vice president of the Group in April 2019, and was later appointed as the
Group vice chief executive officer in November the same year. Mr LIANG has
over 20 years of experience in corporate governance, investment and strategic
management. He was a supervisor of each of Dongjiang Environmental
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock codes: 895.HK, 002672.5Z), and Rainbow Department
Store Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002419.5Z). Mr LIANG graduated from Central University of
Finance and Economics and was awarded a bachelor degree in economics in
1994.

Mr LIANG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LIANG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Director

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (EEX), aged 58
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company and a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group chief executive officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings"”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Metro
Group”), a company listed on The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited and a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company since June 2019.

Mr YIP has about 32 years’ experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operation, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Prior to joining the Metro Group, he spent over 20 years with
the CapitaLand Group (g7Z % @), a Singapore based real estate group, and
had served, for three years until December 2016, as the CapitaLand Group's
managing director of Indonesia, where he was responsible for building the
group’s market presence, including an ongoing integrated development project
in central Jakarta.

Mr YIP started his career with Indeco Engineers Pte Ltd, a Singapore based
integrated facilities maintenance management company, and later joined
BP South East Asia Ltd, an oil and gas company. From 1994 to 2007, Mr YIP
worked in various countries in the investment and operations functions of
Liang Court Holdings (52 B A 7]), the predecessor of the CapitaLand Group
established in 2000, and The Ascott Group (7 &% £ &), an international
serviced residence owner-operator under the CapitaLand Group. He became
the managing director of The Ascott Group (China) in 2003, and was promoted
to chief executive officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group
in 2006. From 2007 to 2013, Mr YIP engaged in property development under
the CapitaLand Group in the Gulf Region and later, in Vietnam. Throughout
his career, Mr YIP succeeded repeatedly in exploring new markets in China,
Vietnam and Indonesia.

Mr YIP has a bachelor's degree in civil engineering with first-class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a master’s degree in business
administration from Stanford University, the United States.

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (B25%), aged 34
Non-executive Director

Mr KUl was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 6
December 2019. He is currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun.
From December 2015 to March 2017, Mr KUl worked as the deputy supervisor
of the financial department of YMCI. Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor
degree in E-commerce and English Studies from Northeast Normal University
(RICAD &5 K 22) in 2008 and a master degree in Accounting from the same
university in 2010. Mr KUl is also a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Management Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 10 years
of experience in the fields of fund management, information technology, real
estate development and telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules)

Mr KUl does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Z8%i#1), aged 59
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHENG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2010. Mr CHENG worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (formerly
known as Coopers and Lybrand) in London in 1984 and at UBS AG (formerly
known as Swiss Bank Corporation) in Toronto in 1989. He is also the co-
founder of Centurion Corporate Finance Limited. In 1999, he became the sole
proprietor of Erik CHENG & Co., Certified Public Accountants. Mr CHENG
received his master’s degree of science (economics) in accounting and finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1984, and
his bachelor’s degree of arts (honours) in accounting from the University of
Kent in 1983. Mr CHENG is currently a member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
practising in Hong Kong and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr CHENG does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.
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ETARER
Name of the listed company

BIBLRITB R AR
Chong Hing Bank Limited
PREBERKRARAR
CPMC Holdings Limited

The table below sets out Mr CHENG's directorships in a number of companies
listed in Hong Kong as at 31 December 2019:

B %

Position

BUEMITESF
Independent non-executive director
BUEMITES

Independent non-executive director

EARRBMEARAR (ABELAKKITEFRAAF) B IFMITE S
CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited) Independent non-executive director
REATHEIREFERER AT B IFMITE S
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited Independent non-executive director
CHEEEERBR AT BAFRITES
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
BAEZFZER)BRAF] BAFRITES
HKC (Holdings) Limited Independent non-executive director
AN EERAERRAR BAIFRITES
Somerley Capital Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
BRIEPERRAR BAFRITES
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited Independent non-executive director
SWEREFRFRAF BAFRITES
Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
ERGEBREARAR BAFRITES
Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited Independent non-executive director
FLALEBIFR AR B R A A BAFRITES
Kidsland International Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
hEBIR AR DA BAERITES

C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd.

& AR AR D F A REES KB
EHROIEXVEEATRENEDZH N AR
EHEEREEEERIETRABRAR
Al R EREOEE MR - R RESHE

sRORA |8 e

Independent non-executive director

The discloseable interest of Mr CHENG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.
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Professor WU Si Zong (2 5R), aged 68
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A% X2 (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU is the vice chairman of L/ 1 1% 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 & (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 78 B A% K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) JT 78 Bf £ K 2 in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E &
B 48 K E2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

The discloseable interest of Professor WU in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (B &), aged 65
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 8 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 36 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr CHEN Haihong (B %), aged 50
Vice President

Mr CHEN joined the Group as the vice president of the Group on 1 February
2018. Prior to joining the Group, he had held various senior management
positions in several well-renowned corporations, namely the Vice President
and Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Regional Managing Director of Shanghai Forte
Land Company Limited and Fosun Property Holdings Ltd.; Managing Director
of China Overseas Property Ltd. as well as the Managing Director of China
Overseas Mechanical & Electrical Engineering Ltd., etc.. Mr CHEN has more
than 20 years of experience in top-ranking construction companies and first-
rated real estate companies. He has sound knowledge in Hong Kong real estate
market, and has an in-depth and comprehensive understanding in investment,
design, development and marketing solutions. Mr CHEN is a member of the
Chartered Institute of Building, a senior engineer in China and a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators. Mr CHEN received a
bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from Tongji University in 1991 and a
master’s degree in engineering business management from Warwick University
and the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006.

Mr CHEN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr ZHENG Chen (%} =), aged 42
Vice President

Mr ZHENG joined the Group as the vice president of the Group on 1 August
2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr ZHENG held various senior investment
management positions at leading institutions including Temasek Holdings
(HK), FountainVest Partners, with funds managed by Fosun International and
Bank of China Group Investment. He also worked for Standard Chartered
Bank (HK), Prudential Financial and Lehman Brothers. He is a seasoned investor
with over 16 years of equity investment experience in the United States and
Asia, focusing on the education, real estate, financial services and healthcare
sectors. Mr ZHENG graduated from Wesleyan University in the United States
with a Bachelor of Arts degree. Mr ZHENG does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

Mr LI Guohua (ZE] %), aged 46
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(BERREESEREWERT). Mr L has engaged in real estate industry for
over 20 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management.
Mr LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South
China University of Technology in 1996. He is now attending the Private Equity
Investment and Corporate Listing Programme (FL =& #E % & B2 F it
{£3) at the HSBC Business School, Peking University. Mr LI does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or
controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Mr LI Shouwen (Z==758), aged 43
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 20 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr WONG Tak Chun (# #&18), aged 38
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in February
2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the United Kingdom. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in economics from the University of British Columbia in 2005, and a master’s
degree in corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2014.

Mr WONG has more than 14 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(Fn~7 5 F BB 437 B 2 B IR A 7)) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017. In addition, Mr WONG was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Richly Field China Development Limited (Stock Code:
313) with effective from 3 September 2018.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

*for identification only
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as required by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included
in the sections of Chairman’s Statement, and Management Discussion and
Analysis of this report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s
business is discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this
report. In addition, further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and
uncertainties are included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report
of this report. The sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management
Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this
report.

RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the financial
position of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 130 to 284 of this report. The Board has recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK 2 cents per Share attributable to equity
shareholders and the holders of PCSs of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019 (for the year ended 31 December 2018: HK6 cents) to
Shareholders and holders of PCSs whose names appear on the register of
members or the register of holders of PCSs of the Company on Friday, 5 June
2020. Upon approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 28 May 2020 (the “AGM"),
it is expected that the final dividend will be payable on or around Friday, 19
June 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
REGISTER OF HOLDERS OF THE PCSs

For the purposes of determining the eligibility of the shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM and their entitlements to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the Company
will be closed as set out below:

(i)

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to
attend and vote at the AGM or any adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 25 May 2020 to Thursday, 28 May
2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any
adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the case of the Shares, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Hong
Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 22 May 2020; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, the notice
of conversion in prescribed form, together with the relevant certificate of
the PCSs and confirmation that any amounts required to be paid by the
holder of the PCSs have been so paid, must be duly completed, executed
and deposited with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 15 May 2020.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 28 May 2020.
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(i) For determining the entitlement of the shareholders and the holders of
PCSs to the proposed final dividend:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 3 June 2020 to Friday, 5 June
2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, (a) in the case of
the Shares, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share Registrar at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2 June 2020; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, all
transfers of the PCSs accompanied by the relevant certificate of the PCSs
must be lodged with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 26 May 2020.

The record date for such purposes is Friday, 5 June 2020.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 285 to 288 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group's major properties under development for sale are set out in the section
of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this report.
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LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 30 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2019.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 30 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$4,692,054,000 (2018:
HK$2,198,096,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders
and holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of its Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2019
are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KP1")

(a) Pre-sales

Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group's actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales ASP
was approximately HK$104.3 million, 8,172 sq.m. and HK$11,649.5
per sg.m., respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
approximately HK$895.4 million, 112,715 sg.m. and HK$7,710.6
per sg.m.).

(b) Gross profit margin

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group’s profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross profit margin was approximately
59.5% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: approximately
54.9%).
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(c) Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group's earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net loss was approximately HK$529.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: net profit
approximately HK$127.8 million).

(d) Net gearing ratio

Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 50.0%
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 29.5%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to

approximately HK$4,993,000 (2018: HK$2,612,000).
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Development Management Agreement

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Framework development management agreement

On 31 May 2018, TSI Australia Property and Development Management
Services Pty Ltd (“TSI Australia”), a subsidiary of the Company, and Silver
Pond Investments Property Limited (“Silver Pond”) entered into a development
management agreement (the “Development Management Agreement”),
pursuant to which TSI Australia agreed to act as the development manager for
the project to perform the development management services for an initial term
of three years from 1 June 2018.

As Silver Pond is held as to 51% by the immediate family members of Mr
WONG Chun Hong (“Mr WONG") (the chairman of the Board, the chief
executive officer, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of
the Company), and as to 49% indirectly by the Company, it is therefore an
associate of Mr WONG (and his immediate family members) and a connected
person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. The provision
of development management services by TSI Australia to Silver Pond under
the Development Management Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company (the "CCTs") under the Listing rules.

The maximum aggregate annual caps (the “Annual Caps”) approved by the
independent Shareholders or set by the Company (as the case may be) and the
aggregate annual transaction value of the CCTs actually recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out below:

ERXZLE
(F#T)
B=Z-h&f—HA—8
BE-ZE—NF
+=-—BA=+—HL
Actual transaction
amount (AUD’000)
From 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2019

FELR

(F& )
B=Z—N&—-H—H
BEZEB-—NF
+=—A=+—H1
Annual Caps
(AUD’000)

From 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2019

1,200 1,667

As the highest applicable percentage ratio is more than 0.1% but less than
5%, the provision of development management services by TSI Australia to
Silver Pond under the Development Management Agreement is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but is exempt from
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Further details of the Development Management Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2018.
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Upon reviewing the CCTs and the report of the auditor of the Company, each
of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed in accordance with
the Listing Rules 14A.55 that the CCTs have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the relevant CCTs
and on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the CCTs in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the CCTs on page 111 of the annual report in
accordance with the Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditor of the Company
have confirmed that regarding the CCTs, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that:

(i)  the CCTs have not been approved by the Board;

(i)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
such transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(i) the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing respective CCTs; and

(iv) the aggregate amount of each of the CCTs has exceeded the Annual
Caps.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 3.5% of the Group's revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 0.8% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 23.5% of the Group's purchases for
the year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately
10.6% of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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= DIRECTORS
RERNRBERREAHNERHT The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
ZEBH BHE R 1
Date of Date of
appointment resignation
BTES Executive Directors
HEREEE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ETAENA i@ A
(FEFTEHAAZ) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  —+HH N/A
25 August 2009
RERELE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei —T—+tFNA—H TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley - N\F=ZA—H i A
1 March 2018 N/A
Rt s A (HHaE1) Mr LIANG Rui Chi (Note 1) ZZE-NAFNAREBR  TEA
5 August 2019 N/A
PREE S A (KMFE2) Mr CHEN Zzhi Xiang (Note 2) —T-N\F=A—H Z—E-NAFNARA
1 March 2018 5 August 2019
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ERXTE Mr YIP Hoong Mun —T—+FAA—8 TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
BRo® %t & (FFE3) Mr KUI Qiang (Note 3) “E-NF+=ARHE TEA
6 December 2019 N/A
EEE(FIERE) (ML) Mr XU Lei (Vice-Chairman) (Note 4) —E-HE+A—H —ZE-AF+=-AXH
1 October 2015 6 December 2019
BYkBTES Independent non-executive Directors
R AN S Mr CHENG Yuk Wo ZE-ZF+—H i A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
RO R Professor WU Si Zong —ET—ZF+—A i@ A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
PR 1% 55 A& Mr CHAN Yee Herman —E-N\F—A=H i@ A
2 January 2018 N/A
5T - Notes:

(1) RISHELEEZTARTESE B-FT—AF/\L (1) MrLIANG Rui Chi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 5 August
ARHBBAER - 2019.

2) BREFRLEBFTHNTEE B-ZT—AFENAA  (2) MrCHEN Zhi Xiang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 August 2019.
H e -

(38) MBEALAEZTAFENTESRT B-_FT—HLFE (3) MrKUI Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 6 December
+ZANARER- 2019.

(4) FELEHREARARRFRATESENAEZFENE @) Mr XU Lei was removed as a non-executive Director and the vice-chairman with effect
B BT -AFTZANBRER- from 6 December 2019.
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. By
virtue of Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley,
Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman will retire from office and,
being eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. By virtue of Article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association, Mr LIANG Rui Chi and Mr KUI Qiang will retire
from office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong has served the Company
for more than nine years. As an independent non-executive Director with
extensive experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of the
Company’s operations and business, each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor
WU Si Zong has expressed objective views and given independent guidance to
the Company over the past years. The Board considered that their long service
would not affect their exercise of independent judgment and was satisfied
that each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong has the required
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-
executive Director and consider each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU
Si Zong to be independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this report, all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the section of Biography of Directors and Senior Management.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, save as disclosed below, there has been no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B
of the Listing Rules since the Company’s last published annual report. Mr
CHENG Yuk Wo, an independent non-executive Director, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock
code: 0043) with effect from 1 January 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract or
appointment letter (as the case may be) which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

Number of individuals
A

2,500,001 ;% JT & 3,000,000 7T
4,000,001 % JT & 4,500,000 7 7T

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 2
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Name of Director

Type of interest

HBERAE(EEED HE2) LR RS
Mr WONG Chun Hong Interest in a controlled
(“Mr WONG") (Note 2) corporation
EEAIZA
Settlor of a trust
EnEBA

Beneficial owner

BEB T4 (TREE] (:E3)
Mr CHEN Zhi Xiang
("Mr CHEN") (Note 3)

EEEBA

Beneficial owner

BEMLE(BEED (H5E4)
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo
("Mr CHENG") (Note 4)

EafEA

Beneficial owner

ERERA

Beneficial owner

BRFHE ([RER]) (Hs)
Professor WU Si Zong
(“Professor WU") (Note 5)

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

105

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

BBEXAX
HERH HEBRE ARRES BERGR EERTRG
HA (R) %A (R) %A (R) HERGEH BRES
Total number
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares) held issued Shares
(Note 1)
(a)+(b)+(c)
148,500 - - 148,500 i 17 (L) 0.01
148,500 Shares (L)
417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 % & 17 (L) 37.81
534,146,300 Shares (L)
5,083,200 1,400,000 - 6,483,200 % & 17 (L) 0.46
6,483,200 Shares (L)
- 2,670,000 - 2,670,000 %1% (1) 0.19
2,670,000 Shares (L)
- 1,420,000 - 1,420,000 17 (L) 0.10
1,420,000 Shares (L)
- 400,000 - 400,000 % & 17 (L) 0.03

400,000 Shares (L)
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Notes:

(N

()

(5)

The letter “L" denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.

Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun”) is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr
WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
Limited is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-
owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong Family Trust and the
beneficiaries of which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and
the protector of the WONG Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to
be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again Limited and 116,552,800
underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again Limited. And Mr WONG
beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares and 1,400,000 options granted to him by the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1). These share options, all of
which remained exercisable as at 31 December 2019, were exercisable at the subscription
price of HK$2.264 per Share during the period from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022.

Mr CHEN’s long position in the underlying Shares comprises (i) 300,000 options granted to
him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 2), (i) 370,000 options
granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 3) and
(iii) 2,000,000 options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme (Lot 6). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December
2019, were exercisable as to (i) 300,000 share options (Lot 2) at the subscription price of
HK$4.14 per Share during the period from 20 June 2014 to 19 June 2023, (ii) 370,000
share options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period
from 28 April 2016 to 27 April 2025, and (iii) 2,000,000 share options (Lot 6) at the
subscription price of HK$2.796 per Share during the period from 5 December 2017 to 4
December 2026. Mr CHEN resigned as an executive Director of the Company with effect
from 5 August 2019.

Mr CHENG’s long position in the underlying Shares comprises (i) 420,000 options granted
to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) and (ii) 1,000,000
options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot
3). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December 2019, were
exercisable as to (i) 420,000 share options (Lot 1) at the subscription price of HK$2.264
per Share during the period from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022 and (ii) 1,000,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

Professor WU's long position in the underlying Shares comprises 400,000 options by the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 3). The share options, which
remained exercisable as at 31 December 2019, were exercisable as to 400,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors in the
business which is considered to compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Mr XU Lei (“Mr XU"), a non-executive Director, was the chairman of the board
of YMCI (Mr Xu ceased to act as the chairman of the board of YMCI from 24
May 2019), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and engaged in
real estate development in the PRC, and is therefore considered to have interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
YMCI mainly operates in the Central-Western China region including Yunnan
province, Sichuan province, and Shaanxi province in the PRC.

Mr XU was removed as a non-executive Director and the vice-chairman of the
Company with effect from 6 December 2019.

As the Group’s business focuses in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River
Delta, Beijing-Tianjin and Chengdu-Chongging regions in the PRC, the Directors
consider that Yunnan Metropolitan and the Group target at different regions
of the PRC for their businesses, the business of Yunnan Metropolitan does not
pose material competitive threat to the Group.
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Each of the Directors is aware of his/her fiduciary duties as a Director which
require, among other things, that he/she acts for the benefit and in the best
interests of the Company and avoids any conflicts between his/her duties as a
Director and his/her personal interest.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to have interests
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this report, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme on 2 December 2010 under which the Company granted share options
and awarded Shares to certain eligible employees. The Share Award Scheme
was terminated following the passing of a resolution by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 May
2019. During the year ended 31 December 2019, 157,000 share options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme had been exercised by the grantees and
a total number of 400 share options had been lapsed upon the resignation
of certain grantees. Upon completion of the bonus issue on 20 June 2013,
adjustment was made to the number of the share options under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme in which 9,478,516 share options were additionally
granted to the holders of the share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. As a result, 1,523,631 share options (representing approximately
0.11% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report)
were outstanding as at 31 December 2019 under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.
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The Company has also adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on
28 February 2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contribution that eligible employees have made or may make to the Group.
On 26 June 2012, 20 June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015, 23
October 2015 and 5 December 2016, the Group granted 15,720,000 share
options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options
(Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and
31,000,000 share options (Lot 6) under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
respectively, at the exercise price of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14
per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and
HK$2.796 per share, respectively, to certain Directors, senior management and
selected employees of the Group. Upon completion of the bonus issue on 20
June 2013, adjustment was made to the number of the share options under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) in which 5,808,000 share options
were additionally granted to the holders of Lot 1 under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. During the year ended 31 December 2019, a total number of 0
Post-IPO share options had been exercised by the grantees and 3,680,000 Post-
IPO shares options had been lapsed upon resignation of grantees. As a result,
97,377,500 share options (representing approximately 6.89% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report) were outstanding as
at 31 December 2019 under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Movement of the outstanding share options under the Pre-IPO and Post-IPO
Share Option Schemes for the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

R®
—E-hE
g2&i 27 B 2AX T=A
& IR e fB IR BRE BT AE Er=[E
Share Share Share Share As at
Exercise 1 January options options options options 31 December
Price 2019 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2019

BRBT

HK$

per Share
BRLFEER  Pre-PO 1.78 1,681,031 - 157,000 - 400 1,523,631

BRRMEER  Post-IPO

4t Lot 1 2264 3,451,500 - - - - 3,451,500
E# Lot 2 414 6,716,000 - - - - 6,716,000
E=H Lot 3 33 49,698,000 - - - 380,000 49,318,000
St Lot 4 3.65 1,067,500 - - - 300,000 767,500
En Lot 5 3.45 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000
Epaeiig Lot 6 2.796 30,124,500 - - - 3,000,000 27,124,500
Nt Sub-total 101,057,500 - - - 3,680,000 97,377,500
Mgt Total 102,738,531 - 157,000 - 3,680,400 98,901,131
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(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

()

(ii)

Purpose and participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 2
December 2010 to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that certain of its employees or employees of companies in which
the Group holds an interests (excluding the subsidiaries of the
Group) (“Invested Entity/ies”) have made or may make to the
Group.

Implementation

On 3 December 2010, options to subscribe for a total of 34,371,667
Shares were granted to 98 employees of the Group and an Invested
Entity (the “Selected Grantees”) under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. During the year ended 31 December 2019, 157,000 share
options had been exercised by the grantees and a total of 400 share
options had been lapsed upon the resignation of certain grantees.
As at 31 December 2019, there were share options to subscribe for
a total of 1,523,631 Shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and remained outstanding (the “Pre-IPO Options”). Further details
of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and remained outstanding at the end of the year under review are
set out in note 30(a) to the financial statements.

The Pre-IPO Options were transferred to Great Canyon Investment
Limited, a special purpose vehicle incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands under the share option trust (the “Share Option Trust"”)
which holds the Pre-IPO Options on trust for the benefit of the
Selected Grantees prior to the vesting of the Pre-IPO Options in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and instrument constituting the Share Option Trust.
For the implementation of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Share Option Trust was established on 3 December 2010 for the
benefit of the Selected Grantees and HSBC Trustee (Hong Kong)
Limited acts as the trustee thereof.

All the Pre-IPO Options were granted at a consideration of HK$1.00
paid by each Selected Grantee and no further options will be
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on or after the
Listing Date.
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(iii)  Vesting of the Pre-IPO Options

Subject to applicable laws and regulations and the paragraphs
below, the Pre-IPO Options are to be exercised on or after the
Listing Date and are subject to a vesting period of three years
commencing from the Listing Date during which 30% of the
total Pre-IPO Options granted to a Selected Grantee will vest
on each of the first and second anniversary dates of the Listing
Date and 40% of the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such
Selected Grantee will vest on the third anniversary date of the
Listing Date.

Notwithstanding the paragraph above, unless it is provided for
in the employment contract with the relevant Selected Grantee
and/or written documents for granting an offer, any Pre-IPO
Option granted to a Selected Grantee whose employment
with the Group or an Invested Entity is less than one year as
at the Listing Date shall be subject to the vesting period of
three years from the first anniversary date of the employment
commencement date of such Selected Grantee, during which
30% of the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such Selected
Grantee will vest on each of the second and third anniversary
dates of the employment commencement date and 40% of
the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such Selected Grantee
will vest on the fourth anniversary date of the employment
commencement date.

Any vesting date of a Selected Grantee is subject to
postponement of one year in the event that the performance
appraisal of such Selected Grantee is rated at the lowest range
for two consecutive years. Notwithstanding the postponement
of the vesting date, the vesting period shall remain as a period
of three years from the Listing Date or, as the case may be, the
first anniversary date of the employment commencement date,
and any Pre-IPO Option granted to a Selected Grantee but not
vested at the end of the vesting period shall be deemed to
have been surrendered by such Selected Grantee forthwith.

The Pre-IPO Options will become exercisable for a period to be
notified by the Advisory Committee to each Selected Grantee
and will not be more than 10 years from the date on which the
Pre-IPO Option is deemed to have been granted in the manner
as stipulated in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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(iv)  Exercise price of the Pre-IPO Options

v)

The exercise price payable upon the exercise of any Pre-IPO Options
is at HK$2.492 per Share, subject to any adjustment made in the
manner as contemplated under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
Upon completion of the bonus issue on 20 June 2013, the exercise
price of Pre-IPO Options was adjusted to HK$1.78 per Share.

Other material terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are similar to those of
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme except in respect of the following
material terms:

e  the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is not conditional upon
listing of Shares of the Company on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and is not subject to any other conditions;

e the provisions on the granting of options to connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) were not included; and

e the Advisory Committee may only grant options under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme at any time on a business day (as
defined in the Listing Rules) during a period commencing on 2
December 2010 and before the Listing Date. No further options
(other than options to subscribe for a total of 34,371,667
Shares already granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, of which 1,523,631 options remained outstanding as
at 31 December 2019) will be offered under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and accordingly, the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme does not contain provision relating to the “refreshing”
of the 10% limit or the seeking of separate approval for
granting options beyond the 10% limit as anticipated in Note
1 of Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules, or the restrictions on
the number of shares issued or to be issued under options in
any 12-month period to any participant of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme not exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
anticipated in the Note to Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(b) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

()

(ii)

(i)

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28
February 2011 to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Persons (as defined in paragraph (ii) below) have made or
may make to the Group.

Participants of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company in
which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate"”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of
which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which
include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or
an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially and wholly-owned by any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate
(“Eligible Person(s)").

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price for any Share under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified to
each grantee and will be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must
be a business day as defined in the Listing Rules; (ii) an amount
equivalent to the average closing price of a Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share. The
subscription price shall also be subject to any adjustments made in a
situation contemplated under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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(iv)  Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or similar rights over
Shares or other securities by the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Listing Date (subject to adjustment under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme) unless Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and in compliance
with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company may refresh
the scheme mandate limit under the Post-IPO Option Scheme
by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at a general meeting
provided that the number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Share Option Schemes and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of such refreshment by Shareholders in
general meeting. At the annual general meeting held on 23 May
2016, the scheme mandate limit was refreshed pursuant to which
Directors are authorised to grant share options according to the
Post-IPO Option Scheme to subscribe for up to 118,220,459 Shares.

Upon such refreshment, all options granted under the Share Option
Schemes and any other option schemes of the Company (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Schemes or any other share option
schemes of the Company) prior to the approval of such refreshment
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating whether the
refreshed scheme mandate limit has been exceeded.

Notwithstanding the above, pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Schemes
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No
share options shall be granted under any share option schemes of
the Company (including the Share Option Schemes) if this will result
in the 30% limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

No option may be granted to any Eligible Person which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such Eligible Person under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further
share options above this limit shall be subject to certain requirements
provided under the Listing Rules.

Any grant of options to any Director, chief executive (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(but excluding, for all purposes, any independent non-executive
Director who is a proposed grantee).

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or their respective associates
would result in the total number of the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
grant:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders.

Time of exercise of the options

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof
at any time during the applicable option period, which is not more
than 10 years from the date of grant of option.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Person to the Company on
acceptance of the option offered as consideration for the grant. The
offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 business
days from the date of offer.
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(viii) Remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

(ix)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain valid for a period of
10 years commencing on the effective date of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, that is 22 March 2011, after which no further
options will be issued but the provisions of the scheme shall remain
in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the scheme.

Present status of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 26 June 2012, 20 June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September
2015, 23 October 2015 and 5 December 2016, the Group granted
15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot
2), 82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot
4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options
(Lot 6) under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, respectively, at
the exercise price of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14
per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per
Share and HK$2.796 per Share, respectively, to certain Directors,
senior management and selected employees of the Group. Upon
completion of the bonus issue on 20 June 2013, adjustment was
made to the number of the share options under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme (Lot 1) in which 5,808,000 share options were
additionally granted to the holders of Lot 1 under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the exercise price was adjusted to HK$2.264.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, a total number of 0
Post-IPO share options had been exercised by the grantees and
3,680,000 Post-IPO shares options had been lapsed upon resignation
of grantees. As a result, 97,377,500 share options (representing
approximately 6.89% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report) were outstanding as at 31 December 2019
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (“PCSs")

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs had
been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which will be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.



118 *EEMEMERAT T h4H

EEHRES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FTERRAEXRQFAROHAAER
13 B 58

RZBE-AF+ZR=+—H BEFESRL
ARBEBITRABMAE U TAL(ES
HARBEETHRABRIN RAR A RO K
HEARNTPEACERARAREZESF AR
15PIZE 336 AR BB CMARNZRIXR
HIRBESF LAEGRPIFEXVEF 2 R E 358
BETEXARARRRENERIAR  HE
EREZRBEAMARMNAEEMER TRASE
B A EAMK B R AN BRRAE ERRNER
SRR AE(E 5% A FE RS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

Chance Again (Fi3£2)
Chance Again (Note 2)

BVI Co(Mfiz£2)
BVI Co (Note 2)

ELERET(FE2)
HSBC International Trustee (Note 2)

pEgL(Bat]) (WE2k3)
Ms LIU Choi Lin (*Ms LIU") (Notes 2 & 3)

YE (W)
Caiyun (Note 4)

ERRREE ()
YMCI (Note 4)

Crown Investments Limited
(TCrown Investments ) (Fi55)
Crown Investments Limited
("Crown Investments") (Note 5)

Metro Holdings Limited ([Metro ) (Fff3£5)
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro”) (Note 5)

ONG Jenn %24 (Hizt6)
Mr ONG Jenn (Note 6)

ONG Sek Hian %54 (Fit3E6)
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Note 6)

BEXA
KaRH EERRE TRRES BERAR HERTRS
#A #A %A HERGEE HENED
Total number
of Shares and Approximate
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of underlying percentage of
Capacity Shares held options held PCSs held Shares held issued Shares
(FitzE1)
(Note 1)
(a) (a)+(b)+(0) (%)
(&) % (L)
(Shares) (Shares) Shares (L)
EREAA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %13 (1) 37.81
Beneficial owner 534,146,300 Shares (L)
SHEEES 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 &5 (L) 37.81
Interest in a controlled corporation 534,146,300 Shares (L)
FRZEA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %13 (1) 37.81
Trustee of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
EER 422,825,200 1,400,000 116,552,800 540,778,000 &5 (L) 38.28
Interest of spouse 540,778,000 Shares (L)
ERERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 1RRE A (L) 2838
Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
R EER 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 &Mt (L) 28.38
Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
REEEER 227,970,810 - - 2279708108EH () 16.14
Interest in a controlled corporation 227,970,810 Shares (L)
REEERA 228,390,110 - - 228390,110 K% (1) 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
SEERER 228,390,110 - - 228,390, 110f8%% () 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
REEERA 229,378,110 - - 229,378, 110MRBE A (1) 16.24

Interest in a controlled corporation

229,378,110 Shares (L)
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The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YMCI. Accordingly,
YMCI is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

227,970,810 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro is 34.43% controlled by Mr ONG Jenn and 34.43% controlled by Mr ONG Sek
Hian. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.
Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300
Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In addition, Mr ONG
Sek Hian beneficially owned 988,000 Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short

positi

ons in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in

the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG” in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@) the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (ii) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;
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Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2019.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. Information about these scheme is set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there are no material events
affecting the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this report.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2020
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 130 to 284, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 155.

BRBETEHE
The Key Audit Matter
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group held a
portfolio of investment properties located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong with a fair
value of HK$6,298 million which, in aggregate,
accounted for 25% of the Group’s total assets.
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These investment properties principally
comprise residential, retail and office premises.
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The fair values of the investment properties as
at 31 December 2019 were assessed by the
directors based on independent valuations
prepared by a firm of qualified external
property valuers.
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The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.
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We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of
the inherent risks involved in estimating the
values of the properties, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances and
the various property market cooling measures
implemented by local governments in various
cities across Mainland China.

BAMESNAEREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB EREYENGEETNETIEFREATRIEA -
Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included
the following:
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obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
property valuers engaged by management and on which the directors’
assessment of the fair values of investment properties was based;

NS G EMARFEEDEFTENERE
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assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications, experience and
expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity
and independence;
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with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuers their valuation methodology and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;
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evaluating the external property valuers’ valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

A ESERMNYEHEMBEHNEEER (BEEAE
HeRHHEE) EEBEHNREBRXHELER -
comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and
occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuers
with underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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Valuation of receivables from the third parties without specified dates of settlement
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Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 152.

BRBEIT SR
The Key Audit Matter
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had
certain receivables from the third parties
without specified dates of settlement of
HK$1,302 million, which were classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In 2019,
the Group recognised relevant fair value
loss of HK$418 million regarding the above
receivables.
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These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.
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We identified the valuation of receivables from
the third parties without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.

BN ESNAEREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
parties without specified dates of settlement included the following:
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obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management; or
obtaining and inspecting the external valuation report for the valuation
prepared by external valuer engaged by management and on which the
directors’ assessment of the fair value was based;
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assessing the external valuer’s qualifications, experience and expertise
in the financial asset being valued and considering its objectivity and
independence;
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with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;
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evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the respective
debtors used in the valuation model which include obtaining legal opinion
in respect of the unresolved matters and reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

2ERITERENRE - T BEEERGEMBRRREEM
FRANEERABBRRENRER BT -

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFEGEBTIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WA Revenue 4 719,246 619,712
BEEKRE Direct costs (291,238) (279,768)
EF Gross profit 428,008 339,944
REWMERDBRRE Valuation gains on investment properties

HEMREMER and investment properties classified as

ERELE held for sale 12 197,409 292,344
E A Other revenue 5 153,819 710,087
Hih (&) /a5 Other net (loss)/income 6 (380,640) 256,948
HEREIHAZ Selling and marketing expenses (51,619) (30,373)
ITE RS Administrative expenses (421,149) (320,462)
Z 5N E MR TERE Impairment loss on trade and other

&8 receivables 31(a) (28,462) (104,078)
RIEFERIZHSERKAF 2 Loss arising from the derecognition of

SRMEEEENEBE financial assets measured at amortised

cost - (116,529)

REEBEEN (Loss)/profit from operations

(BR) &BF (102,634) 1,027,881
& R A Finance costs 7(a) (323,353) (533,574)
DR QR EE Share of losses of associates 15 (2,621) (76,317)
DMEEEREEIE Share of losses of joint ventures 16 (15,781) (7,839)
BRELAT (B518) &R (Loss)/profit before taxation 7 (444,389) 410,151
PRI BRI X Income tax 8(a) (85,539) (282,352)
FE(BR) BT (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799
T AT Attributable to:
PA/NIE ol Equity shareholders of the Company (582,939) 102,610
FEIE IR = Non-controlling interests 53,011 25,189
FE (BB B (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799
SR (BE) "B GET) (Loss)/earnings per share (HKS)
HAK Basic 11 (0.38) 0.07
e Diluted 11 (0.38) 0.02

Mz : RRBER=T-—NE-—A—
EMFRAEEMEREERF 165 - RIFUT

AERAEISFTRB Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

% EBERTTFEY - BHE2) - See Note 2(c).

F138E 284 B WM s A Ak 7% & B S 3Rk — P
5 o FE AR BIAE 25 A B Ko AT Ak A R AR 7] 2
RFES ([KATERRESR])FEARBNFES

I RE30(b) ©

Note 30(b).

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

The notes on pages 138 to 284 form part of these financial statements. Details
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
bonus perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs”) are set out in
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SeBEsERkHEMEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BEZ-NF+-A=+—HLEFEGETIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

EE(FR) BF (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799
FEHMZEKE Other comprehensive income
(RBIREH D EAER) for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)
A& A fE B DM E B Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
HIEE - profit or loss:
BREEH =% : Exchange differences on translation of:
— RN B A R B S sk — financial statements of foreign subsidiaries (236,178) (530,189)
—HEMBARBEHDPEEIEZ - reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal
of subsidiaries (6) (2,450)
(236,184) (532,639)
DIEEE AR REERE Share of other comprehensive income of
K Efb 2 associates and joint ventures (6,851) (48,071)
e eeeeeeiieiiiieiiiiieeeeee . 283035) (580.710)
FEZHEWZHAEE Total comprehensive income for the year (772,963) (452,911)
BT AL Attributable to:
AAERERRR Equity shareholders of the Company (815,551) (470,179)
PR AE Non-controlling interests 42,588 17,268
FEZHEWZHAEE Total comprehensive income for the year (772,963) (452,911)

Mzt : ARBER -_Z—NF—A-BRALETEN
ENTEAEBHBIREARIE 165 - REUT
EHRERADTTEY - RHiE20 -

N

)

See Note 2(c).

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

F138E 284 B HIMI s 4Bk 2 F B 5k —3F  The notes on pages 138 to 284 form part of these financial statements.
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZT—-AE+ZA=+—8 CAETIIR)
At 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ERBEE Non-current assets
wEYE Investment properties 12 6,297,551 5,704,379
HEE - BEKEE Other property, plant and equipment 12 199,049 154,094
6,496,600 5,858,473
mEEE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
[EES Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
AL RN = O Interest in associates 15 8,739 11,558
REERENRER Interest in joint ventures 16 423,597 479,290
HEMemEE Other financial assets 17 1,338,322 1,487,235
H b fE U SR IA Other receivables 19 210,027 -
ELERAEEE Deferred tax assets 8(d) 75,212 224,170
8,597,002 8,105,231
REEE Current assets
GFEREAME DA Inventories and other contract costs 18 9,921,176 10,040,990
EMemEE Other financial assets 17 130,470 341,497
H 5 N H M YR IE Trade and other receivables 19 1,553,629 1,849,598
B H I8 Prepaid tax 8(c) 20,891 23,171
ZR R EARER Restricted and pledged deposits 20 2,612,642 2,565,681
RERREFEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 2,115,129 5,488,739
16,353,937 20,309,676
DEAFELENRE Investment properties classified as
ES held for sale 64,683 104,539
16,418,620 20,414,215
REBEE Current liabilities
B 5 N E A EN I Trade and other payables 22 3,646,717 4,117,258
EHEE Contract liabilities 23 58,577 155,479
HITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 24 3,947,660 3,322,635
HEARE Lease liabilities 25 31,604 -
AR ES Convertible bonds 26 = 1,461,691
JERHES Bonds payable 27 500,355 783,150
FETRRIE Tax payable 8(c) 716,509 1,516,734
BE Provision 28 - 24,408
8,901,422 11,381,355
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e MBI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZT-NE+ZA=+—8 GAETIIR)
At 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REBEEFE Net current assets 7,517,198 9,032,860
BWEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 16,114,200 17,138,091
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 24 5,119,614 5,403,679
HERE Lease liabilities 25 48,613 -
TRIEFRIE B (E Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,105,800 1,023,450
BiE Provision 28 = 14,906
___________________________________________________________________________ 6,274,027 6,442,035
EEFE NET ASSETS 9,840,173 10,696,056
B R #E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
& A Share capital 30(c) 141,273 138,558
& Reserves 9,542,968 10,443,721
ARQE) SR RENS Total equity attributable to equity
A shareholders of the Company 9,684,241 10,582,279
FERER Non-controlling interests 155,932 113,777
ERBE TOTAL EQUITY 9,840,173 10,696,056

FEeN T -_TF=-A=+—HHLENE®E  Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2020.
Fz -

HERE MER
Wong Chun Hong Lam Mei Ka Shirley
£ BE
Director Director

iz : AARER=-_ZE—NE—A—BEBAKEBITER Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

EZEAEBVEREERFE 165 c RIRLLF retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
BB FTEY - B2 - See Note 2(c).

N

-

F138E 284 B HIMI s 4Bk 2 F B 5k —3F  The notes on pages 138 to 284 form part of these financial statements.
5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFEGEBTIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to equity shareholders o the Company

G
Efh icEE EbER  REEN
Reserve

arising from PRC Non-

Share issuanceof  Capitll  Exchange  statutory Other ~ Retaned controling
premium PCSs Tesenve TeSeIe  TBSeIVeS Teserve profis Interests
i n r n n n i i
§000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §/000 §000

HZB-NE-F-ANER  Balance at 1 January 208 138344 1943603 W5 AT 38683 4180 1430 Q042674 1453150 164099 11617249

“E-\EERRE. Changes in equity for 2018;

ERRA Prfifor the year - - - - - - - eI 00 508 12779
2Ehs Other comprehensive income - - - - 58 - - - T8 19 (580710)
FHdaeE Tote comprefiensie income - - - - 8 - - Ael0 @09 1768 ds2911)
BEENAREEHRENDF bsuance of new shares under Pre-PO
BERERESZLAHRR  and PostIPO Share Option Schemes  30(c)) M4 765 - B - - - A F Y
REEENRAAZRORS  Fouitysetled share-based transactions - - - 98 - - - - 98 - 918
BRAERERZBRG  Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (898) - - - 898 - - -
FERERTA Capita injecion by non-contrling
nterest - - - - - - (174 R (VAT R V)] 19,031
EREnETTRE Transfer to PRC statutory resrves 30l - - - - -0 -0 - - -
HENBAA Disposal ofsubsidaries - - - - - - - - - {678 (46T8)
FERHENRE Dividend approved nrespect of the
Drevious year 300) - - - - - - - 97573 B9TSTY (%6975 (454,548)

WZB-NEtZB=t-B  Balanceat 31 December 2018
i3 138558 1,951,259 14355 78501 (811472) 481649 (9711) 8739140 10582219 113777 10,696,056
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mEERBEX
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-Z-NEFE+-A=+—HILFE GUBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

KAARERFEL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

L 00
TERE% Gl
B BHRE EfhER E5EE EXRE iRRE  AMRE  REEA 8% FiRER
Reserve
arising from PRC Non-
Share Share issuanceof  Capital  Exchange statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium PCSs  reseve  reserve  reserves  reseve  profits Total interests  equity
iFA n n n tn n i i r n n n
Note §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000

WoF-ME-A-RANER  Balance at1January 2019
(Hit) (Note) 138,558 1951259 14,355 78501 (811472) 481,649 (0711) 8739140 10582279 113,777 10,696,056

“E-0FRESE: Changes in equity for 2019:

FE(BR)/2A (losprofit for the year - - - - - - - (B9 (%Y B0 (299)
Eh2EsE Other comprehensive income - - - - (360 - - - (361) (10423 (43039)
2ANREE Totel comprehensive income - - - - (361 - - (82939 (B15551) 42588 (772.963)
BEERDREEHRERAR Isuance ofnew shares under Pre-PO
BERRRRTEEANRE  and PostpO Share Option Schemes 300 15 896 - (632) s s - - m - m
REBARTAREFEETH bsuance of new shares upon conversion
ol of PCSs 300 2700 - o) - - - - - - - -
REEEMRARERORS  Equity seted share-based transactons - - - - - - - -
BRKERERZERG  Shareoptions and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (20 - - - 2078 - - -
R-ZHERERIE Acquisiton of additonal ntrestin 3
HELaENER subsidiary from a non-controling
Interest 14(i) - - - - - - (31103 - (31103 (#33)  (37.530)
R-ZHERERLE Proceeds from disposal of nterests
HBATEEONENE  insubsidries to anon-contrling
Interest 14i) - - - - - - 43535 - 43535 =BS5S
EREAEERRE Transferto PRC statutor reseres 300 = - 5 2 -4 - s s s
LEBRENRS Diidend approved n espect o te
_____ peious e ) - - - - - - - s - )
WZE-AETZAZT-R  Balanceat31 December 2019
e M3 19815 1655 T30 (10M408) 486413 (B19) 06178 94 155932 9840173

Mz : ARRER-ZT—NE—A—BEKMBEEREY  Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

ENSERERBMBREALE 165 - RIFULH retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
% EBRERTNTFEY - R E20) - See Note 2(c).

N

-

F138E 284 B MM sH 4R X S B T5 3R — 28 The notes on pages 138 to 284 form part of these financial statements.
5o
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BRGEHETRER
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFEGEBTIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REER Operating activities
KEREIRFE ARG Cash used in operations 21(b) (628,962) (2,419,106)
BARHIE Tax paid:
— BRI — PRC tax paid (615,539) (794,262)
REXEFAEABESFEE  Net cash used in operating activities (1,244,501) (3,213,368)
REFTE Investing activities
ME=HREER Loans to the third parties (485,016) (233,361)
BEMFE=TIREMEF  Repayment of loans to the third parties 434,028 120,718
BEREMERMNK Payment for purchase of wealth
management products (5,056,417) (3,530,041)
HERIPERMATSFHIE  Proceeds from disposal of wealth
management products 5,041,372 3,528,859
BEAMEMEENK Payment for purchase of other financial
assets (115,589) (117,085)
BF A Interest received 215,412 169,310
B IR B Wz Investment income received 8,710 5,793
HEEMEREER Proceeds from disposal of other financial
Fri8 A assets 52,485 -
mMeEBErETE Capital contribution to joint ventures (6,305) (11,385)
MEBETERHNER Loans to joint ventures (35,412) -
BERM—RAEDEREM  Repayment of loans to a joint venture
BE R 45,191 -
BEME BEK Payment for purchase of property,
BXCINE:N plant and equipment (6,905) (14,695)
HEDHEABIEREMIRE Deposits received from sale of investment
YIS FTIEIE € properties classified as held for sale 18,295 3,164
HEMNBARMEES Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposals
Gt/ mAFE of subsidiaries 21(e) (1,265) 1,574,585
mUEEEEEHENE QR Proceeds from net repayment of advances
BFCFEM TS RIE to disposed subsidiaries by the acquirer - 3,351,113
WEMBARMEES Net cash outflow from acquisitions of
piigabeE-t subsidiaries = (571,073)
EETBTIRE A Repayment of pre-paid investment cost = 569,282
BE A VNCEIE-F A Advances to associates = (367,473)
B R R R A Repayment from non-controlling interests = 112,100
PRI R EA R Advances to a non-controlling interest = (17,077)
HA Others 858 991
REFTEFELEBESFHE  Net cash generated from investing
activities 109,442 4,573,725
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FE%EE?IE“ IE%/)ILE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BEZ-NF+-A=+—HLEFEGETIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MEEE Financing activities
BRI REMEER Proceeds from new bank and other
Fr5 5878 borrowings 21(c) 3,481,563 5,713,356
BITEHFTS A Proceeds from issuance of bonds 21(0) 506,270 783,150
EERTREMEE Repayment of bank and other borrowings 21(c) (3,051,426) (3,121,394)
EERRES Repayment of convertible bonds 21(c) (1,255,932) -
EEREMNES Repayment of bonds payable 21(0) (778,877) (1,175,505)
EEENER Repayment of note payable = (1,211,602)
BNHEERES Z2EARED  Capital element of lease rentals paid 21(0) (38,127) -
BNHEERES ZHFEED  Interest element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (5,237) -
IR IR TR AR Advance from non-controlling interests 21(c) 93,402 -
B8 FE R E = 5N IA Repayment to a non-controlling interest 21(c) (140,502) -
B 1R TF FE N Increase in pledged deposits (129,393) (361,870)
BNFBEREMEERA  Interest and other borrowing costs paid 21(0) (823,801) (474,362)
R EITRIS A Proceeds from issuance of new shares 280 4,859
HEH B R RS EIEER  Proceeds from disposal of interests in
RS Q\IE subsidiaries to a non-controlling interest 43,535 19,031
M) I PR AR 3R Distribution to non-controlling shareholders = (56,975)
[RENEAVNSIE Hx%&ikﬁ Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the
AR ESFEEARE Company and holders of PCSs 30(b) (91,757) (397,573)
BEFEFFEIABESFEE  Net cash used in financing activities (2,190,002) (278,885)
ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ B Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
W), R EE equivalents (3.325,061) 1,081,472
R—A—BWEEK Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
HE&ZEEEE 21(@a) 5,488,739 4,599,697
ExganNssg Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (48,549) (192,430)
M+=ZB=+—HMEE  Cash and cash equivalents
kRASLEHEER at 31 December 21(a) 2,115,129 5,488,739
st : ARRIER=ZT—NFE—A—BIRMALIERTEY  Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
EVFERAEBTBEREERFE 165 - RIFULT retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
% EBERTTEY - B2 - See Note 2(c).

N

-

F138E 284 B MM EAAX Z S &K — 58 The notes on pages 138 to 284 form part of these financial statements.
5 o
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r e B A AR MY R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

—REFR

REBEBREEERAR ([R27]) RE
HEHEAREERE (—AR—F&
Pl= BREARETN R _FFTNLFENA
“ThAREHREMRESEMKR LSRR
BREERA - ARAROR -F——
FZAT=A(LwEBD EFEH
ABRSMBER AR ([BRA]) ERET -

AR Z2REREZR  MEMNBER
AEERPEARANMR (THE]) S
MEER  MERE  WEEIENERBR
BARHE BRI E -

FEEFEE

(@) EHREHR
ZERBRREEBRELE SR
2 ((BBEHAIE)) ROENME
HEREBMBERELEA(EBUK
BEXEM])  BEABEERENE
BUBREER  BEEEAEN(E
BERERAD KRE FEARE
TR AR EE R B GRBIN K FE R E
R ZEWBRRTTEE LR
BRBMABERARER EHHRA (L
WRAD NEREEGRN - ANEE
PR EZ @ BRREINWT -

BRGNS B/ME THT &
RENBEVBHRSER IRA
SERARBNASFTHEERE
M A IR R - M2 IR E B
EBRREERERAZESERE
HEMEFNEN BESZFE
BHETASEASTHRALENE
AR UNZEPBHRRDE2R -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FEEHEE®
(b) BBRMEMNMRESE
BRE-T-AS+-A=+-AL
FENBAMBRROELDAR
U POICTIESS e
WA AT RA O ROES -

REMTGRERFMAGFEEERES
BRARE HATEERBRNATX
WETBRRMEENLNE QAR EBED
BE :

- BREDF BREBEREDE
WEETHREFTHELD
SEREMERSNEMASE
A (2B EE23) -

- HpEBREERERAER (2
BIMIEE2(9) © &

— PTESBT A (ZRME20) -

BEHEERDEERERERR
AEEREERANEEET R (2
BB 5% 2(bb)) ©

RBBEEVBRSENRRY R
REREEEFHHE - B ER
R MEHE B RBRETE
BREMBLMEBMNEE  BAE -
WA RS H &5 o bt F At R AR
SRABEKRMEARBERTR
REENZHRAMBRZASER M
PS4 R A (E i B BT A AL
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates
and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

—  other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g));
and

- derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(h)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(bb)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and a
number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related interpretations,
HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a
lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives, and HK(SIC) 27,
Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of
a lease. It introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which
requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
for all leases, except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The
lessor accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 January 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach
and there is no impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 January
2019. Comparative information has not been restated and continues
to be reported under HKAS 17.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

a.  New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset for a
period of time, which may be determined by a defined amount
of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16
only to contracts that were entered into or changed on or after
1 January 2019. For contracts entered into before 1 January
2019, the Group has used the transitional practical expedient
to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue
to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service arrangements continue
to be accounted for as executory contracts.

b.  Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is required
to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee, including leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
which are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned, these
newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to property,
plant and equipment as disclosed in Note 32(b). For an
explanation of how the Group applies lessee accounting, see
Note 2(m)(i).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

b.  FEHEANGEHBEEFERBER b.  Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)
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At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019), the
Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms and
measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified
as operating leases at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the relevant incremental
borrowing rates at 1 January 2019. The weighted average of
the incremental borrowing rates used for determination of the
present value of the remaining lease payments was 5.37%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements of
HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets to leases for which the remaining
lease term ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends
on or before 31 December 2019;

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar
remaining lease term for a similar class of underlying asset
in a similar economic environment); and

(i) when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied on the
previous assessment for onerous contract provisions as
at 31 December 2018 as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments
as disclosed in Note 32(b) as at 31 December 2018 to the
opening balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January
2019:

===l
—HA—H
1 January

2019
T
$'000

Operating lease commitments

at 31 December 2018 105,776

Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from

capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases with
remaining lease term ending on or
before 31 December 2019

e (3,367)
102,409
B ARRF B R Less: total future interest expenses (25,491)
FrHENRWRE £A Present value of remaining lease payments,
R=ZB-hF—A—HH discounted using the incremental borrowing
HEEEFRYR rate at 1 January 2019 76,918

EERELANDBE/EEHN
MeHERBZERREE -
HEeBERRRHBHEEAERE
R YERR_F—NF
TZA=T—AMBIRRKE
REZHEBR Z EAFENK
FERT S 5% R B %2 B 4R R
BEAE -

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified
as operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal
to the amount recognised for the remaining lease liabilities,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to that lease and the provision related to
leaseback arrangement recognised in the statement of financial
position at 31 December 2018.
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2 FESTHTHE® 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() EtBUEREE (&) () Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
EBMKERELERFE 165 HE (F) HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
b. AN SIEIETERBES b.  Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)
(&)
T 2R BE AR AN B S R E
RIS 16 9% ¥ AN &R B4R & B 5 41K
MERFE

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position:

i
ZB-N\E i

+=5
=t-8
WA

Carrying
amount at
31 December
2018

T

$'000

KeHE
BRNERL

Capitalisation
of operating
lease
contracts
T

$'000

ERREE
NEREERE
Adjustment

to the carrying
amount of
right-of-use
assets

T

$'000

“E-RE
—H—H
MEEE

Carrying
amount at
1 January
2019

T

$'000

RFEMNEBBB®RE  Line items in the consolidated

EBE16EMZYE  statement of financial position

ZEAHEMRRED  impacted by the adoption of

fIER : HKFRS 16:
Hip¥% BEREME  Other property, plant and equipment 154,094 76,918 (39,314) 191,698
FRBEELE Total non-current assets 8,105,231 76,918 (39,314) 8,142,835
HEARB(RE) Lease liabilities (current) - 19,609 - 19,609
BE(GRe) Provision (current) 24,408 - (24,408) -
REAE Current liabilities 11,381,355 19,609 (24,408) 11,376,556
REBEEFE Net current assets 9,032,860 (19,609) 24,408 9,037,659
LBEABERARHER  Total assets less current liabilities 17,138,091 57,309 (14,906) 17,180,494
HEBBEGERS) Lease liabilities (non-current) - 57,309 - 57,309
B GERE) Provision (non-current) 14,906 - (14,906) -
kRBEELE Total non-current liabilities 6,442,035 57,309 (14,906) 6,484,438
EERE Net assets 10,696,056 - - 10,696,056
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

C,

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash flows
of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required
to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-
of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. This results in a positive impact on
the reported profit from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss, as compared to the results if HKAS
17 had been applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is required
to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their capital
element and interest element (see Note 21(d)). These elements
are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how leases
previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17 were
treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the
case for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash
flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore
results in a significant change in presentation of cash flows
within the cash flow statement (see Note 21(d)).

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s financial
result, segment results and cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2019, by adjusting the amounts reported under
HKFRS 16 in these consolidated financial statements to
compute estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would
have been recognised under HKAS 17 if this superseded
standard had continued to apply in 2019 instead of HKFRS 16,
and by comparing these hypothetical amounts for 2019 with
the actual 2018 corresponding amounts which were prepared
under HKAS 17.
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2 FESTHEHE® 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
() EtBUEREE (&) () Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
EBMKERELERFE 165 HE (F) HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
¢ HAEEYBRE SHEE ¢ Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash flows
RIEz B ZE (&) of the Group (Continued)

“E-nf
2019
e
REE®e
m: ERIE1% REEAe
ERNERE figiaR RRZE7E
REFEHH EHZ16% feng ik
REEZ16% THIER fites “E-NE
fiegneE HEm (&t 1) BReE
Deduct;

Estimated

amounts

Add back: related to Compared to
HKFRS 16 operating Hypothetical amounts
Amounts depreciation lease as if amounts for reported for
reported under andinterest  under HKAS 17 2019 as if 2018 under
HKFRS 16 expense (Note1)  under HKAS 17 HKAS 17

(A) (B) (0] (D=A+B+()
T T T T T
§1000 §000 $1000 §1000 $'000

SRABERMEREENE6  Financial result for year ended
RYEBEF-AETZH  31December 2019 impacted
ST-ALEERGHESE: by the adoption of HKFRS 16:

BELBELN(BE) /B (Loss)profit from operations (102,634) 25,347 (26,385) (103,672) 1,027,881
BERK Finance costs (323,353) 5237 = (318,116) (533,574)
B (EB) /B (Loss)/profit before taxation (444,389) 30,584 (26,385) (40,190) 410,151
G (EE) /BH {Loss)profit for the period (529,928) 30,584 (26,385) (525,729) 127,799

SR EHBREENE6  Reportable segment (loss)/profit
FYEBE-E-NE1Z  (adjusted EBITDA) for the year
B=T-RILEENERE  ended 31 December 2019
AH(BE) /ABEEE  (Note 4(b) impacted by the

EBITDA) (K&t 4(0)) : adoption of HKFRS 16:
R ~ Property development (126,863) - (13,444) (140,307) (87,114)
-WERE ~ Property investment 187,639 - (1713) 185,926 156,205

~HERERS - Education related services 2574 - (2,93) (360) 1,145
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash flows
of the Group (Continued)

ZB-NF
2019
REEHEES
BEE1TH REFEET
FELEH EHE1TH
RESEHE RERE g
BEREAZ165 HEA: ZB-NF
FrEgmes (WaE1R2) BReE
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts leases as if amounts for amounts
reported under  under HKAS 17 2019 as if reported under
HKFRS 16 (Notes 1&2) under HKAS 17 HKAS 17
(A) (B) (0]
i i i T
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
REMEBEHREER  Line items in the condensed
E6RMEYEEE consolidated cash flow statement
ZE-NE+ZR for year ended 31 December 2019
S+-ALEEZHEH  impacted by the adoption of
GRRERERTHER . HKFRS 16:
BEEBMBARS Cash used in from operations (628,962) (43,364) (672,326) (2,419,106)
REFHFHARLSFE  Net cash used in operating activities (1,244,501) (43,364) (1,287,865) (3,213,368)
BNfEZERT S Capital element of lease rentals paid (38,127) 38,127 = -
BRiEeZHEHA Interest element of lease rentals paid (5,237) 5,237 = -
BETHFHAESFE  Net cash used in financing activities (2,190,002) 43,364 (2,146,638) (278,885)

M [AREEEERAERIA

Note 1: The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is an estimate

BEE2 -

W—B—NFNRAEEE
ST BRSO RA
KEHENEERBRER
SEM A - MREFR
Z-NFNREBEB G
ERIF 7% BRERB G
EAFI7HRT - HEEEY
WOoBRKERE Heh
RemBILETR o FfF@E
ERRT B WRHE -

EHFEXRF BERESR
RRMEEHEHHEELE
EE UETEMBE B g E
A7 MER 2 EEES
EEXNFHSERETHP
FERANFRENBRSE -

Note 2:

of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019 that relate to leases
which would have been classified as operating leases, if HKAS 17
had still applied in 2019. This estimate assumes that there were no
differences between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would have been classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019. Any
potential net tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified from
financing to operating in order to compute hypothetical amounts
of net cash generated from operating activities and net cash used in
financing activities as if HKAS 17 still applied.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

d.

Leasehold investment property

Under HKFRS 16, the Group is required to account for all
leasehold properties as investment properties when these
properties are held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation (“leasehold investment properties”). The
adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements as the Group previously
elected to apply HKAS 40, Investment properties, to account
for all of its leasehold properties that were held for investment
purposes as at 31 December 2018. Consequentially, these
leasehold investment properties continue to be carried at fair
value.

Lessor accounting

In addition to leasing out the investment property referred to in
paragraph d. above, the Group leases out a number of items of
leasehold land and buildings as the lessor of operating leases.
The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor
remain substantially unchanged from those under HKAS 17.

Under HKFRS 16, when the Group acts as an intermediate
lessor in a sublease arrangement, the Group is required to
classify the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
instead of by reference to the underlying asset. The adoption
of HKFRS 16 does not have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements in this regard.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
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Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

(e)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(bb)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(bb)). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(f) and (n)(iii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the year
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items
of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate
or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Goodwiill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 2(n)iii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 31(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

()

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(y)(vi)).

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Contingent considerations assumed in business
combinations

Any contingent consideration assumed in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(y)(v).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2(m)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted
for as described in Note 2(y)(ii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property interest
under an operating lease and used the property to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could elect on a
property-by-property basis to classify and account for such interest
as an investment property. Any such property interest which had
been classified as an investment property was accounted for as if
it were held under a finance lease (see Note 2(m)), and the same
accounting policies were applied to that interest as were applied
to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease
payments are accounted for as described in Note 2(m).

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

—  interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the

registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

- furniture, fixtures and other equipment (see Note 2(m)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note
2(aa)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
property revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified
to profit or loss.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment
(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of other property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the
costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see Note 2(aa)).
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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(i) EAHAEBEAGE) (i) As alessee (Continued)
A) B=F—NnF—H—HE (A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)
B AIBUR ()

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for
the following types of right-of-use asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with Note 2(i); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold
land where the interest in the land is held as
inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with Note 2(0).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in ‘other property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial position.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)
(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
were classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property was classified as investment property on
a property-by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, was accounted for as if held
under a finance lease (see Note 2(i)); and

- land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which could not be measured
separately from the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease, was accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building was also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the lease
was the time that the lease was first entered into by
the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

As a lessee (Continued)

(B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 (Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets were recognised
as property, plant and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were recorded as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation was
provided at rates which wrote off the cost or valuation
of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or,
where it was likely the Group would obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in Note 2(k).
Impairment losses were accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy as set out in Note 2(n). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments were charged
to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals were charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases were
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis was more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received were recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they were incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)
(ii) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not
the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(y)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including loans to joint ventures, which are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
and debt securities measured at FVPL and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rates where the effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(y)(vi) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised within
“trade and other payables” at fair value, which is determined
by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction
for similar services, when such information is obtainable, or
to interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates
charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable
to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the amount carried in “trade and other payables” in respect
of the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in
Note 2(n)(i) apply.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)
As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that
are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(0]

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

0]

Inventories (Continued)

Properties held for/under development for sale

The cost of properties held for/under development for
sale comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of interests in leasehold land, aggregate
cost of development, materials and supplies, wages
and other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see Note
2(aa)). Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price, based on prevailing market conditions, less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Completed properties for sale

The cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

In the case of completed properties developed by the
Group which comprise of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square metre
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs

173

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(o)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see note 2(j))

or intangible assets (see note 2(1)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs

of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or

intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services

that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note

2(y).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

(s)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(y)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
Note 2(q)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see Note 2(y)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(n)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except
for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with
note 2(n)(ii), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(aa)).

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which do not contain an equity component are
accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition the derivative component of the convertible
bonds is measured at fair value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments (see Note 2(h)). Any excess of proceeds over
the amount initially recognised as the derivative component is
recognised as the host liability component, including any gain or
loss arising from fair value measurement upon the issuance of the
convertible bonds (“initial gain or loss”). Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated to the host
liability and derivative components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
host liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured in accordance
with Note 2(h). The host liability component is subsequently carried
at amortised cost. Interest expense recognised in profit or loss on
the host liability component is calculated using the effective interest
method.

If the bonds are converted, the carrying amounts of the derivative
and liability components are transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued, except for the
unamortised initial gain or loss included in liability component
which is recognised in profit or loss. If the bonds are redeemed, any
difference between the amount paid and the carrying amounts of
both components is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(v) Employee benefits

(@

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

The employees of the Group participate in retirement plans
(defined contribution retirement plans) managed by respective
local governments of the municipalities in which the Group
operates in the PRC. The contribution to the retirement plan
is calculated based on fixed rates of the employees’ salaries
cost and charged to profit or loss as and when incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognised as an expense. The Group has
no other obligation for the payment of retirement and other
post-retirement benefits of staff other than the contributions
described above.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Share-based payments

The fair values of share options and awarded shares granted
to employees are recognised as employee costs with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using valuation techniques,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options and awarded shares were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
values of the options and awarded shares are spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and
awarded shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options and awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option/
awarded share is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option/awarded share expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Income tax (Continued)
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Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
or the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the
Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts

(@

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Onerous contracts

In the comparative period, an onerous contract related to
leaseback arrangement existed when the Group had a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceeded the economic benefits expected
to be received from the contract. Provision for the onerous
contract was measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the net cost of
continuing with the contract. By initial application of HKFRS 16,
the provision was an adjustment item to the carrying amount
of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019 (see Note 2(c)).

(y) Revenue and other income
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Revenue and other income (Continued)
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Where the contract contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12
months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of properties
Revenue arising from the sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when property is delivered to
customer in Mainland China, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the
property. Advanced payments received on properties and
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see Note

2(p)).

For contracts where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised property exceeds
one year, the transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is adjusted for the
effects of a financing component. If the advance payments
by the customer are regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property. This accrual increases the balance
of the contract liability during the period of construction,
and therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in
accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(aa).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.

Property management and related services income
Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income
Education related services income is recognised when services
are provided.

Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when
the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Translation of foreign currencies
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Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date
is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

(aa) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(bb) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group still retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for investment properties which are measured at
fair value), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The principal
exceptions to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group are concerned are investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i).

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(cc) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (cc)(a).

A person identified in (cc)(@)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(dd) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties
As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves, inter alia,
certain estimates including current market rents and market price for
similar properties in the same location, and condition, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates expected credit losses for trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers and
other debtors to make the required payments. The Group bases
the estimates on the aging of the trade and other receivable
balance, customer creditworthiness, historical write-off experience,
negotiation status and business relationship with the debtors. If
the financial condition of the customers and other debtors were to
deteriorate, actual provisions would be higher than estimated.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

LAT

As explained in Note 8(a), LAT is levied on properties developed
by the Group and investment properties held by the Group in the
PRC for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, which under the applicable regulations is
calculated based on the proceeds of sale of properties less deductible
expenditures including lease charges of land use right, borrowing
costs and all qualified property development expenditures. Given
the uncertainties of the calculation basis of LAT as interpreted by the
local tax bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than
those estimated at the end of each reporting period. Any increase
or decrease in actual outcomes/estimates would affect income
statement in the future years.

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties to
third parties whereby the directors consider that such arrangement is
not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group has decided to treat
those properties as investment properties because it is the Group'’s
intention to hold these properties in long-term for rental income
and/or capital appreciation.

Under HKAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the assets
in question. In this regard, HKAS 12 has a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair value
under HKAS 40, Investment property, will be recovered through sale.
This presumption is rebutted on a property-by-property basis if the
investment property in question is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment property
portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that as at 31
December 2019, the Group has determined that each of these
properties are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time and consequently the presumption
in HKAS 12 is rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group
has continued to measure the deferred tax relating to these
other properties using the tax rate that would apply as a result of
recovering their value through use.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(e) Determining the lease term

(f)

As explained in policy Note 2(m), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term. In determining the lease term at the commencement
date for leases that include renewal options exercisable by the
Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal
options taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances that
create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and
the importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.
The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event or
significant change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the amount
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.

Valuation of receivables from the third parties

As described in Note 17 and 31(f), receivables from the third parties
are measured at FVPL and classified as level 3 financial instruments
in the fair value hierarchy.

In determining the fair value of receivables from the third parties, the
Group has based on valuation models which require a number of
inputs and assumptions which are not observable from market data
and are significant to the entire measurement. Management has
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that valuation models are
reflective of the features of receivables from the third parties. Given
the uncertainties in determining the inputs used in the valuation
models, the estimated fair value may change at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in estimates would affect
income statement in the future years.



REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 WARDEHRE
(@) WA
WATEMEHERA - BEKA -
FRARREDEETE XEBREN
WA A B 1R 20 B 4B A AR 7% Bk R
R A (BB IEER R LA B
EMERELFOITM) -

BRAKEIZXBGNE—FHE
A B A 4(b) 32 3% -

(i) WAZDHF
BEPHNBARBEIEE
AR RSP

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

189

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income,
income from provision of property management and related services
and income from provision of education related services earned
during the year, net of value added tax and other sales related taxes

and discounts allowed.

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed

in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

ERMKMEEASE155  Revenue from contracts with
HEANNEEZFITAN customers within the scope
A of HKFRS 15
—WEHE — Sales of properties 162,348 97,782
—WEEE L ABRGSUWA - Property management and related
services income 237,217 231,024
—HE AR A — Education related services income 47,696 45,458
447,261 374,264
HAb SRR U A Revenue from other sources
REREMENHSBE Gross rentals from investment
properties
—EEHKBURRFIE R — Lease payments that are fixed
HERR or depend on a rate 255,846 229,964
—DEUAR IS B F E 1 — Variable lease payments that do not
AR E NS depend on an index or a rate 16,139 15,484
o eeiiieiiiiiieiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeo. .. N 271985 . 245,448
719,246 619,712

HOBRWEBRTIHEZTFFTL
B WA 73 3% 5 Bl 3 BE R M R
4(b)(i) Kz 4(b(iii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
divisions and by geographic markets is disclosed in Notes 4(b)(i)

and 4(b)(iii) respectively.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising

from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregated amount of
HK$54,650,000 (2018: HK$138,546,000) under the Group's
existing contracts expected to be recognised as revenue in the
future upon delivery of properties to customers. This amount
includes the interest component of properties sales contracts
under which the Group obtains significant financing benefits
from the customers (see Note 2(y)(i)). The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as the work is
completed or, in the case of the properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale, when the properties
are assigned to the customers, which is expected to occur over
the next 12 months (2018: over the next 12 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its property management and related
services and education related services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will recognise at the amount to which it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services)
and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments:

—  Property development: this segment develops and sells
residential and retail properties.

—  Property investment: this segment leases shopping arcades,
club houses, serviced apartments and car park units to
generate rental income and to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long term. Currently, the Group's
investment property portfolio is located entirely in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

—  Property management and related services: this segment
mainly provides property management and related services
to purchasers and tenants of the Group’s self-developed
residential and retail properties, and decoration services to
group companies.

—  Education related services: this segment mainly provides
education related services and products to students.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, non-
current and current assets with the exception of interests in
associates and joint ventures, other financial assets other than
receivables from the third parties, prepaid tax, deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
trade and other payables and lease liabilities attributable to the
operating activities of the individual segments and bank and
other borrowings managed directly by the segments.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenues generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items which are non-recurring
or not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
share of profits less losses of associates and joint ventures,
other revenue and net income, valuation change on investment
properties and investment properties classified as held for
sale, loss arising from the derecognition of financial assets
measured at amortised cost, impairment loss on trade and
other receivables and other head office or corporate expenses.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, interest income
and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
valuation changes on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale, loss arising from the
derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost,
impairment loss on trade and other receivables and additions
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to
prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is set out
below.
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4 WARDEBH®E @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 7WWEH () (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
() oHEE BERAEGSE) (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

NEEER 45
U NERE BERE REE
Property managementand  Education related
Property development Property investment related services services Total

= k3 Foog-aE BNE S3-E FOZR-NE R)E

019 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 019

(Note) Note) (Note)
n ] i n i i I i
§1000 §/000 §000 §/000 §/000 i §1000

RENREFHUA Revenue from external customers 162348 98 M b8 BT BI04 47,6% B8 U6 619712

AHRRA Inte-seqment revenue - 63,660 5976 80293 89,764 - 13953 145740
REHHUA Reportable segment revenue 162308 9778 IBES 044 IS0 3078 466 45458 8319 76545
FEAD(EE) /BA Reportable segment loss)profit

(2% EBITDA) (adjusted EBITDA) (126,863) (87114 187639 156,205 2,015 29034 2574 1,145 87,365 99270
FERNSHA Interestincome from bank deposts B4 620 984 1172 1275 3 - 1 5063 583
fERR Interest expense 288971) (49239 (31,035) (25,588) (2994 (15,042) (353) (552 (3233%3) (533574
fEREH Deprecation and amortiation (1560) (631 B8N B (1295 (130 (854) 8 @48 (0140
2R REMRIEN Impairment loss on trade and other

HEEE Teceivables (117) (90,506) (6,864) - (5,062) (1357 (580) - (1963)  (104078)

RIEBDEBAIAGE  Losarshg from the derecognifon
SHEEELNEE of fiancial assets measured at

amortised cost - (116529 - - - - - - - (116529
FEERRDAREABE Fairvalue loss on financil assets
SHEENDAEESE meastred at FVPL (#18.281)  (169,649) - - - - (19,507) - (437788)  (169,649)
RENERAERRELER Vauation gains on investment
REMENEENE properties and investment properties
Cassified as held for sale - - 197408 2934 - - - - 197409 293U
HEADEE Reportable segment assets 1713535 209406% 6240364 5712863 481,049 483647 153,59 28597 24010363 27,345,803
ENFEERIAUEE  Additonstononurent segment
assets during the year 857 584 oM 04 2117 1674 1M & 605% 32249
RERBEE Reportable segment liablities (11791688) (13707368 (954201) (070,705 (200833) Q97787 (59207) (59303 (13,096,109) (15,035,163
i AEBEERALEETBBEN Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
FRRABBTBERELERE 16 retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
R BRI T A HEERT information is not restated. See Note 2(c).

FE - BHfEE20
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4 WARDEBEHE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 7 EPHRE (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(i) REI>BYWA B BER (i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
EENHER loss, assets and liabilities
—E—)\F
2018
)
(Note)
T
$'000
KA Revenue
WwE DA Reportable segment revenue 863,199 765,452
53 B A A 55 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (143,953) (145,740)
REWA (M3 4) Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 719,246 619,712
(B8]) &R (Loss)/profit
REAEBEINREFHIHS  Reportable segment profit derived
B EF from Group’s external customers 87,365 99,270
DA E R RETE Share of losses of associates (2,621) (76,317)
DEEEREEIE Share of losses of joint ventures (15,781) (7,839)
EAab U A R M= H R Other revenue and net income (226,821) 967,035
B 5 NhEMERFKERNRME  Impairment loss on trade and other
&8 receivables (28,462) (104,078)
BRIEERIZE H AT 2 Loss arising from the derecognition
SHEEEENER of financial assets measured at
amortised cost - (116,529)
& Kk 5 Depreciation and amortisation (38,447) (12,563)
ELE I Finance costs (323,353) (533,574)

WEMERDERFELRE  Valuation gains on investment
K% B W E B E W= properties and investment

properties classified as held for sale 197,409 292,344
ROBAEEREHEFZ Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses (93,678) (97,598)

GAEBRTER (BE) /&BF  Consolidated (loss)/profit before
taxation (444,389) 410,151
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4 WARDEBHEE @ 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 7 &B¥EH (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(i) REI>BUWA B BER (i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
EENYERE) loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

EE Assets
WmEDEHEE Reportable segment assets 24,010,363 27,345,803
REEE D T AR Interest in associates 8,739 11,558
REERENRER Interest in joint ventures 423,597 479,290
EthemEE Other financial assets 301,849 188,768
TEfIH I8 Prepaid tax 20,891 23,171
FIEFTHE E Deferred tax assets 75,212 224,170
RORBERDEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate assets 174,971 246,686
REBEE Consolidated total assets 25,015,622 28,519,446
=R Liabilities
wmENEEE Reportable segment liabilities (13,096,109) (15,035,163)
FEfS A 18 Tax payable (716,509) (1,516,734)
RIEHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (1,105,800) (1,023,450)
AOBBIRPEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate liabilities (257,031) (248,043)
LAEBAaR Consolidated total liabilities (15,175,449) (17,823,390)

M - AREERALETENET Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
FRBEBSMEHRELERE 16 retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
SR BRI T E  LEBERT information is not restated. See Note 2(c).

FE - RHFFE20 °



196 FEEBREEARAF _T-AFR

REMBHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 WARDEHE @
(b) »EHE (&)
(iii) HEEH
T 2= #0514 78 () 7 £ [ 2k | 41
=B M AR (i) 2 4 E A
BEYE HwE BER
BE BAE  BHERA
BAT AR RMEN B
W = 75 208 R L At B M R 0E
(e EERBEE]) 2032 A7
BEK - REMMIBAIE
BRI A EYRLE
RS AR B E T
RIEEAEREHE MMARE
MR E D B R E) -
RSEA (WAEREE &
B HMIERBERZE) &
CERE (B RE LA TR
ABDEAER) BB o

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iii) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (ii) the Group’s investment properties, other
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill
and interests in associates, joint ventures, receivables from the
third parties and other receivables (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment, the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets, goodwill and other
non-current receivables, and the location of operations, in the
case of interests in associates and joint ventures.

REMBEFHIBA EEERBEE
Revenue from external customers  Specified non-current assets
“Z-NF —E-N\F “E-hEF —TN\F
2019 2018 2019 2018
(FifzE)
(Note)
Tr T Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000
RN (FEi) Mainland China (place of domicile) 664,369 567,083 7,532,118 6,882,137
i Hong Kong 54,877 52,629 448,146 401,581
BN Australia - - 355,233 409,714
719,246 619,712 8,335,497 7,693,432

Mz ARBERRALEIENEY
HRBEBUBMEERF 16
5% o RIBUL A - LLREKT
FTE - BHfFE20) -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See Note 2(c).
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5 HlgA

5 OTHER REVENUE

RITH B A Bank interest income 56,083 62,263
E A F B A Other interest income 55,206 603,411
REEAATTESREEMNFE  Interest income on financial assets
A measured at amortised cost 111,289 665,674
RECEHE(EEEWEBRBE  Rental income from operating leases,
BN S M A other than those relating to investment
properties 30,403 36,558
REEERBUEA Construction management service income 1,208 3,241
A AR A WA Other service income 3,341 2,093
HA Others 7,578 2,521
153,819 710,087

6 Hith(BE) WEFE

HEMB QR K F5R

6 OTHER NET (LOSS)/INCOME

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(Mt3E21(e) (Note 21(e)) 565 20,030
EBRBEREAAEBEARMNZ Fair value loss on financial assets
SHMEENRIABEER measured at FVPL (390,904) (179,304)
P 5 Wy 205 58 Net exchange gain 8,287 5,963
HEDHEABIEHENREYE  Net gain/loss) on sale of investment
Wk (18) F8 properties classified as held for sale 1,611 (450)
HEME  BERZEORE Net gain on disposal of property,
HER plant and equipment 487 730
BB TR ESELENEIE  Amortisation of loss arising from the
(f¥3x26) issuance of convertible bonds (Note 26) (1,858) (62,898)
WA R ESR SRR Fair value change on conversion option
NABEEEZE (fiE26) embedded in convertible bonds
(Note 26) - 243,220
REFEIZRE AR ERA Compensation income for return
of prepaid investment cost - 229,657
Hit Others 1,172 -
(380,640) 256,948
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7 BRBIAIERE(BRF) 7 LOSS/(PROFIT) BEFORE TAXATION
BREATEE(BF) R, GEA) K Loss/(profit) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

TRIARIIK

—T-N\F
PAONES]
(MIEE ()
(Note (i)
Tt
$'000
(a) ME A& (a) Finance costs
RITRHEMEERE Interest on bank and other borrowings 568,841 349,779
HEHGER L (MFE210) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 21(c)) 5,237 -
FE A 343 AR AR SR SR IB A IS Interest on amounts due to
non-controlling interests 1,976 14,697
AR EHF B (M5 26) Interest on convertible bonds (Note 26) 7,610 169,671
ERHEHRHF B Interest on bonds payable 68,054 81,272
FEREROT L Interest on note payable = 62,185
HEfEERAR Other borrowing costs 9,849 23,622
661,567 701,226
EHNBBEERBEITHHOERT Accrued interest on significant
A financing component of contract
liabilities 6,961 1,038
668,528 702,264
BRI B (M EE Gi) Less: Amount capitalised (Note (i) (345,175) (168,690)
323,353 533,574

B o Notes:

() AEBERAKETEBHEVZERER () The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
S HmEERE 165 - RIFUL 50K EE approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
BRRTES - RMFE20 - Note 2(c).

(i) REBEE-Z—HAE+-_A=+—HIEE" (i) The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 2.79% to 16.6%
EBEERAEZRN F2.79% £ 16.6% &9 F F (2018: 1.56% to 16.6%) per annum for the year ended 31 December 2019.

R(ZZT—\F : 1.56% £ 16.6%) BRI -
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7 LOSS/(PROFIT) BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b) ET A& (b) Staff costs
e IERKHMFZ Salaries, wages and other benefits 244,493 116,379
) 7E BB R BUR IRET B K Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 10,256 11,353
RIEZEERO A Equity settled share-based payment
expenses 2,559 9,163
257,308 136,895
(c) HibEE (c) Otheritems
88 I Depreciation and amortisation
—FXM - HEREMEFEE — furniture, fixtures and other fixed
(FFEQ)) assets (Note (i) 8,183 9,009
—EAEEE (H:E3) — right-of-use assets (Note (i) 30,264 3,554
38,447 12,563
FRIBBEEE G AERE 175 Total minimum lease payments for
DEAKEHENHENHE leases previously classified as
&R 4z (W a) operating leases under HKAS 17
(Note (i) - 25,267
BEEWMEMAR Cost of properties sold 82,362 69,266
BEMENHES WA Rental income from investment
properties 271,985 245,448
B B Less: Direct outgoings (14,600) (24,884)
257,385 220,564
ZE RN & Auditors’ remuneration
—EBZR% — audit services 4,784 5,068
— H M AR 75 — other services 3,674 2,663
8,458 7,731
B3 Note:
() AEEEHRALETEBHEIVSERAES (i) The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach

MM ERRFE IR YR _F—NF—
B—BRAZEFVEASHUERERESHN
EREEE ZEEELAMERESE S
HRETRA P REERE - EAEEE
RIB-NF—A—BYIRERE A&
EREBAARRCAEEENTE  mT
REMNBREANBSERAEEHRNLE
HEEANBESHAN - BRELTE HBE
BARFES - BHE20 °

and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use
assets relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019, the
Group as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets,
instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated. See Note 2(c).
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s Fram 8 INCOME TAX
(@) EHABABERNOFEBIFILIE -

(a) Income tax charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

REHIE Current tax

FEEMEST ([REREBH) Net (reversal)/provision for PRC

(Bm) B HFHE Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") (157,108) 203,384
TR E R ([ LB ER ) Net (reversal)/provision for Land

(BE) B F5E Appreciation Tax (“LAT") (7,447) 3,748

B (BE) B (Reversal)/provision for withholding tax (2,015) 853

EERIE Deferred tax (166,570) 207,985
TR EEMELERED Origination and reversal of temporary

differences 252,109 74,367

85,539 282,352

RERBRLES ((XEELEHE])
EFRSESHNRANERN  AEE
BEAGMEBRIEEAA=HE
EERIATISTR

HRAEBNEENBRAREE
—E-NFRZE—NFT=ZA
=+ — B I FE W E R AR
MEBFEHOERTEF - i
BB EBTERIELEBE KRES
MEArRZBEHEREEZEEHM
EBFERIE16.5% 8 b = 5112 B
BN o

TEMSHRBEIZRAEBANFEH
A b B R B A b BT FE R &R
HERERCEMEMBIRGTE
MZERETREFBEBBAER
RARBAPEE BHE_FT—NF
TZA=+—BLEFENERALCE
FrEmBEAE255% (ZF— \F:
25%) °

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries did not earn any assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019, except for the Hong Kong subsidiaries in principal activities of
education related services, which calculated the provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax at 16.5%.

The provision for CIT is based on the respective applicable CIT rates
on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China within the Group as determined in accordance with the
relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. The applicable
CIT rate was 25% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
25%).
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8 FIs®H » 8
(a) (&

INCOME TAX (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

RNEBRPEARNMEEEREREN
MEREMBFEMNIREMERIE L
31,312 (E 18 JE LA 30% = 60% H) R E T
TN IR ET - W RERE AR
Bl L ER R LEEMEMS
SRIERL AT 0 B S (8 15 Lt {5 A 4
HESZH BEXARMBAGER
MEERALZ)GE -

ARARR_F-NFR—REBINEG
M“TﬁWWﬂQWA&W@%ﬁ
WA AR —REENERRRF
B At R B Y X B TS SRR
YFEHNHL -

FAN-ARSHBEREMNBLAAMN
THIRERETEE  NFEEL
R+ b ¥ {E i < 5% 570,196,000 7% T
WRABHEMBEMREH - AL
BEFEMTEMSHEERRER
CHEMNEREEH EELRAE - It
ﬁ@%:%iﬂ¢ﬁéﬁéiﬁﬁ
}Xt"i/??ég

LAT is levied on properties developed and investment properties
held by the Group in Mainland China for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use right, borrowing costs and all qualified property
development expenditures.

Withholding taxes in 2019 are levied on interest income and related
services income earned from an overseas joint venture by the
Company and proceeds from the sale of investment properties in
Mainland China by a Hong Kong subsidiary.

During the year, as a result of clearance of LAT settlement
of a subsidiary by the respective tax bureau, LAT payment of
HK$570,196,000 made in this year is considered CIT deductible.
Accordingly, a provision of CIT in prior years and the corresponding
deferred tax assets with same amount were adjusted. There is no net
impact to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 2019 in this
respect.
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8 Fis®H 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) FAIEHMAXBREARRAENS
(B8R /BREENT

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting (loss)/
profit at applicable tax rates:

BB (B518) /& T

(Loss)/profit before taxation (444,389) 410,151

BELRT(BE) B EEEFIE Notional tax on (loss)/profit before
(REER A ERNER taxation, calculated at the rates

BETE) applicable to the jurisdictions
concerned (27,648) 96,019
TAMBRZOZE Effect of non-deductible expenses 24,653 31,072
FABTFERERNIA Effect of prior years’ unrecognised tax
BEANFE losses utilised (11,045) (4,169)
RESAARREREEE Effect of unrecognised temporary
VR differences now utilised = (60,209)
FEAREEBBRAERLE  Effect of unused tax losses and
MERENTE temporary differences not recognised 181,629 164,564
BEFE GRERE) B (Over)/under-provision in respect of
T2 prior years (79,077) 44,680
THIEER LAT (7,447) 3,748
TH IR ERBEELETRIEFZE Deferred tax effect on LAT provision 4,474 6,647
BERMSEHAX Actual income tax expense 85,539 282,352
(c) FEMBIRERMENAFHIA (c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

FEASBLIE Prepaid tax:

PR ERMERH PRC CIT = 6,304

T HbIEET LAT 20,891 16,867

20,891 23,171

FEAIBiE Tax payable:

PR EMEH PRC CIT (324,171) (560,753)

TE AR Withholding tax (39,773) (108,409)

T HbIE(ET LAT (352,565) (847,572)
(716,509) (1,516,734)
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8 Fﬁ' ﬁ, &) 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(d) Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{i (d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
RESMIEMR AR NERNELER The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the
HEE,/ (BE)ERED RFARAH consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
BEIT during the year are as follows:

THEER

BN

ERfz: B i P o)
Depreciation
allowances Unrealised Fairvalue  Temporary

in excess gainon adjustment  differences Other

of related Lease intrargroup Revaluation on business on LAT Unused Distributable  temporary

depreciation arrangement transactions of properties combination provision  Accruals  taxlosses profits ~ differences
r T S S o o Lo Lo i i

§000 §000 ) $1000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000

BUATEEEENERHE  Defened tax arsing from:

RZE-tFFZA=1-R At31 December 2017 125464 - (150 686,560 U509 (272509 (8717) (5027) 47550 (15,008) 582,09
BNEREENBEALEE  Impact on intal applicaton
F1%HEE of HKFRS 15 - - - - - - - - - 1447 1447
BZE-N\§-A-H At 1 January 2018 125,464 - (75) 686,560 W59 (212509 8717 (5.007) 47550 (1351) 583,537
PERRR/(GEA) Chargedcreited) to profit orloss 265 - - BB QMY seH -3 - % T3
WEENBLA Acquistion of subsidaies - - - RN V%) - - - - -
HENBAR Disposalof subsidaies - . . . . . . - - %8 (158)
e Exchange adjustments (7420) - 3 (38410) 07 13973 45 n (2,465) 0 (31,99
BZE-\EFZA=1-F At31 December 2018 142,700 - (M3 709933 197384 (52860) (8.265) (18,601) 45,085 (15381) 799,280
ERERBANBEEEY  Impacton il applicaton
B[ of HKFRS 16 - B - - - - - - - 9,02 -
RZZ-1E-A-B () At January 2019 lote) 142,700 (8,20 (M3 709933 197384 (252,862 (8265)  (18,601) 45,085 (6179) 799,280
WEARIE/(FN) Chadlediedopoftors B3 38T B BB (961 ™8 206 6 - ) B
EifE Exchange adjustments (3610) 14 (364 (15137) (3.830) 2N 136 6 (955) 153 (20801)
RZE-NFFZA=T-B At31 December 2019 mas B8 IS TR B0 (519 (B%3)  (16N) 4130 (1889 1030588
M REEBRRBEETEREV IR Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
AEBMERELERE 165 LA method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
BR-_Z-—NF—A—BNFEVNHE right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
% NERELARER S ER operating leases under HKAS 17. See Note 2(c).

FITHRDBREERETANEM
BEE - 2BME20)
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8 M@ 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(d) ERRELEBEEERERE (B) (d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

e BRRAR A ERE Net deferred tax assets recognised

REHIAEEFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (75,212) (224,170)
e M BARRARANEERED Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
REFIABEFRE in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1,105,800 1,023,450
1,030,588 799,280
() ABRELHIBEE (e) Deferred tax assets not recognised:
WA THIEE ERNELCEHIEE Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
= following items:

AHREREER Deductible temporary differences 1,371,450 894,744
RE)ATIEEE Unused tax losses
— & (M) — Hong Kong (Note (i) 11,830 8,400
— AR B At (B R (i) — Mainland China (Note (ii)) 1,334,981 1,352,605
2,718,261 2,255,749
B 5 Notes:
(i) MREBERIVUHER RAPAREBRE (i)  The unused tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.
TEEH -
iy ABABEBBEARNEEEEFER (i) The unused tax losses can be carried forward to offset against taxable profits
NEEEIEE RS T FARERT of subsequent years for up to five years from the year in which they arose.
BF - ABARBEEER T _FTF The unused tax losses expired between 2020 and 2024.

E-T Y AR E -

FR R AT BB T B 2 49 oK 2R JE RR T & R The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
A AR S AT HUOR B B 1M 22 &2 JOR deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses of certain
PABEER BWAKEWREE subsidiaries as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits
FTHEBARMAIMREREEZZR will be available against which the deductible temporary differences

REAREBERRELEHRIBEEE - and unused tax losses can be utilised.
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8 FIs®H » 8
(f) RERETEHBEME

INCOME TAX (Continued)

(f) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

EMERFAREERMAEE
TRERMGCESR _ZBTNE—A—
BRMEARMAEFRERIEE
RGN AR B A AR B BB 10% /Y
TEH (BRIEHREOR B ZESITR
L) MRZZEENF—A—HAE
ERRD IR BT AR R BN % TE
N - BEFEREFENRBLH
REAEBEBRO - 755 R B E25%
SN L RENEERBETEER
BIESHEAA]l AT ZH5%H K
THENHR AEETERELE
THhEHBRARR-_ZEENE—A
— B 1% BT E 4 & F 50,429,000 7% 7T
(ZZ— )\ % : 51,514,000 7T) {E
HREEHBEERE RERAE
EiEH 2 EH B R A AR B
WRERAIRRRK TG D IKZE
B -

The Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules impose
a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a treaty or agreement,
for dividends, distributed by a PRC-resident enterprise to its
immediate holding company outside the PRC for profits generated
beginning on 1 January 2008 and undistributed profits generated
prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt from such withholding tax.
According to the China-Hong Kong tax arrangement and its
relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is
the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of a PRC enterprise
is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate of 5%. The Group
did not provide for deferred tax liabilities on profits generated by
certain of its PRC subsidiaries after 1 January 2008 amounting to
HK$50,429,000 (2018: HK$51,514,000) since the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
1B F B A B 5B 5 383(N) 1§ M A A (3 Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
BEEMEER) RAE28 EEWS Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
WENT : Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
e BER BIRGHE ZB-NF
EZhe BNET i it BRip %t @5t
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme Share-based
fees inkind  contributions Sub-Total payments
(Bt&t)
(Note)
Tr i T Tr r
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
HTES Executive directors
BRE Wong Chun Hong - 4,580 18 4,598 - 4,508
REE Yuan Zhi Wei - 2,877 - 2871 - 2871
HER Lam Mei Ka - 3,383 18 3,401 - 3,401
2 (R=F—NF  Liang Rui Chi (appointed
NARBEZ) on 5 August 2019) - 1,237 - 1,231 - 1,231
BREE(RZF—NE  ChenZhi Xiang (resigned
NARAHE) on 5 August 2019) - 1320 1 1,331 92 1423
FYES Non-executive directors

Ba%EE(R=F—/  KuiQiang (appointed on

F+ZARBEZM) 6 December 2019) = - - - - _
FEMZZ-NE  Xulei(removed on

+-A~BER) 6 December 2019) - - - _ _ _

ERXEA Yip Hoong Mun 304 = - 304 = 304
BUFYTES Independent non-executive

directors
gHa Cheng Yuk Wo 304 = = 304 = 304
RMR Wu Si Zong 304 = = 304 = 304
BiELE Chan Yee 304 = = 304 = 304

1,216 13,397 47 14,660 92 14,752
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

M BEXH

allowances
and Retirement
Directors' benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions

Share-based
Sub-Total pay

i i i r
$'000 $'000 $'000
BITES Executive directors
AR Wong Chun Hong - 4,744 18 4762 - 4,762
REE Yuan Zhi Wei - 2,340 5 2,345 - 2,345
MER(B=F—/\F  Lam Mei Ka (appointed on 1
—R—BEZ{A) March 2018) - 2,575 15 2,590 - 2,590
B5E(R=F—/\F  ChenZhi Xiang (appointed on
=“A-HEZ{) 1 March 2018) - 2,533 15 2,548 274 2,822

BEE(RZF—/\F  Chen Feng Yang (resigned on

ZA-REM) 1 March 2018) - 1,620 - 1,620 165 1,785
TARE(RZZ—/\F  Wang Tian Ye (resigned on

ZR—HEfT) 1 March 2018) - 754 3 757 185 942
FUTES Non-executive directors
SFEMZE-NE  Xulei (removed on

+ZARBE%) 6 December 2019) - - - - - -
ERX Yip Hoong Mun 304 - - 304 - 304
BUEHTES Independent non-executive

directors

gHA Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304 33 337
RRR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304 33 337
BE(R-ZT—/\F  Chan Yee (appointed on

—AZREED) 2 lanuary 2019) 304 - - 304 . 304
REA(RZF-\F  Leung Kwong Choi (resigned on

—A=-REH) 2 January 2018) - - - - - -

1,216 14,566 56 15,838 690 16,528

MiEE : EREBEAQTDBREAERTESNER
REMGFHEE - 25 BREBETRERNE
2 T AREBRAR N XN R B0 S
BRFAE ARBEZBR ZEBEHEEH
REBAFOLENERBBATARRED
BEFERFRBENRE -

Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under
the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured
according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions
as set out in Note 2(v)(ii) and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments
to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments
are forfeited prior to vesting.

ZEBEMRINHB (BRI EGRRER
HIBRREEE ) N FE 294 58 -

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of
options granted, are disclosed in Note 29.
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10 REFHFMA L 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
RAEGREHFWALESY =2 (=ZZF—N Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2018: four)
F:NE) EEZNHFHRBERM T K are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
ERATEVET BRI T - the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

e EUREMEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 8,500 2,622
RIRET IR Retirement scheme contributions 18 13
8,518 2,635

FisEHFMATOFRMARNNOT The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

—E—hEF —T—N\F
2019 PAONE:]
AE AEL
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
2,500,001 7T - 3,000,000 7T $2,500,001 — $3,000,000 - 1
4,000,001 7t — 4,500,000 7T $4,000,001 - $4,500,000 2 -
1M S8R (BB EF 11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BREX (EIE) BF (a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share
BREXR (BB BAMEARAF The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss
BaBRERKATRRELRFE attributable to equity shareholders and the holder of PCSs of the
A FE 5 518 582,939,000/ 7t (= Company of HK$582,939,000 (2018: profit of HK$102,610,000)
T—N\F:EF102,610,000% and the weighted average number of 1,529,272,000 shares (2018:
L) REANE BT METFHR 1,528,652,000 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

£01,529,272,000% (==& — )\ & :
1,528,652,000 %) st & a0 T :

EEHRE Weighted average number of shares
BEITEmAR Issued ordinary shares 1,385,575 1,383,439
EITEEREN T E Effect of share options exercised

(K 5E30(0))) (Note 30(c)(i) 144 1,660
EHK AN MRESNTE Effect of PCSs converted

(P& 30(c)i)) (Note 30(c)ii)) 18,123 -
BITAR (B —EBAKA Effect of bonus issue of shares

AMRES) T E (with PCSs as an alternative) 125,430 143,553
R+ A=+—B8mE Weighted average number of shares

T A% & at 31 December 1,529,272 1,528,652
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1M1 B8R (ER) &R 11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) SREBE (BE) BF (b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
ThREE (BR) BFERREE The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the adjusted (loss)/
AT (B18) 7 R Ed Ak profit attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average
BT (HE) HENT - number of ordinary shares (diluted), calculated as follows:
() AAFEZBREMN (BE) (i) (Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
i A () Company (diluted)

RNAFIHES AR B (B51B) / (Loss)/profit attributable to equity

il shareholders of the Company (582,939) 102,610
AR E ST B Interest on convertible bonds = 169,671
AR EHFANEIRIER  Fair value change on conversion

BRALEEEY option embedded in convertible

bonds - (243,220)
BT MBRESEEN Unamortised loss arising from the

KREHET1E issuance of convertible bonds = (62,898)
BB TR RESELER  Amortisation of loss arising from the

E51E issuance of convertible bonds - 62,898
EEBRREL (R, (Loss)/profit attributable to

= A (H5E) equity shareholders (diluted) (582,939) 29,061

(i) MEFHRE (EE) (i) Weighted average number of shares (diluted)

hngE 9 iR Weighted average number of shares 1,529,272 1,528,652
RIBEARRNBIEIRERTEIR A Effect of deemed issue of shares
NEERITRONTZE under the Company’s share option
schemes for nil consideration - 5,516
Al E AR R B EIRE Effect of deemed conversion of
ga convertible bonds = 366,051

RT=—BR=+—HWmeE Weighted average number
FIRE (#F) of shares (diluted) at
31 December 1,529,272 1,900,219
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N REYEREMYWE - - BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
k&E PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REELTHE

KEBRRET  BEERAN

WAL i KB RER
Nt (RRASE)  (BREASIER) EtEREE

Ownership

interests in Other

leasehold land properties

and buildings |eased for Furniture,
held for ownuse fixturesand
Investment own use carried other fixed
properties Sub-total  carried at cost at cost assets Sub-total
T Tn Tn T T T
§'000 §'000 $'000

RAHMEE: Cost or valuation:

RIE-NE At 1 January 2019

-A-H 5,704,379 5,704,379 149,141 - 101,568 250,709 5,955,088
EREEEAYESE mpact on inital application of

SEBZ160EE  HKERS 16 (Note)

g2 () - - - 37,604 - 37,604 37,604
AZE-NE-A  Adjusted balance at 1 January
—ONEREES 2019 5,704,379 5,704,379 149,141 37,604 101,568 288,313 5,992,692
[ Exchange adjustments (127212 (127212 (3,146) (725) (2.128) (5999) (133.211)
NE Additions - - - [TypAl 8,429 53,150 53,150
L Transfer from inventories 52,975 52,975 = = = = 522,975
HENBAT Disposal of subsidiaries 21(e) - - - - (3.885) (3.885) (3.885)
iHE Disposals - - (112) - (921) (1,633) (1,633)
R4 Surplus on revaluation 197,409 197,409 - - - - 197,409
RZE-AETA  At31December 2019
=t+-H 6,297,551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 6,627,497
0 Representing:
s Cost = = 145,283 81,600 103,063 329946 329946
e Valuation 6,297,551 6,207,551 - - - - 6,297,551
6,297,551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 6,627,497
i FER  Accumulated amortisation,
HERE: depreciation and impairment
losses:

RIE-NE At 1 January 2019

-A-H - - (22,735) - (73,880) (96,615) (96,615)
EiA% Exchange adjustments - - 562 58 1573 2193 2193
ERzi Charge for the year - - (4917) (25,347) (8,183) (38,447) (38,447)
HEMBLFB  Wiitten back on disposal of

& subsidiaries 21(e) - - - - m m n
HEBER Witten back on disposals - - 414 - 847 1261 1261
RIE-NE At 31 December 2019

L TEAER . T (e 528 (%) (1308%7) (130897)
BEFE: Net book value:

RZE-NE At 31 December 2019
t-A=1-R 6,207,551 6,207,551 118,607 56,311 2,131 199,049 6,496,600
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12 REVMEREMWE - BFE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
S C) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Ovvnersh‘ib

EETE
leasehold land
and buildings Furniture,
held for fixtures and
Investment own Use other fixed
properties Sub-total  carried at cost assefs Sub-total
o r I S r
$'000 $:00 $'000 $'000 $'000
AAGME: Cost or valuation:
RZE-NE-A-B  At1January 2018 4,837,8% 4,837,8% 150,919 91,7 242,630 5,080,526
EREE Exchange adjustments (259,243) (259243) (8,087) (6,290) (14377) (273620
AE Additions - - 218 15,568 15,786 15,786
WERBAF Acquisition of subsidiaries 320,000 320,000 - 2215 2215 30215
BRERE Transfer from inventories 525,081 525,081 6,472 - 6,472 531,553
HEHBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (560) (560) (560)
e Disposals - - (381) (1,076) (1457) (1,457)
EfE R Surplus on revaluation 280,645 280,645 - - - 280,645
RZE-N\E At 31 December 2018
T-A=t-8 5,704,379 5,704,379 149,141 101,568 250,709 5,955,088
B Representing:
s Cost - - 149,141 101,568 250,709 250,709
&8 Valuation 5,704,379 5,704,379 - - - 5,704,379
5704379 5,704,379 149,141 101,568 250,709 5,955,088
2its TER Accumulated amortisation,
HEEE: depreciation and impairment
|osses:
RZE-N\E-F—B  At1January 2018 - - (20,589) (68,361) (88,950) (88,950)
ERAZ Exchange adjustments - - 1,225 2,390 3615 3615
ERgi Charge for the year - - (3,554) (9,009) (12,563) (12,563)
HEMBRAERL  Written back on disposal of
subsidiaries - - - 208 208 208
HERRME Written back on disposals - - 183 892 1,075 1,075
RIE-NE At 31 December 2018
| J_F_Zﬂ_ _EJF_*_ H ______________________________ - - (22,735) (73,880) (96,615) (96,615)
BEFE: Net book value:
RZE-N\E At 31 December 2018
T-A=1-8 5,704,379 5,704,379 126,406 27,688 154,094 5358473
Mzt AEEERBEEIEBRENTEAEE Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method
MEHmELEAE 165  LRBR=_F—N and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use
F—R—BEPER  ARRLARE assets relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases under
BRGFHENE TR ERAKEHERR HKAS 17. See Note 2(c).

BEBEAE - 2BME 20 -
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12 RENEREMWYE  BE

k&t

(#&)

() REMERSBERFEHER
BYMENDIAEBENE

(i)

DMREBEESER
TREJNAEEREMER D
BARFLEREMERRE
HARBREEEEEAENAR
BE ITRREBUBEHREE
QB 13RALEEFENTER
PR=—MTARAEEBEH - D8R
RARABEAENRIIDZEME
77 R FTE BB A BIR N A]
BRUEMBEZHEETWT ¢

- B-RHEE:EERFE—-
RBABBIENRIAE
B Rt ERHERR
mZHEREELBER

- F_RMAE:ERE-R
BWABBFENRR(E
B BT EE—Rem
BERa ABEBRRERA
THBENERH A
B TABEGABERE
BERMETSERNEA
2z

- FE=RMAE:EZERATAE
ENEEHABBEN

NRfEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(@

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group'’s
investment properties and investment properties classified as
held for sale measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs



REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 213

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12 REYEREMYE - BE
RE&E @

() REMERSERFHEHER
BMENDAEBENE @R

() AREESHKE)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

R-E-h#F
+=A=+-H
NAAER

Fair value at

R=ZB-NAF+=A=+-H
AABEFEDIER
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into

31 December E—1 ot 1}
2019 Level 1 Level 2
SPom 5P S

$'000 $'000 $'000

EEMAREMETE  Recurring fair value measurement

BREME Investment properties

6,297,551 - = 6,297,551

DEBFHEHERE  Investment properties classified as

mE held for sale

64,683 = = 64,683

] = —\E
+-A=1+—H

MARERE Fair value measurements as at

Fair value at 31 December 2019 categorised into
31 December E—% FH
2018 Level 1 Level 2
T T T

$'000 $'000 $'000

EHEMAREETE  Recurring fair value measurement

REME Investment properties

5,704,379 - - 5,704,379

PEBFHELERE  Investment properties classified as

tIES held for sale

104,539 - - 104,539
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12 ?ﬁﬁ%%&
RN

Hte¥= W5

(a) ?ﬁﬁ%%& TERBELHER
EMENAAREETE®

0]

DABEBESER(E)

BE_T— ﬂ$+ A=+—
BIEFERN E—REE-R
Zﬁﬁﬁ%%’ﬁ*ﬁ%iﬁ

MEAREL (ZF - \F:
B) AEBENBRKEHERE
EEREHEEEANRAE
BERHNER -

AEERMBREMER =

—NF+ZA=+—HEEH
fE1E o HEIERBAEM
TEERT (B ABERIT
BERAR)ETT ZAERTT
m;zz¢ﬁ§%w§m$§
g8 HIOMNGELRERE
BT EERENEBNRF
EAMBERNME - HERTE
EEET -AEBEEEERE
HERHMETHERMGEER
R b E A REZ R ST

5 o

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(@

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2018: Nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 December 2019. The valuations were carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors, DTZ Cushman & Wakefield
(formerly known as DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited), who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, on a market value basis.
Management of the Group has discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each reporting date.
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12 REY % REMYE - BEE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
R &E PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) ?ﬁﬁ%%& TERBELHER
BEMENAAEETE

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

WEMERDBERABIELERN
REMENAABEDFERAK
ABREESERELBEBR
HHEE KA FRE (CNRYE
EHEWBAEBN) BRIk
FEFREREELSZALER
MERTHEE  KEBEZFO
HEERARTEBEMERTH
HELNEMETE - ZHEZE
BEMENTEF TSRS - T
FRAMERMEEEREFNE
?&f@%lx‘/\&fﬂﬁgﬁﬂfﬁ?ﬂ
c NABEEFEERGR TS
%ﬂ@&iﬁjfﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁg
fELE AL R B AR -

(Continued)
(i) EEFE=RAAEBENENER (ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
EER% TAEERAYE METHH
Valuation techniques  Unobservable input Weighted average
REME WABRFE BHmISES ARBA9TE ARE131T
Investment properties Income capitalisation (ARE/FrK/R) AR379T (Z2-N\F:
method BARE (Z2-N\%#: AR 1347T)
Expected market rental ARBA6TE 59% (ZT—\F:59%)
(RMB/sq.m./month) AR®36170)  RMB131(2018: RMB134)
Capitalisation rate 25%£7.25% 5.9% (2018: 5.9%)
(ZE-NF:
35% }7.5%)
RMB49 to RMB379
(2018: RMB46 to RMB361)
2.5% t07.25%
(2018:3.5% 10 7.5%)
REM%E BRIEBE FHHE AR¥101,4157T AR#120,150 7T
Investment properties Direct comparison (AR /Bfi) ZARK130,3667T RMB120,150
method Average market price RMB101,415 to
(RMB/unit) RMB 130,366
REME BRLEA FHmE ARH47,786 T ARH#47,786 T
Investment properties Direct comparison (ARE/FAR) RMB47,786 RMB47,786
method Average market price
(RMBY/sq.ft.)
PERARKELERE BEEEBZE FHmE AR 55,000 E AR 56,4217C
ES Direct comparison (NEERT/ AE59,9037¢ RMB56,421
Investment properties method FHK) RMB55,000 to
classified as held for Average market price RMB59,903
sale (RMBY/sq.m.)

The fair value of investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale is determined using
income capitalisation method or direct comparison method by
capitalising the net rental income allowing for the reversionary
income potential of the properties, or by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The valuation takes into account expected market rental
of the properties. The capitalisation rates used have been
adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and
the tenant quality. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected market rental and average market
price, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.
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12 REYEREMYE - BE
EEE @

() REMERSBERFHEHER
BEMENDAEBENE @R

FRE=RALOAEEFENER
(#8)
REE=ZZT—-—NLF+=ZA
=+—BLEFERN ZZFF=
BAREBEEFTENEHEHN
T

(ii)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

The movements during the year ended 31 December 2019 in

the balances of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follows:

REYF Investment properties
R—HA—H At 1 January 5,704,379 4,837,896
g1 PN Acquisition of subsidiaries = 320,000
ERBEFE Transfer from inventories 522,975 525,081
R R E WS Valuation gains recognised in profit

or loss 197,409 280,645
ME X 2 Exchange adjustments (127,212) (259,243)
R+-_A=+—8H At 31 December 6,297,551 5,704,379

DEBIFEL EREYE

Investment properties classified as

held for sale
R—A—H At 1 January 104,539 106,274
& (FEE) Disposals (38,325) (7,782)
RiEEERN M EWRE Valuation gains recognised in profit

or loss - 11,699
ME H & Exchange adjustments (1,531) (5,652)
R+-—A=+—H At 31 December 64,683 104,539

REMERDSBERFBHELER
RENDABEAERREGSRE
BRENKREDERSER
FIFLENREMEN[ER
& | B PR -

Fair value adjustment of investment properties and investment
classified as held for sale is recognised in the line item “valuation
gains on investment properties and investment properties
classified as held for sale” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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12 BEYELREMYZE - BEE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,

RS 16 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) EFHEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
REREES D ENERAEEENR The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
EHFEITAT - underlying asset is as follows:

R=Z—NF R-ZZE—NF
+=—A=+—H —HA—H
At 31 December At 1 January

2019 2019
Fi T
$'000 $'000

MHHEE L RIFEE BEFAFT Ownership interests in leasehold land
Bt GRYTERATIER) B and buildings held for own use,

ERTAER - (BEEG) carried at depreciated cost, with
remaining lease term of: (Note (i))
—50F A £ - 50 years or more 24,314 25,336
—R10250F — between 10 and 50 years 94,293 101,070
118,607 126,406
HAEEEAMNWE (JREE  Other properties leased for own use,
AN BR) (B E (i) carried at depreciated cost (Note (ii) 56,311 37,604
174,918 164,010
RREREMENFTEEREZ Ownership interests in leasehold
(RARBEIR) WHETHE investment properties, at fair value,
BA - with remaining lease term of:
—50F A - 50 years or more 2,217,764 2,150,746
—R10E504F — between 10 and 50 years 4,079,787 3,553,633
6,297,551 5,704,379
ROBEAEBELENHEEREY Ownership interests in leasehold
¥NFEEER RAREE investment properties classified
FIBR) MER T AHHER A as held for sale, at fair value, with
remaining lease term of:
—50F s - 50 years or more 64,683 104,539

6,537,152 5,972,928
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N REYEREMYWE - - BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,

RE&Ew PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) ERREEE ) (b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
EHEHENASZBEE > TRERT The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
WRAT : profit or loss is as follows:

FREEEZRMABEEDEN  Depreciation charge of right-of-use

FEXH : assets by class of underlying asset:
REELRIFEEBREFA  Ownership interests in leasehold land
FRBHERE = and buildings held for own use 4,917 3,554
HEFEERNEMmYE Other properties leased for own use 25,347 -
30,264 3,554
HEaEZHE (7)) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 5,237 -
EEEAHEE B THER Expense relating to short-term leases
—E-NF+RA=+—H and other leases with remaining
A EREEMEE 2 lease term ending on or before
Xz 31 December 2019 3,602 -
ERRIBEE B ST ERE 1798 Total minimum lease payments for
DREREEHENHEZRKIE  leases previously classified as
MEN R operating leases under HKAS 17 - 25,267
Mz A"EBOEABAKEEBWMEVSE Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
AEEMBRELENE 165 WR approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
—E-NWEFE-A—HBABRFEYES right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
DHEREBAEEMENERESE % operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use
EEREXMOCEBEE ST ELNSE assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
17D AREHE - FAEERE the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of
N-ZZTB—-—hFE—F—B¥YRERE% recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
RNEFBEAEXTBABEREAESR basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information
ENFE  MIAREOBRAER is not restated. See Note 2(c).
EHAHEHNCEREEENA
X c BB FE  LEEHTT
B - RKtsE2(0) -
REAN ERAREEFER During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
44,721,000 7T - RIEF AL - % HK$44,721,000. This amount relates to the capitalised lease
SHREMENMEEERRZ BRI payments payable under new tenancy agreements.
HEReREBELREERERH Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
B oM 2 55159 B E R FE21(d) & lease liabilities are set out in Notes 21(d) and 25, respectively.

25°
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(i) REELHRBEBERAEFED (i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
FRERERE = for own use
RNEEREBEZEMEERRE The Group holds several properties as its offices. The Group is
B ALEAZEMERER (B the registered owner of these property interests, including the
FEARRE L 2 H D KD F whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
&) MEM#EE A o — Kk sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
NRBHE A ER ATE interests from their previous registered owners, and there are
KEEZEMEERD  MIRE no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land
4t B IR S AN IR o lease.

(i) HEBRAz2HEMYWE (ii) Other properties leased for own use
AEBEDEBHERRESE The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
REMMEERERE TE as its warehouses, retail stores and offices through tenancy
ERFAEREF - HE L % agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2
AH2ZENF - HENKB to 21 years. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
t¢i' MARMTTISHEE - 7FH reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes options or

EMTEEREX A EHEERN variable lease payments.
e
(c) REWE (c) Investment property

AEERBEEEMELEREDE -
ZEME— ROV RP—ETHF
Y EEEERABGREFHEZ
BREZ HENKEBESFEM
ARRTIHHEE o

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals.

R¥RE A - AL BERE B
AT A 7O R 2K HA ) B W e R 3
BEENKET

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

—FR Within 1 year 221,683 172,960
—FREMEA After 1 year but within 2 years 169,913 140,414
MERBEBE=FR After 2 year but within 3 years 125,071 100,929
—ERENFER After 3 year but within 4 years 92,277 79,407
WEREBRER After 4 year but within 5 years 63,099 40,759
hE® After 5 years 128,534 177,745

800,577 712,214

(d) ZK%@E’J%?&%%%M&E@i
R8T BRI U BUSIRITE R
BRAFIEHNHE24

(d) The Group’s certain investment properties and other land and
buildings were pledged to secure bank loans, details of which are set

out in Note 24.
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13 & 13 GOODWILL

AR R BRTEE Cost and carrying amount 40,736 40,736
REeEAEBAA YR G EDIREER The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-
BENEET BHAFEDNERABREL use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based
EEEMAEREAFHEAVEEEELY on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
WERSRETEA - AFHEENRERE period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an
FAMEMETEERE3I% (ZFT—N estimated weighted average long-term growth rate of 3% (2018: 3%)
F:3%)HE  HEITEREMETERN — which is consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The
o MAMEBRETBERCEEEN growth rates used do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for
KEXBHNRBATHERRE -BERE the business in which the CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted
LABEIR = 14.60% (ZF—/\F : 13.10%) using a discount rate of 14.60% (2018: 13.10%). The discount rates used
BEER o PR BV RE IR 3 5 B 12 30 = R B4 are post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

Ao EBEENEERR -
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14 RITBARIMIKRE

TREFINITEZEASEHESE BE
HEBNMBABFE - BRAEHRAN

s B 0 1O 8 5l 20 A A

WEARE®

Name of subsidiary

Top Spring Real Estate (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.
(REFWE R BRAF)

Dongguan SZITIC Property
Development Co., Ltd.
(REMAEREHMER
EERLA)

Changzhou Top Spring Landmark
Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(BNREBEELBRAT)

Top Spring Realty (Chengdu) Co.,
Ltd.
(REEX (A BRAR)

Top Spring International (Yuhang)
Landmark Co., Ltd.
(REERE (R EZE
BRAFE)

Tianjin Hyperion Construction
Co., Ltd.
(REEEERRBRAR)

Tianjin Hyperion Investment
Development Co., Ltd.
(RESEEREER
BRAT)

Tianjin Jin Jun Investment
Development Co., Ltd.
(REREREBRBERAF)

Great Billion Corporation Limited

(BRERATF)

ML/ BRI
REEHE
DYEIN V|
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation

and type of legal

entity

REL
PRC*

PR
PRC*

R
PRC*

PR
PRC*

RE*
PRC*

PR
PRC*

R+
PRC*

PR
PRC*

EE
Hong Kong

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

BERTR
BrBRx/

M ERFE
Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/

registered capital

AR 653,060,000 7T
RMB653,060,000

AE#20,000,0007T
RMB20,000,000

60,000,000 7T
US$60,000,000

18,750,000 7T
US$18,750,000

10,000,000 7T
US$10,000,000

A% 50,000,0007C
RMB50,000,000

AE%100,000,000 7T
RMB 100,000,000

AR 75,000,000 70
RMB75,000,000

TR

1 share

PR gL fl

Proportion of ownership interest
AEEH H—H
ERELRZ H4A2R KWEAR
Group's BB BB
effective Heldbythe Heldbya
interest ~ Company  subsidiary
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
58% - 58%
58% - 58%
58% - 58%
100% - 100%

221

TEER

Principal activity

NELRIRE
Property development
and investment

NEBRRIIRE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NERRRRE
Property development
and investment

NEBRIRE
Property development
and investment

NEBRRIRE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEBRIRE
Property development
and investment
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14 RITB A RIMIRE (@)

WEAREE

Name of subsidiary

Wealth Channel Holdings Limited
(BEREEBRAF)

MSREF Century Palace
(Residential) Limited (Note (i)
(BERTANFELEES L
FE(RB)ERAT)
GEA)

Nanjing Top Spring Water Flower
Property Development Co., Ltd.
(ARREKEEBREHER
BERRE])

Nanjing Top Spring Real Estate
Co., ltd.
(ARREBEERRA)

Shenzhen Water Flower
Commercial Management
Co., Ltd.
(RYTAREEEER
BRAHE)

Shenzhen Water Flower
Commercial Property
Management Co., Ltd.
(RYTAKEEEDEER
BRATE)

Shanghai Pengxiu Business
Consultancy Co., Ltd.
(LEBEFEBAABRAR)

Shanghai Pengyi Business
Consultancy Co., Ltd.
(LEBREBZABRARN)

Shanghai Pengji Business
Consultancy Co., Ltd.
(LEBEBBHABRAR)

REEHY
AR EAER
Place of BETR
BERE/
EMERFEE
Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/

incorporation/
establishment
and operation
and type of legal

entity registered capital
EE 1%
Hong Kong 1 share
HEFE,/ 1%
Hong Kong, PRC/ 1 share
PRC
FE AE 50,000,000
PRC* RMB50,000,000
i AE#300,000,0007¢
PRC* RMB300,000,000
] AE#5,000,0007C
PRC* RMB5,000,000
] AR 28,000,000
PRC* RMB28,000,000
] AR 50,000,000
PRC* RMB50,000,000
A AR 30,000,000 7
PRC* RMB30,000,000
I AE#50,000,0007C
PRC* RMB50,000,000

FrERERRL A

Proportion of ownership interest
KEEH B -
BERERE HF2F  HWERAF
Group's BB =8
effective Heldbythe Heldbya
interest ~ Company  subsidiary
100% - 100%
70% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
70% - 100%
70% - 100%
70% - 100%

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Principal activity
NEBRRIRE

Property development
and investment

ESLE

Property investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

Property investment

Property investment

NELRLIRE
Property development
and investment

NEERRRE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment
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14 RBATNEKRE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

B AS
REEHE

WEARES

Name of subsidiary

Shenzhen Zhong Yi Ming Hao
Real Estate Development
Company Limited
(RYIT R BER nERS
ARDA)

Flourish Fortune Company Limited

(K=EBRAF)
(Previously known as “Creative

Kindergarten Holdings Limited”

A (B HHERE
BRAR))

Creative Education Holding
Company Limited
(MBERERAT)
(Note (i) (Pt & (i)

Great Property Corporation
Limited
(ERELRABRAT)

Great Prosper Development
Limited
(BRERABAR)

Faith Luck Corporation Limited
(EHARRDE)

Rapid Sight Limited
(R2BRAF)

DYEIN Vil
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation
and type of legal
entity

PR
PRC*

BE
Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

Bk
Hong Kong

Bk
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

Bk
Hong Kong

BERTR
BrRRA/

HMERFE
Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/

registered capital

AE#50,000,0007C
RMB50,000,000

1,000,000 i
1,000,000 shares

100 %
100 shares

TR

1 share

2%
2 shares

13
1 share

TR

1 share

FrE Rz LA

Proportion of ownership interest
K@M H—H
BERERE HF2F HWERF
Group's ¥E =8
effective Heldbythe Heldbya
interest  Company  subsidiary
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
66.8% - 83.5%
100% - 100%
60% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%

FEXK
Principal activity
NEERIRE

Property development
and investment

MERE

Property investment

HENH

Education related

NEBRIRE
Property development
and investment

NEERREE
Property development
and investment

NEERIRE
Property development
and investment

NEBRIRE
Property development
and investment
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14 RHB A TMNKRE &)
e
(i) AABEEMBAR - WIFERTAFES

KEARSBHEERNEMES -

iy RZZ—NFRA AEERIFEERERETR
4% 11 7 SR EB 9 ok AR FE UK 3K IE 37,536,000 74
T SRR ERBIERER AR
([BREHZE ) H13.5% A HE -
RZZE—NFERA AEELE—B2E
MEBRARAM20%RE HEEFARE
HEWSSNBRET—BE=H RER
43,535,000 % 7T °

ERH K%  AEBESERBREREZ
66.8% EE IR

© o HNERALE
o RAAARMHABLE

* HRAR

EERR NF-NAFTZA=1+—RH"

BB AR KB WS B E AN EMA E 5
YRS

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) An indirect subsidiary of the Company and not a member of the Morgan Stanley
group of companies or any fund they manage.

(i) In May 2019, the Group derecognised partial contingent receivables from a non-

controlling interest of HK$37,536,000 to exchange further 13.5% equity interests
in Creative Education Holding Company Limited (" Creative Education”).

In June 2019, the Group disposed 20% equity interests in a wholly owned
subsidiary, which directly held 83.5% equity interests in Creative Education, to a
third party with the consideration of HK$43,535,000.

Upon the completion of the above transactions, the Group maintains substantially
66.8% equity interests in Creative Education.

g Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

& Sino-foreign equity joint venture

& Limited liability company

The directors consider that no individual non-controlling interest is
material to the Group as at 31 December 2019.
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15 REtE R WER 15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES
ERARNEBENEBERANERRES Y Details of the Group’s interest in the associates, which is accounted for
BHREFEAEDEARNFBOT ¢ using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

follows:
B Al
Proportion of ownership interest
FMEILE AEEMH H—A
S BERTR EBER#EZ HFAF KWEAA
Place of HMERARFES Group's 2] BB
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya IEX#
and business and paid up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
Shenzhen Green Port Co., Ltd. AR 50,000,000 43% - 43% R
(RYTHRRABEWRE  PRC RMB50,000,000 Supply chain
RERRLR)
Shenzhen Water Honey Real ~ /F AR 10,000,000 20% - 20% MEER
Estate Development Co., PRC RMB10,000,000 Property development
Ltd. (RINTREEERE M
EREBRRA)
FrEME AR AF LT ARERE B All of the associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
BETISME - prices are not available.
EARIFEE ZEME R RIMAREEE R - Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

ANEBEEGERIFEE ZHE A FH Aggregate carrying amounts of the

BEEFENERERE Groups's share of net assets of
individually immaterial associates 8,739 11,558
REBEEZSHENRIBRE Aggregate amounts of the Group's share
of those associates’
FEEE Loss for the year (2,621) (76,317)
Hip 2 mEkaE Other comprehensive income (198) (727)

FHKERRE Total comprehensive income (2,819) (77,044)
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16 REELENRER 16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
BREAEEREELENERNGE N Details of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures, which is accounted for
BRERRAESEABEMNFBOT using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

follows:

FA RS L)

Proportion of ownership interest

MBI R AEEH H—E

=Sk BRTR ERERE HB4A2E HWEAR

Place of HMERAFES Group's 55 BA

incorporation Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya TZE¥¥

and business and paid up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities

Shenzhen Qian Hai Xin Lai i AR #50,000,0007C 49% - 49% REER
Yuan Investment Fund PRC RMB50,000,000 Investment
Management Co., Ltd. management
(RYIATEH R ER &

EeEREARAT)

Silver Pond Investments Pty SN 67,200,106 27T 49% - 49% MEEE
Ltd. Australia AUD67,200,106 Property

development

Yunnan Province Equity HE AR 50,000,000 7T 60.5% - 60.5% HEAER
Investment Fund PRC RMB50,000,000 Investment
Management Co., Ltd. management
(ERERBEREECER

BRRA)

Huizhou Kefuxuexing HE AE#61,010,0007T 16.4% - 164% REEFRE
Venture Capital Investment ~ PRC RMB61,010,000 Investment
Partnership (Limited management
Partnership) (EMN T RHER
BRI XREAHLE
(BERE%))

Top Spring Projects No.1 N 10077T 50% - 50% HREER
Company Limited Hong Kong HKD100 Investment

management

Top Spring Projects No.2 N 100/7T 50% - 50% HREEER
Company Limited Hong Kong HKD100 Investment

management

Top Spring Australia SN 100327T 50% - 50% HREER
Development Pty Ltd. Australia AUD100 Investment

management
FrEEEtEHRIFLMARIELRE - B All of joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market

ETISME - prices are not available.



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 227

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

16 REELENER ) 16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
ERIZEFES LR EMNREER Aggregate information of joint ventures that were not individually
material:

RNEFRIGERNIFEETESLDE  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

AR TH 4218 share of individually immaterial joint
ventures 252,317 234,701
NEEEIGBREEFESE (K57F)  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of shareholders’ loan (Note) 171,280 244,589
423,597 479,290
REBELEZSEELELERE Aggregate amounts of the Group's share
of those joint ventures’
FEEE Loss for the year (15,781) (7,839)
H b2 Wam Other comprehensive income (6,653) (47,344)
2 H KRR Total comprehensive income (22,434) (55,183)
Mizh: IHBELECEBBRNIER  SECEES Note: In accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement, both parties to the
B iR R S 15 AR 2 L I R AR 548 B R R joint venture have provided loan capital to the joint venture in proportion to their
MZEECERHUERER - ZFEERA shareholdings and under equal terms. The loans are unsecured, interest bearing
AR L FE R E6.5% K% 5.8% 5 B KA at 6.5% and 5.8% per annum and recoverable within three years subordinated to
BRZEECEERSHEMBER=FA the other financing obtained by the joint venture. Repayment of any amount of
e EEERZSERNSETEZWN the loan requires both ventures’ approval and is subject to the joint venture having
REEMIE BARZAEECERTR sufficient assets after taking into account the external financing and accumulated
SIARMER B BB EBRHNEEERS profits. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loan forms an integral part of the group’s
AEE Al BRREEIBRAEERE equity investment in the joint venture and is recognised as such.

BN RRERE 2 AR BRI IR UL HERR o



228 KEEREEARAFN T NEH

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS AHEHEIN

LAETTAIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 EhEMEE

17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

FEENHR Non-current 31(g)
—FRFEEEMIE LM — Unlisted equity securities not held
I AN 75 for trading 100,701 101,410
—EBFREESEN — Units in private security investment
funds 5,931 44,135
—R5FEH — Trading securities 44,935 42,084
—FERE=FFIE — Receivables from the third parties (i) 1,152,029 1,299,606
—RESRIKRE — Hybrid financial investments (i) 34,726 -
1,338,322 1,487,235
BN &R Current 31(g)
—RESRKE — Hybrid financial investments (i) 100,464 -
—FERE=FFIE — Receivables from the third parties (i) 14,914 340,358
—IEBfE M - Wealth management products 15,092 1,139
130,470 341,497
B Notes:

(ii)

BURE=EREIEAAREBESRTH
E3RemI A -ZSeMEENEED
WEERIE  ZEANFEREEER
MIEHBEROE A SR RBRS - LEHE
At EZ@EE-FHN BRBEFRDA
BEARFTENESREERELEAAE
B /518 /5 437,788,000 7T (=T — )\ F :
169,649,000 7T) ©

RECHREDEHEERETNERHRE -
FFRIEAB15% - I EWIREFHHERNAIS%
RIELR NAABESRIBEAF=RE
MIE ZEeRMEEMNMGLEDRGEERL
FTi8 « AR E X8 EAYE TS BRI
AR R B WHEEAFEEEEE -
RER - LAREETEEEZEHAER
MZEREN AR EENEA 19,434,000 74
T(ZE—NF: &) -

RZE—NEFEERZZFT—-—NLE+=A
=+—HB FMEBEEMERMEERERE
HBmEEREIROERBRBREA
AEEAKR-

@)

(ii)

Receivables from the third parties are classified as level 3 financial instruments in
the fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.
During the year, the fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL amounted
to HK$437,788,000 (2018: HK$169,649,000).

Hybrid financial investments include debt investments to the investees with interest
bearing at 15% per annum plus 45% equity return on the residual value of the
investees, which are classified as level 3 financial instruments in the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from valuations
models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.
During the year, the fair value gain on such investments measured at FVPL
amounted to HK$19,434,000 (2018: nil).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, all of other financial assets are
classified as at FVPL under HKFRS 9.
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18 FEREMEHNRA 18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

MIEER Property development
—FEBRRPEE LM — Leasehold land held for development
for sale 707,332 707,332
—FE/BIEHEERPYE — Property under/held for development
for sale 7,073,589 6,722,466
—HFEERIME — Completed properties for sale 2,132,496 2,603,370
9,913,417 10,033,168
Hih 5% Other operations
KEBERRREER Low value consumables and supplies 7,759 7,822
9,921,176 10,040,990
R — F 1% T8 Bl A] W B A WD 3 RRIB The amount of properties expected to be recovered after more than one
59,649,294,000 7T (= E — )\ F year is HK$9,649,294,000 (2018: HK$9,778,508,000). All of the other
9,778,508,000/&7T) © A E b7 BT inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.
R —F R E o
(a) FEZRPLHMETMESTHT (a) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property development

for sale is as follows:

R EAEAR THEAAS In Mainland China, with remaining
lease term of:
—50 A E - 50 years or more 115,744 118,247
—105FE504 — between 10 and 50 years 2,039,053 2,576,805
2,154,797 2,695,052
REBNHRTHEAR - In Hong Kong, with remaining lease
term of:
—50F 8 A £ - 50 years or more 668,000 668,000
—105FE504F — between 10 and 50 years 707,332 707,332
1,375,332 1,375,332

3,530,129 4,070,384
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18 FEREMEARA @)

(b) REBETHEZRAFBENE

()

Bt HFEBELEREFD
ERFEER THED KBEURSE
WITREMBEE  BRAFBHAH
240

BHRAK
RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HER
EMEHKRAESZ N FYERED
REIEHERES B MR
EEHERNEFPRAEENRER
HMINATCRTMETLEZRZ) °
A KR AT AR B ) B IS TR
HETERRTPERBIEENA]
H—D FATEEBSFER
BERERERHA -

AEERANRBEVBRELRE
155 FEARMAIITRETE - WA
SERTTHRAEENBFEBRZE
FIYEHABNBRRERA B
DRABERIMENHE RS
A KIRIER AN E AR R R

BZ R HEMmERKE

18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)

(b) The Group’s certain leasehold land held for development for sale,

(c)

properties under/held for development for sale and completed
properties for sale were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings, detail of which is set out in Note 24.

Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2019 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of “direct costs” in the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related property sales is recognised. No
significant capitalised costs were recognised in profit or loss during
the year.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS
15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that
the Group otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the contract.

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

U E RN (FNBR B 1B HEHE) Trade debtors, net of loss allowance  31(a) 83,953 82,120
H b e Uk 7108 (FNR EIEBEfE)  Other debtors, net of loss allowance  (1)&31(a) 506,193 647,073
BN —EE T U EIE RIS Less: amount to be recovered more
than one year (210,027) -
i 29,166 647,073
WK A ENEBMEE  Finandial assets measured at
amortised cost 380,119 729,193
& RN HIE Deposits and prepayments (i) 1,173,510 1,120,405

1,553,629 1,849,598
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19 EZRHEMEWE

Wi

R IH (%)

() EtbEUERENREBEERFE M

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The details of other receivables (net of loss allowance) are set out below:

REZHIREER ) Loans to the third parties (a) 302,447 252,567
e — A A ERRIE () Amount due from a joint venture (b) 25,955 -
Hith Others 177,791 394,506

506,193 647,073

(@) BRMEBE=HEZ210,027,0008 T (=
T—)\F: &) (ZEXRCER  KF
FIR13%&tE - BAIR —F % EE)
SN BB EER  RFER X

345% E13% 18 - WAR —F A
@ o

Z—NE+-A=+—8 " ZX
T REERR  RFHNEI18%E20%
e WARERME -

(i) TERIBEMFAFEHINOT

(a) Apart from the loans to the third parties of HK$210,027,000 (2018: nil)
which are secured, interest-bearing at 13% per annum and repayable after
one year, all of the balances were secured, interest-bearing from 3.45% to
13% per annum and recoverable within one year.

(b)  As at 31 December 2019, the amount is unsecured, interest-bearing from
18% to 20% per annum and recoverable on demand.

(i) The details of deposits and prepayments are set out below:

L B - s {58 R 4 E’JTEH/TA Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights 757,677 715,148
W R TER R IE (a Prepayments for acquisition of properties (a) 143,426 146,422
Hit Others 272,407 258,835
1,173,510 1,120,405
@ RZ=Z —)\i& —NWF+=A (@) As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the balance mainly represented the
=+—H #BHEE ﬁ F"J AEERKRR repayment made to a shareholder of the Group for properties acquisition.
PUE D EEL O EE -

(i) BRER DT

RB|ERR - BWE 5 R IR EBREE)
RIBFHZAHORRATAT

(i) Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (net of
loss allowance) based on invoice date was as follows:

—@EAR Within 1 month 43,584 40,253
—Z==18A 1 to 3 months 16,464 16,266
=E=XEA 3 to 6 months 12,349 15,084
NEAE—F 6 months to 1 year 11,556 10,517

83,953 82,120

(v) AEBETREESEEFRABBERTERR -
BN HTE24 -

v BFRAAEEEABRRARESKEMERK
REELNERARRNE— T FBEHRK
F31@) °

(iv)  The Group's certain rental receivables were pledged to secure bank loans, details of
which are set out in Note 24.

(v)  Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 31(a).
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20 SRHEKZEERER

20 RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

ZBR 17 % (BT ) Restricted deposits (Note (i) 49,880 132,295
B TF 3 (PR Gi)) Pledged deposits (Note (ii)) 2,562,762 2,433,386
2,612,642 2,565,681

BT Notes:

(ii)

REABZEXERALD  AKEE TET
YEREIAR N T BB R EANE TR
IRPHRERETERENER - B LERIER
I ES AT DY e £ 93 %N :0E Q]
SEABBTRETE TEE - REERERX
HEME R BN RERARETEERER

EERERIERNEEIER FRITUERR
TRRVE M TE X ° 17302,561,968,000 7 7T (=
T — \4F : 2,432,575,0007% 7T) B & 3 LAEL
BR—FREENRITREE BRHEAE
TENEE °

FEBETROGREEREBUTEE
BT -

@

(ii)

In accordance with relevant construction or redevelopment contracts, certain of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries with property development projects are required to
place at designated bank accounts certain amount of deposits for potential default
in payment of construction costs payables to the relevant contractors or fulfill
certain obligations to the relevant government. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the settlement of the construction costs payables or fulfilment of the
obligations.

Pledged deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to HK$2,561,968,000 (2018:
HK$2,432,575,000) have been pledged to secure bank and borrowings repayable
within one year and are therefore classified as current assets.

The Group's certain bank deposits which were pledged as securities in respect of:

|ITER Bank loan facilities
FITRTFAEEMEERWIZIBEEK  Mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks
to purchasers of the Group’s properties 794 811

2,561,968 2,432,575

2,562,762 2,433,386
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HwEEREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) ReRBELEEBERBE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RIFITHRE R FHERE

Cash at banks and on hand 2,115,129 5,488,739

R-ZE—-AE+=-—A=+—80 R
BITHRERFHEESBERAE
® & T BB A R 5 BT
4 B A9 AR B ST IR 4B R BR
TEFPFHFMEEMEMSREL
%642,395,0008 0 (=& — N\ F :
77,968,000 7T) ° % E17 AN ER
EERITH ARSI AELSHEBYD
XA EEBEREMBRIMNE
HE -ZEFRENBEHREDE
FERK B IRER o

RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H ' 7F
BWtiR{TME S RS EEEE
N E TR A 1,691,138,000 7T (=
T — J\4F : 3,234,185,000/870) - [E
o AR B A i A B B E T R BB
18 0 A D 3 BRI

At 31 December 2019, cash at banks and on hand included
proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling HK$42,395,000
(2018: HK$77,968,000) placed in designated bank accounts by
certain of the Group's PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
documents issued by local government authorities. Such deposits
can only be used for purchases of construction materials and the
payments of construction fees of the relevant property development
projects when approval from the designated bank is obtained. Such
deposits will be released after the completion of the pre-sale of the
relevant properties.

At 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits
with banks in Mainland China amounted to HK$1,691,138,000
(2018: HK$3,234,185,000). Remittance of funds out of Mainland
China is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC
government.
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21 BERBESEEEBUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) BEmEE(BF) BEEMEE (b) Reconciliation of loss/(profit) before taxation to cash used in

RERE R - operations:
—ZT-N\F
2018
(BT 3E)
(Note)
Fr
$'000
BB (E1E) /BT Loss/(profit) before taxation (444,389) 410,151
AT R Adjustments for:
FES WA Interest income 5 (111,289) (665,674)
MERA Finance costs 7(a) 323,353 533,574
WrERE#H Depreciation and amortisation 7(0) 38,447 12,563
BEMERDFAFEL Valuation gains on investment properties
ERREMER and investment properties classified as
CIELER held for sale 12 (197,409) (292,344)
LENB RNk FE Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 6 (565) (20,030)
BRI ARG 2 Loss arising from the derecognition of
HEeREEEERNEE financial assets measured at amortised
cost - 116,529
NEBREBERIEANEE Fair value loss on financial assets measured
AERENERMEEN at FVPL
NAEBEEBRE 6 390,904 179,304
HENERRHELERE Net (gain)/loss on sale of investment
WmEN () /BE properties classified as held for sale
HE 6 (1,611) 450
B 5 N H fth FEU R IE A Impairment losses on trade and
BEER other receivables 28,462 104,078
BREMEERANHE Compensation income for return of prepaid
WA investment cost = (229,657)
BRBTTRRESEE Amortisation of loss arising from the
HEE issuance of convertible bonds 26 1,858 62,898
A RHRR R 5 () 33 Fair value change on conversion option
BRENALEBEED embedded in convertible bonds = (243,220)
HEWE BERZED Net gain on disposal of property, plant and
W% 88 equipment 6 (487) (730)
i 1 45 AR A7 S AP Bl 2 Equity settled share-based payment
expenses 7(b) 2,559 9,163
DL E N EIEE Share of losses of associates 2,621 76,317
DEEEREER Share of losses of joint ventures 15,781 7,839
b M s 5 e Net foreign exchange gain (8,287) (5,963)
BEReEE: Changes in working capital:
FEREME LKA Increase in inventories and other contract
£ costs (315,669) (6,082,454)
25 Rk E M EWFIA (Increase)/decrease in trade and other
sgm ,/Ed receivables (158,752) 2,557,088
ZRHBEL R () Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 82,432 (132,105)
B 5 N Hofth JE S FRIE (Decrease)/increase in trade and other
CRi),/m payables (180,019) 1,119,544
EHaECHD) /i (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (96,902) 63,573
KEeXBMBRES Cash used in operations (628,962) (2,419,106)
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21 HERBEESZEEHERBALUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
EEREER @) CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) (&) (b) (Continued)

M : AEEEBRBEBITERENIE Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

REBMBEREENFE 165 - LR
—T-NFE—A—BABRFUEH
NHEREREAFENERAREEER
HEEE REEELANECRESR
B ENF 17RO BACEHEE -
Rl REBEEAFAAARKBCE
& X MR & 15 5£25,267,000 A
TRDBEARGERERERNEE
EE - RIBB U B REERE 16
5% REHBEEMNRIN KEEEE
HERAEHAENTAFATES
Bt EMBENK - T HMIEEE
INMHEEBRDABEARRBS RFL
o (RHE21(0) A BEARE
WEME - RIBEISETBIE - L&
BHTTES - BREUBEUBRS
ERAIF16HNBETE 2 E—HF
TEFRHTFE2(0) °

approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Previously,
cash payments under operating leases made by the Group as a lessee of
HK$25,267,000 were classified as operating activities in the consolidated
cash flow statement. Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease payments,
payments for leases of low value assets and variable lease payments not
included in the measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on
leases are now split into capital element and interest element (see Note 21(c))
and classified as financing cash outflows. Under the modified retrospective
approach, the comparative information is not restated. Further details on the
impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2(c).
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

bR EREER ) CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() RMETBMEENEEHE (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

TRFMNEBEREFTHAEEND The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
BEZY  RIERSRIERSEEH - financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
BMEFDMELENBEDABE SR Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
%ﬁ*?ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁé$%@ﬁ’]ﬁé flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
RERMEXDERMETDME consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
EREMNAE- activities.

2R

TREMEE TRRES S HEAE BENE
Amounts

Bank and due to
other Convertible Bonds Lease non-controlling

borrowings bonds payable liabilities interests
(Ht24) (i 26) (Hsz27) (M 25) GES7)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 25) (Note 22)
i i i i i

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000

R=B-n% At 1 January 2019

-A-B 8,726,314 1,461,691 783,150
ERERBBEER Impact on initial

ERBIE1652  application of HKFRS 16

1,157,996 12,129,151

FE (M) (Note) - - - 76,918 - 76,918
RZZ-hE—-F Adjusted balance at
—AMEHELRE  1January 2019 8,726,314 1,461,691 783,150 76,918 1,157,996 12,206,069
HERLREZDH . Changes from financing
cash flows:
BRI REMEZ Proceeds from new bank
fiig=s0 and other borrowings 3,481,563 - - - = 3,481,563
BAEEFHENE  Proceeds from issuance of
bonds - - 506,270 - - 506,270
BERTREMEE Repayment of bank and
other borrowings (3,051,426) - - - - (3,051,426)
ERENES Repayment of bonds
payable - - (778,877) - - (778,877)
BEBWERES  Repayment of convertible
bonds - (1,255,932) - - - (1,255,932)
REFEERERR  Advance from non-
23 controlling interests - - - - 93,402 93,402

BEFEZREES  Repayment toa non-
controlling interests - - =
WE‘E HEMER Capital element of lease

(140,502) (140,502)

n rentals paid - - - (38,127) - (38,127)
ERHEERLNFIE Interest element of lease
) rentals paid - - - (5,237) - (5.237)
BNFISREL  Interestand other

HERA borrowing costs paid (544,715) (205,293) (73,793) = = (823,801)
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fEREREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METBFMEENAEHERE) () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

2R

BTRHEEE TRRES &S HEAH B8
Amounts

Bank and due to
other Convertible Bonds Lease non-controlling

borrowings bonds payable liabilities interests
(Hzt24) (GEX) (HaE27) (W& 25) (HrE22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 25) (Note 22)
i i i i i

$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000

BERSREEY  Total changes from

Bg financing cash flows (114,578) (1,461,225) (346,400) (43,364) (47,100) (2,012,667)
ERHE Exchange adjustments (137,510) (466) 3,372) (2,019) (20,413) (163,780)
Hip2 Other changes:
FIB R (H#7@) Interest expense (Note 7(a)) 578,690 7,610 68,054 5,237 1,976 661,567

KEBNFTIHAE Increase in lease liabilties
MAESEEEM  fromentering into new
leases during the period - - - 43,445 = 43,445
BEB(TAAK  Amortisation of loss arising
EFEANER  from the issuance of

(Kizx26) convertible bonds
(Note 26) - 1,858 - - - 1,858
ERFEEEH Change in interest
payables 14,358 (9,468) (1,077) - - 3,813
AEDEE | Toelotherchanges S808 T I L L A
R=B-nE+=A
=t+-H At 31 December 2019 9,067,274 - 500,355 80,217 1,092,459 10,740,305
Misr: REEBDRHEALEBIT B EVEE Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
AEBMEHREERFE 165 W H method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
BA_ZE-—HNFEF—A—B0EYLE lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
8 AERLABHBEES ST £ leases under HKAS 17. See Notes 2(c) and 21(b).

BRI BREEHEEHNEE
BfR - RME2) R21(0)
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fEREREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METHFEENEEHER ) (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

i eMIA
Amounts
Bank and Derivative due to non-
other Convertible financial Note Bonds controlling

borrowings bonds instruments payable payable shareholders

(Mtsk24) (Mt3k26) (Mt 26) (i (M3k22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 22)
S T i T T T
$'000 i $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000

RZ8-N% At 1 January 2018
-A-A 5,585,348 1,299,330 242478 1,183,283 1,171,920 848,585 10,330,944

BERLTHESD:  Changes from financing
cash flows:

MEBAIREMET  Proceeds from new bank and

fifgaE otfer borrowings 5,713,3% - - - - - 5,713,3%
BITEHFETE  Proceeds from issuance of
bonds - - - - 783,150 - 783,150
BERITREMEE  Repayment of bank and other
borrowings (3,121,39%) - - - - - (3,121,39)
ERERESR Repayment of bonds payable - - - - (1,175,505) - (1,175,505)
ERERZE Repayment of note payable - - - (1,211,602) - - (1,211,602)
BAFEREL  Interest and other borrowing
EERAE osts paid (238.270) (97,003) - (62,185) (62,207) (14,697) (474,362)
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fEREREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METBREENEEHE S (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

HfhfEE ARER Tk
Amounts

Bank and Derivative due to non-
other Convertible financial Bonds controlling

borrowings bonds instruments payable shareolders
(Mt 24) (Rrzt26) (Krzt26) (Hz27) (Ri22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 22)
T i T T Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BEARLTEEY  Total changes from financing

&g cash flows 2,353,692 (97,003) - (1,273,781) (454,562) (14,697) 513,643
EngE Exchange adjustments (380,777) 1324 4 28319 5,285 (8,403) (347,510)
28 Other changes:

FIBER (HE7()  Interest expense (Note 7(a)) 373,401 169,671 - 62,185 81,272 14,697 701,226
BEBMARES  Amortisation of oss arising
ELNEE from the issuance of
(B3 26) convertible bonds
(Note 26) - 62,898 - - - - 62,898

RATARESRN  Fairvalue change on
ERERED conversion option

NEEZY embedded in convertible

(By3E26) bonds (Note 26) - - (243,220) - - - (243220
WERBAT Acquisition of subsidiaries 826,357 - - - - 317,814 1,144,171
HENWBAA Disposal of subsidiaries (15,612) - - - - - (15,612)
EMF2EY Change in interest payables (16,095) 19471 - - (20,765) - (17,389
L ggian Total other changes 1,168,051 252,040 (243,220) 62,185 60,507 33251 1,632,074

RZE-NE At 31 December 2018
+ZB=+-H 8,726,314 1,461,691 - - 783,150 1,157,996 12,129,151
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fBREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

d) HERSRHLHE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEEF AR SRER ZKRIBAMU Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
TNEIEAK : the following:

—E-N\F
PAONE:]
(HH3E)
(Note)
T
$'000
REEEBFEREN Within operating cash flows 3,602 25,267
RRERESREN Within financing cash flows 43,364 -
46,966 25,267
BEEE : AP FE21(b) R MT sE AT I - A FH Note: As explained in the note to Note 21(b), the adoption of HKFRS 16 introduces
BB REERFE 1R YUEENE a change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals paid on leases. The
FTENHENBSRENEET - comparative amounts have not been restated.

RSB TED -

ZESRENTEIEAR These amounts relate to the following:

BEMNHERS Lease rentals paid 46,966 25,267
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21 HEeERBEEEEBAURAE
HESREER @
(e) HEMBAT
(i) FRINTHZBEREERER
RAAREBENBAR - K=
T-hF—HA—H A&EEH
BYE =B EAREE
BRI ARSI AR 1 o
#wREAAR3,130,000T
(#8% 73,561,000 7T) °

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Disposal of subsidiaries
(i) Shenzhen Laimeng Duhui Investment Development Co.,
Limited was a subsidiary of the Group. On 1 January 2019,
the Group entered into the Share Purchase Agreement with
an independent third party, for disposal of equity interest held
by the Group. The total consideration was RMB3,130,000
(equivalent to HK$3,561,000).

PEFEHAEBNEERA The total effect of the above disposals on the Group’s assets
BEOMALENT : and liabilities is set out below:
Bt 5 T
Note $'000
RehReEMBEIER Cash and cash equivalents 3,561
REBEEEEEFE Net assets attributable to the Group 3,561
BB A AR Gain on disposal of the subsidiary 6 -
RfE Considerations 3,561
FrtEMReRREEEESR Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (3,561)

A mAFRE

Net cash inflow -




242 FEERSEEERAT T AEH

REMBHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 RERBEESEEEAEUREAE
HEBEEREER @

(e) HEMEBLR (5)

iy EEMASZHEEEEARA
AAAEEKBAR KT
—N\F AEEHEBIE=F
B & K = @ Fr i A R AR
EEVUBERGE LES
BR-_E—NFmk- 2R
B8 A AR 3250007 (HHE
362,000 L) F MR ZF
—NEFERLENKZFER
565,000 7% 7T (KisE6) -

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(e) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)
(i) Qingdao Laimeng Business Management Co., Limited was a
subsidiary of the Group. The Group entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement with an independent third party in 2018
for disposal of equity interest held by the Group and the
disposal was completed in 2019. The total consideration was
RMB325,000 (equivalent to HK$362,000) and net gain on
disposal of HK$565,000 was recognised during 2019 (Note 6).

HEFEHASENEERA The total effect of the above disposals on the Group’s assets
BEOMALENT : and liabilities is set out below:
B o T
Note $'000
HEMmE - BEK&H Other property, plant and equipment 12 3,174
B 5k EAMEUW A Trade and other receivables 2,104
RehReEMEIER Cash and cash equivalents 1,376
B 5 hEMENFIE Trade and other payables (6,857)
REEBEEBEFE Net liabilities attributable to the Group (203)
B A R M s Gain on disposal of the subsidiary 6 565
RE Considerations 362
B RAFEEBBARBREKE Less: considerations to be received
subsequent to current year (139)
B RAFERERRERS Less: consideration deposits received
before current year (112)
FREWARE Consideration received during the year 111
FAbEMREMREEEIESE Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (1,376)

RemdFa

Net cash outflow (1,265)
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

243

B 5 e A Trade payables (i) 163,595 184,408
HEm SRR ETER Other creditors and accrued charges (i) 2,265,184 2,667,301
FE IE IR AR R 2R SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests (iii) 1,092,459 1,157,996
WEBHK A ENSR AR Finandial liabilities measured at
amortised cost 3,521,238 4,009,705
e kHtize Rental and other deposits 98,062 79,150
B W R IE Receipts in advance 27,417 28,403
3,646,717 4,117,258
B eE - Notes:
() MRBEPEEED FABRSREMEMNK (i) Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing

BENESEMNFBEREEZAHNERES
T -

analysis based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

—@EAR Within 1 month 69,622 67,462
—Z=18A 1 to 3 months 43,168 37,526
=EXEA 3 to 6 months 21,872 31,262
NERE—%F 6 months to 1 year 22,790 16,937
iR —F Over 1 year 6,143 31,221
163,595 184,408

iy AEEMAEHEMEMNERREGTEHRELD (i) All of the Group’s other creditors and accrued charges are expected to be settled

RN—FNEE S ERBRARE EEREE
& —%4£%51,796,425,00078 T (ZZE— 1\
£ :2,134,391,000 4 70) B BRI - %%
HAKEETERNRRZEMENMGT
BE MZEVEBHERN BB —FREE -

iy RZZ—NF+—A=+—8 28EMNFE
P2 RGAE 25 7R 0B 1,092,459,000 78 T A 4K 4 -
fB  WARERKEE -

RZZ—N\E+=-A=+—H  BENIEEZE
Pi% 4 25 378 924,554,000 78 7T 5 % B 40 BT
BREBYBEER  ZFIRA35%TE I
AR —F N EEREE -

(iii)

or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand except for
an amount of HK$1,796,425,000 (2018: HK$2,134,391,000), which presents
estimated value of future settlement properties to be compensated to residents,

which is expected to be settled after more than one year.

As at 31 December 2019, all of the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
HK$1,092,459,000 are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2018, apart from the amounts due to non-controlling interests
of HK$924,554,000 which are interest-free, all of the balances are unsecured,
interest-bearing at 4.35% and repayable within one year or on demand.



244 FEEREEERAT T AR

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23 EWEE 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

5T 5138 B M TE YRR

Receipts in advance in respect of

—MEHE — Sales of properties 47,222 138,546
—WEEERB — Property management services 11,355 16,933
58,577 155,479

HOHEREGHWABENESRATEN R

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities

SAHEFRAT - recognised are as follows:
— YIERR - Property development

BFmRME » 25K B A £ R ED
RET (MFRBEYERD) K B
KE P W ERRABEAHE -
ZHBEWREFEEHANAENS
BEWERNEERKRTYRMAEY
NEER - LI EHNRERERIE

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion
of the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract

AEBERFAMERAXSEEN K
f MR AE {5k B B 2= B S B A2 A5 B BB
HRENEEFESEAREMa
MR E - BN ZERT & A 1E R FH
ZHMEMNANAESRE At B
BERHNWASBERERITYENE
HEEBERPRIEM -

price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect
the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property. As this accrual increases the amount of
the contract liabilities during the period of development, it therefore
increases the amount of revenue recognised when control of the
completed property is transferred to the customer.
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23 EHEBE® 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

- YIERRE) - Property development (Continued)
BREEES

Movements in contract liabilities

R—A—RikEH
RENERTAGHAEN
FRBABHADAERD

Balance at 1 January 155,479 666,561
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result

of recognising revenue during the

year that was included in the contract

liabilities at the beginning of the year (141,361) (68,378)
HENBRRIEREL Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
BERD of disposal of subsidiaries = (574,655)
RERDEEZTFWERBZE  Increase in contract liabilities as a result
HERNFIEEHENAE of receiving advanced payments of
N sales of properties during the year
in respect of properties still under
construction as at the year end 43,226 106,633
BRR GRS I8 NE 2 Increase in contract liabilities as a result
ABREEEM of accruing interest expense on
advances 6,961 1,038
MEHZR Exchange difference (5,728) 24,280
Rt A=+—B80&s Balance at 31 December 58,577 155,479

BERNEHERMEEERBNZ
R—FRERSBANTARFIRTE
HREB(ZE-N\F: H\) -

The amount of receipts in advance in respect of sales of properties
and property management services expected to be recognised as
income after more than one year is nil (2018: Nil).
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24 RITREMBE 24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RZZE-AF+ZA=+—8 RTK At 31 December 2019, bank and other borrowings were analysed as
HitEEDMAOT : follows:

RITER Bank loans
— B — Secured 8,132,594 7,114,505
— A — Unsecured = 593,714
8,132,594 7,708,219
Hifg & Other borrowings
— 75 AR (iii) — Secured (iii) 934,680 939,780
— &I (iv) — Unsecured (iv) - 78,315
e eac . 1.018095
9,067,274 8,726,314
R-ZE—hF+-_A=+—8 FE17k At 31 December 2019, bank and other borrowings were repayable as
HEMEENERBEANAT : follows:

—FRIBITARBASE Within 1 year and included in current
liabilities 3,947,660 3,322,635

—FHRINPITTAFREEME:  After 1 year and included in non-
current liabilities:

—FREMTR After 1 year but within 2 years 1,845,814 1,438,228
MEEBERFR After 2 years but within 5 years 1,835,284 2,632,136
hEE After 5 years 1,438,516 1,333,315

5,119,614 5,403,679

9,067,274 8,726,314
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24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

R_ZB—AFE+-_A=+—8 $HTEX 0)
BEMENF279% £85% (ZF— )\ 4F :
1.56% £ 12%) 5H B LA T & EEHR I8 -

At 31 December 2019, the bank loans bore interest ranging from 2.79% to 8.5%
(2018: 1.56% to 12%) per annum and were secured by the following assets:

"EYE Investment properties 4,958,520 4,356,206
Hth T3 RIEF Other land and buildings 9,049 66,407
FE Inventories 4,278,237 4,229,079
EHEBER Pledged deposits 2,561,968 2,432,575
fEYE Rental receivables 11,515 9,435
“Et Total 11,819,289 11,093,702

R-ZB-—AE+-A=+—8 " RITEKA
R ¥1,717,500,000 7 (8% 7 1,914,067,000
B) (ZF—/\F : AR#¥600,000,0007T
(1% 7 683,138,000870) ) ARNEBE AN —K
R E R R AR RS (R - WIRFHE R
E539%E85% (=T —/\F:85%)st8 °

R-E—NAE+-A=+—0 BEHEM
EBEEREAEE —BRE - ZEBERFHNX
13% (ZZ—N\F :13%) 5T 8 ' HAE
ER—HNBARMRAES RAEER
%M B R EME RS TR R B R EE R

R-T—AF+-A=+—8 SEMLH
BEREREE—ZEZ - ZEEAME
# REFIE166%HBIR-F—NEF=
AfEiE -

R-_B—AFE+-_A=+—8 A%£EE
TERA £ AR % 207,500,000 7T (185 7
231,249,000/ TN =T — \F : )W &
AENHRA - FRTABEHETEEER
—RHT B AR RS ARV Y EER
M ARURARBEET S FAF o LIiRITE
HEBR-_Z-AhE+=-A=+—H8BKH
BRREADPBEARBEE -

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2019, the bank loan of RMB1,717,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,914,067,000) (2018: RMB600,000,000 (equivalent to HK$683,138,000))
is secured by equity interest in subsidiaries within the Group with the average
interest-bearing from 5.39% to 8.5% (2018: 8.5%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, the secured other borrowing was from a shareholder of
the Group. The borrowing is interest-bearing at 13% (2018:13%) per annum and
secured by equity interest in a subsidiary within the Group and certain shareholder’s
loan lent by the Group to the subsidiary.

As at 31 December 2018, the unsecured other borrowing was from a third party of
the Group. The borrowing is unsecured, interest-bearing at 16.6% per annum and
was repaid at March 2019.

At 31 December 2019, bank loans of the Group totaling RMB207,500,000
(equivalent to HK$231,249,000) (2018: nil) were not in compliance with the
imposed covenants. Such non-compliance primarily related to a subsidiary which
failed to achieve certain monthly rental income earned from the underlying
properties at the end of the reporting period. All of the above bank loans were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position at
31 December 2019.
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25

26

HERE
TRBIIN B R 2 RS R R
EEANBRELALICREAAEE
AEAEHRBAVERRAMT

25

LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
periods and at the date of transition to HKFRS 16:

R=ZB-hE+=-A=+-H
At 31 December 2019
BEHENNEAE HKEAEAREHE
Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

RZZE—-NE—A—R (fi:)
At 1 January 2019 (Note)
REHERFEE

HEREMNFHRE
Present value

of the minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

Tr T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000
—ER Within 1 year 31,604 35,258 19,609 23,862
—FRERFA After 1 year but within 2 years 10,518 13,017 12,368 15,775
MERBERER After 2 years but within 5 years 11,932 20,244 6,551 14,866
h%#% After 5 years 26,163 31,466 38,390 47,906
48,613 64,727 57,309 78,547
80,217 99,985 76,918 102,409

A RRFERX Less: total future interest
axs expenses (19,768) (25,491)
HERRERE Present value of lease liabilities 80,217 76,918

M : AREEEREEITERER —"Z—NF
—A—REREAEEVBERESLELE 16
WU RB_T-hF—A-BNEIE
B NEEREZARBEEEGHERE17
FoBAKERENEESRNEE A
EEBE-R_F-N\F+t-_A=+—HH
HERANYEES - EHBEEE BB
WERERE16ROTEFBRHNMTE20)

AR E 5
R-ZT—R"FE—AABR=ZA=1+—8"
XA A5 R 4T & 2<% $8 100,000,000 3
TR —NFE ORI TR ES
H 750,000,000 3 JT #) 7] 32 IR & % 8 17
FARAR—BRE - ZSEHFIEFEF R
6.00% T B @ BB FFMRFE - A
A RBREYT HIRERETAR3.8289 8T °
HBERABEEZENK325348 L HTER
BEFBTRERERRE ZEBEHFBHAE
SEETH B AR AR A (BRI
WA EEE T H B A RIEER -

AMBRESHEBRFEMNENF12.29%
£13.98% c FTAIBMKREF & -
219,156,000/8 ST B E5 B A Al IR AR E 5 /Y
BEIDEE  WHRATRRES ™
VEHES o

26

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach
and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17. Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated.
Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2(c).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 6 January and 21 March 2016, the Company issued two tranches
of convertible bonds with each principal amount of US$100 million due
in 2019 respectively, in which US$50 million of the convertible bonds
was issued to a shareholder of the Company. The bonds are interest-
bearing at 6.00% per annum which is payable semi-annually in arrears
and are convertible at initial conversion price of HK$3.8289 per share.
The conversion price was adjusted to HK$3.2534 per share as a result of
the declaration of dividends since the issuance of the bonds. The bonds
are secured by equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries and
guaranteed by the Group’s certain subsidiaries.

The effective interest of the convertible bonds is 12.29% to 13.98%
per annum. Upon the issuance of the convertible bonds, a loss of
HK$219,156,000 was offset against the liability component of the
convertible bonds and will be amortised over the period of the convertible
bonds.
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26 ATRRMES ) 26 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
MAFBRBRESNERERZELSFEEA Conversion option embedded in the convertible bonds represents the
ERESNERENALEE WK fair value of the holder’s option to convert the bonds and is recorded as
BITES BT A (BEE31() derivative financial instruments (Note 31(f)).

R-Z—+F > e /TEEEBRERNAA] In 2017, the convertible bonds with principal amount of US$35,169,000
RS {E %5 A © %8 535,169,000 % 70 (1B & (equivalent to HK$277,768,000) in respect of which conversion rights
12 277,768,000 8 7T) B 478,102,177 have been exercised were converted to 78,102,177 ordinary shares of the
RARBEBR - FR - SEITBRKRES Company. During the year, no convertible bonds were converted.

agn o

ARREFER=_ZE-NF—ALBER - The convertible bonds were redeemed on 7 January 2019.

MR & B 4R S B B AR 0 2k TR 80 AT R AR The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position of the Group are analysed as follows:

a8EH2 PTETAEZRS
Liability Derivative

component component
T T
$'000 $'000

RZZ—/\F—H—H At1January 2018 1,299,330 242,478 1,541,808

BB (3£6) Amortisation of initial loss

(Note 6) 62,898 - 62,898

F B (M5E7@)  Interest expenses (Note 7(a)) 169,671 - 169,671
REANME R FE Interest expenses paid during

i3 the year (77,532) - (77,532)
HEIREERYERY A SL{B{E Fair value change on conversion

2% (f:Ee6) option (Note 6) - (243,220) (243,220)
MEHZERE Exchange difference 7,324 742 8,066
RZZT—\F At 31 December 2018 and

+ZA=+—HK 1 January 2019

—E-NAF—-H—H 1,461,691 - 1,461,691

WA R (M55 6)  Amortisation of initial loss

(Note 6) 1,858 - 1,858
FBF (Kfi3E7@)  Interest expenses (Note 7(a)) 7,610 = 7,610
RERNNERNTE Interest expenses paid during
i the year (214,761) = (214,761)
FRNEE Settlement during the year (1,255,932) - (1,255,932)
E & =% Exchange difference (466) = (466)
RZZT—NF At 31 December 2019

+=—A=+—8” - - -
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27 BES 27 BONDS PAYABLE

RZ=ZF—NFFH1#7100,000,000 USD100 million due in 2019 (Note (i)

e E0) - 783,150
MNZ=Z =T F H|HI#9 65,000,000  USD65 million due in 2020 (Note (ii)
S 7T (BFEE() 500,355 -
500,355 783,150
Bt 3 Notes:
(i) RIZT—NFLB -t/ B KEBBTE (i) On 26 September 2018, the Group issued a tranche of bond of USD100,000,000
#3100,000,000 3 7t (#8 % 1 783,150,000 5% (equivalent HK$783,150,000) due in 2019. The corporate bond was interest-
TR -_E—NFRNHEN—HEHF - Z AT bearing at 9.5% per annum and redeemed during the year.
BEHRIRFNEIS% TR RRFENED o
(i) MZE-—AFEAA=-++tBH AEBEHE— (i)~ On 27 September 2019, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with a
Z % =& =65,000000% 7T (HER third party for Private Offering of Corporate Bonds of USD 65,000,000 (equivalent
500,355,000 70) A RIfEHFHIIEAFEER] HK$500,355,000). The amount is interest-bearing at 9.5% per annum and secured
UREHE RS BERFFEISKEE by issued share capital of a subsidiary and receivables owned by the Company.
Wi — B AREFHITRAURAR A
B B R R IBHE R o
28 &1k 28 PROVISION
—T-N\F
2018
(Ht3E)
(Note)
T
$'000
WZE—-N\F—H—H At 1 January 2018 51,971
5y Utilisation (8,789)
ME W, =R Exchange difference (3,868)
R N\FE+_-_A=+— At 31 December 2018 39,314
W R —F AR IR RN AR Less: current portion to be realised within one year (24,408)
14,906
et : AEBBEAKBIEPREIR _T—ILF Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
—A—HEREREEMBRELE 16 retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not
o MBM T E  LBREMTFEY R restated. See Note 2(c).
B3 2(c) ©
RARABIRZE-NF-A—BpEEF Provision was made for the best estimate of the expected loss under
B B 2B T TR BB B e A AT A leaseback arrangement with customers as at 31 December 2018. By initial
REE - RBENERR B RE LR application of HKFRS 16, the provision related to leaseback arrangement
e HEZHENBEARH _T—A was as an adjustment item to the carrying amount of right-of-use assets

F—HA—BERAEEEREEMENRE - as at 1 January 2019.
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29 B%HE EELROEBE®BANIZ 29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

() BRABRBEABRE S
AR FRA B R DB AR A

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Company has a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme whereby the

AE B ARRESERER
WEEBEAEBEES (BIEASEEE
TEMARNES) AREFHER
1008 T MBRE  URERX
RARHD R_ZE—ZFTF+=-_F=
H - RIEE XA SR ERER
2|4 H % 34,371,667 10 B AR AE -
B EER ET AR BT ER
E) BEARAARAN S EES
BEA=-FRZE2RE HEAR
RO BHE - FHMAITE-
PRATIE(E A 2.4928 7T » BIARRQ AR
NERXAFAEEERIL0% - BT
AT SER 18 (B M RE30(i) «+ B
ITEEFHAEZE1.7808 T - FHER

directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
employees of the Group, including directors of any company in the
Group, to take up options at consideration of HK$1.00 per grant to
subscribe for shares of the Company. On 3 December 2010, a total
number of 34,371,667 share options were granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme. The options will fully vest after three years
from the Listing Date or, as the case may be, the first anniversary
date of the employment commencement date of the relevant
grantees, and are then exercisable within a period of 10 years from
the date of grant. The exercise price per share is HK$2.492, being
40% of the price of IPO of shares of the Company. Upon completion
of the bonus issue (see Note 30(c)(ii)), the exercise price per share
was adjusted to HK$1.780. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross
in shares.

BT HBARA ARBARR
—RERAL - AR BB -

() BWHOEREZESEDT : (i)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

RBIRE
TAYE BERK BHEHY

Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options

M—HBEEREAERE
Options granted to a director:
-R-_E-ZTFE+_HA=H 1,166,667 -7 B HifEET —F (30%) ° T
—on 3 December 2010 4 (60%) & = 4F (100%) 10 years
One year (30%), two years (60%)
and three years (100%) from the

Listing Date
MERERRE K EE R DA REARE
Options granted to senior
management and employees:
—RIZT-ZTF+-A=H 33,205,000 F7THEEEF—F(30%) T
—on 3 December 2010 4 (60%) & = £F (100%) 10 years

One year (30%), two years (60%)
and three years (100%) from the
Listing Date

EREAEREAY 34,371,667
Total share options granted
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zggﬁﬁ%u&ﬁﬁgﬁmﬁ
(%)
(a) BXAHBEBRENE (B
(i) BERENHE RMEFHITE
BT :

29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(i)  The number and weighted average exercise price of share
options are as follows:

“EB-AF
2019
BREHE

—E-N\F
PAONE:]
EREHE
Number of
options
TR

‘000

Number of
options
TR

'000

REPHARITRE Outstanding at the beginning of

the year 1,682 2,137
FRITE Exercised during the year (157) (455)
RER B ARITHE Outstanding at the end of the year 1,525 1,682
REKA FII{E Exercisable at the end of the year 1,525 1,682

HE-T-\FR-F-NF
+t=A=+-RILEE UE
G ONGE S
B PR -

HEZ-—hF+ZA=1+—
BIEFE  BITEERERTT
A EAR NiE TR ER2.73
B (ZZE—N\F:3.83%5T) °
RZE—NF+=-A=+—H
i AR 1T {65 A B A A AN A 39 4T
FEAR1.78B T (ZE—NF:
1.78%7T)  MEFHFLE
HFEROIF (ZF—\F:
1.94) o

No share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
granted during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
shares options exercised during the year ended 31 December
2019 was HK$2.73 (2018: HK$3.83). The share options
outstanding at 31 December 2019 had a weighted average
exercise price of HK$1.78 (2018: HK$1.78) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 0.9 (2018: 1.9) years.
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29 REEEURGDABEBRNR

2 (&)

(b) BXRABRE R0 RE S
RIEE IR AR E RIS 2R T8l -
ARRMAEEETFEERTAH
6,452,000 % (B A{b 8 1718) AR A
B WREFEEHAREE R I3
BRATELEAERU RS HEHF
HANRBRRFE — - AERE
EEB—BEH TUSKREEE
LR, - EAZNEAZE AT
PR - EEIR DS R IR BB =
FhxrEBE AERPAERLE
R0 MEBE AR T R R R E A B
M RIBR SN o AR R H A 52 E
B 1 AR 0 BBV ST FT 4 B R
M (ERL31THR) B E - 31T
KRR SEAK %% (RLBT 3E30(0)i) @ B
A 2,067,200 IR EERHAL 15 ©

BE-_Z—N\FEER_ZT—hLF+=
A=+—BLFE HEREEX
NABERR G R TR L EE
B o

B AR S R AT

29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

Under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme, a total number of 6,452,000
(after capitalisation issue) shares of the Company was awarded to
certain employees of the Group as a means of recognising their
contributions to the early development of the Group and aligning
their interests with the shareholders of the Company. The eligible
employees received an offer to be granted by the awarded shares
at nil consideration but subject to a six-month lock-up period. The
awarded shares will fully vest after three years from the date of
award and are valid and effective for unlimited period unless a
triggering event has arisen upon the occurrence of certain events.
The shares awarded by the Company will be settled with the
shares (after capitalisation issue) held by a share award trust. Upon
completion of the bonus issue (see Note 30(c)(ii)), a total number of
2,067,200 awarded shares were adjusted.

No shares were awarded under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

TAHE BEKRG

Number of
instruments Vesting condition

e 8 &% 8 it
Shares awarded to employees:
—-RZE-ZTF+-A=H 6,452,000 B#E M AL —F(30%) - M (60%) & =4 (100%)
—on 3 December 2010 One year (30%), two years (60%) and three years (100%)
from the date of award
B2 Z—N\HFK-_ZT—NAF+= There was no outstanding awarded shares during the year ended 31
A=+—BLFE BEARTRE December 2018 and 2019.

REED °
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29 RELZEURGAREBANR
2 (4#)
(0 BEXPHABREALRERESE
AATRAERAPREELBERE
HE URRTEXYEERES
B4 ok AT B AN = B4R 9 B B o

BRAFRBERBRETIETH
BAAE - AR BOE R Bl IR R
ARREEEEHHE (TEBE T
B +F) AERRRITE

RZE—RE+-AHB ~A7F
BEEBRAFAEEEBRETSIMN
BHEHE1.0008 THRERAR
7] {& 8 #% 131,000,000 15 BE i% #E -
SHEBRESR FIFB AEFNRE
ANRAR—REE0N BT LB -
G EREREENEHB SR =F
BEERB WAR T /NFH
1TME o 1T1E(B 52.796 78 TC - ANA A
TERABEREIINKTES2.7
FEIT

29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme which was to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the employees
and directors have made or may make to the Group.

An option under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme
at any time during a period as determined by the directors of the
Company, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of
grant.

On 5 December 2016, 31,000,000 share options were granted at a
consideration of HK$1.000 per grant paid by the employees of the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company. These share options will fully vest
after three years from the date of grant, and then be exercisable
until 2026. The exercise prices is HK$2.796. The closing price of
the Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the grant was
HK$2.7.
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29 REZEURODEEBANET 29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

2 (8 (Continued)
() BEXRLHRERBRETE(H (c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
() WHOIEREGESEDT : () The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

B
TABE HBEERKRME BHEHY

Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options

A—REFROOERE :

Options granted to directors:

—-RZZE—ZFXAZ+RAH 4,400,000 B HHRF—FG0%) T4
— 26 June 2012 M4 (60%) }2 = 45 (100%) 10 years
-RZE—=FA=+H 5,700,000  One year (30%), two years (60%)

—20 June 2013 and three years (100%) from the
~-RZZE—RAFHA=-FTN\H 34,000,000 date of grant

- 28 April 2015

—-RZE-—RAFET+A=Z+=H 10,000,000

— 23 October 2015
MERERENEBRDOEEE:
Options granted to senior

management and employees:

—RZZE—ZFAZ+H 11,320,000 HEHEHREF—5(30%) T
— 26 June 2012 M4 (60%) 2 = 45 (100%) 10 years
—-R-ZE—=ZFA=-1+H 8,300,000 One year (30%), two years (60%)

—20 June 2013 and three years (100%) from the
-RZE—RFMA=-+NH 48,650,000 date of grant

—28 April 2015

-RZE—RFNLANA 3,000,000

— 8 September 2015

—-RZE-XRE+-AHAH 31,000,000

— 5 December 2016

BRI AR 156,370,000
Total share options granted
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zggﬁﬁ%u&ﬁﬁgﬁmﬁ
(%)
() BXAHBRERBERENE (B
(i) BERENHE RMEFHITE
BT :

29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(i)  The number and weighted average exercise price of share
options are as follows:

—EB-AF
2019
BREHE

—E-N\F
2018
EREHE
Number of
options
TR

‘000

Number of
options
TR

'000

RE B ARITHE Outstanding at the beginning of the

year 101,056 103,848
FRITE Exercised during the year = (1,682)
FREI Forfeited during the year (3.680) (1,110)
RER B ARITHE Outstanding at the end of the year 97,376 101,056
REKA FII{E Exercisable at the end of the year 97,376 88,858

HE_Z—N\F+tZA=1+—
HIEFE  BiTEBRERTT
£ B EA A N #E 9 IR B A 3.40
FETT

RZZT—NF+ZA=1+—H
T8 A% 1T {55 Y B A A4 39 1T
FEAR3208T(ZT—NF:
3198 70)  MEFHE%E
HNEHRES6F (ZT—\F:
6.6%F) °

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
shares options exercised during the year ended 31 December
2018 was HK$3.40.

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2019 had a
weighted average exercise price of $3.20 (2018: HK$3.19)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.6 years
(2018: 6.6 years).
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30 BRA - RERRE 30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) EFAKBLHNEH (a) Movements in components of equity
REBGEERSHEKE D E The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
REKREHZENHRENGEE each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
HEBBEK - ARNARFVEFRE consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
MERERAKT DN EBFER in the Company’s individual components of equity between the
T beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

ROKAK
ARRE S REEN/
Bx  ROBEE ELNEE EARE  (RHER)

Reserve Retained

arising from profits/
Share Share issuance Capital (accumulated
capital premium reserve
i Tr i
$'000

W=Z2-NE-FA—H  Balanceat 1January 2018
A 138,344 1,943,603 14,355 73,247 740,639 2,910,188

“E-\FEREE: Changes in equity for 2018:

EEEER2AWELE  Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - (189,085 (189,085)
RIEERAFEERRENR Issuance of new shares under the
NRBEREREEE  Pre-PO and Post-IPO Share Option

TR (IREE () Schemes (Note (c)(i) 214 7,656 - (3,011) - 4,859
REEE LR AEMEE  Equity settled share-based
25 transactions - - - 9,163 - 9,163
B UERIEREERY  Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (898) - (898)
TEERAENRE (FFE(b) Dividend approved in respect of the
previous year (Note (b)) - - - - (397,573) (397,573)

R=Z-NE+=B=+- Balance at 31 December 2018 and
ANEBRR=Z—1E Adjusted balance on 1 January
-B-BRMEA%EE 2019 (Note)
(H3E) 138,558 1,951,259 14,355 78,501 153,981 2,336,654

“E-NERREE. Changes in equity for 2019:

FEFBREAMNELE  Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 2587670 2,587,670
REBRDFAEENREL Issuance of new shares under the
DABEEBEREIEE  PrePO and Post-IPO Share Option

TR (M () Schemes (Note (c)(i) 15 896 - (632) - 279
PERNATARESET Issuance of new shares upon conversion
ik of PCSs 2,700 - (2,700) - - -
REEE LR AEMBE  Equity settled share-based
25 transactions - - - 2,559 - 2,559
BRUEREREERED  Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (2,078) - (2,078)
TEEMAENIE (M (b)) Dividend approved in respect of the
previous year (Note (b)) - - - - (91,757) (91,757)
R-Z-NE Balance at 31 December 2019
TZAZt-BIER 141273 1,952,155 11,655 78350 2649894 4,833,327
i : AEE (BEARRER=ZZT— A Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS 16 at
F-A—BERAKETEREZNS 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
ERAEEMBERELEREI65 - B approach, comparative information is not restated and there is no net effect
Bt A% hREMTTFEY - B on the opening balance of the Company’s equity as at 1 January 2019. See
ARBRZZE-—NAF—A—HHR Note 2(c) and Note 35.

HENERT EERFELE - R
#E2(c) R FE3S ©



258 XEEREEARAFN T NEH

mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

30 BRA - RERERE @ 30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) BE (b) Dividends
(i) FAENSEAAEZRRE K (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
AAMBBREBSHEANRE Company and holders of PCSs attributable to the year

MEHHEEREZERIRER Final dividend proposed after the
RERE B L B EER  end of the reporting period of

KA AT AR 8 55 2 S HK2 cents (2018: HK6 cents) per

(ZE—NF 681) ordinary share and unit of PCSs 30,586 91,757
RIREHEEE R EHIRE The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
B 7R B AR B I 48 70 R 5 A P A4 period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
EHHBRRAEE - reporting period.

(i) E—EERBFEEREMNERTE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

BRRINFARLEREMD Company attributable to the previous financial year,
BE approved and paid during the year

FRPERE R E— @8 Final dividend in respect of the
FERHVESRLMALS  previous financial year, approved
TBRKAAERFES 611 and paid during the year, of HK6
(ZZ—N\F : 2678) cents (2018: HK26 cents) per
ordinary share and unit of PCSs 91,757 397,573
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30 BA - REERE @) 30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(I &N (c) Share capital

AN
The Company
o —EN\F
2019 2018

RAEE S8 B8 |

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
TR Tr F & F

‘000 $'000 '000 $'000

EE Authorised:

SHEE0.107TH  Ordinary shares of $0.10 each

T 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
ERTRBEN Ordinary shares, issued and

EER fully paid:
n—A—H At 1 January 1,385,576 138,558 1,383,439 138,344

BEE X AFEER Issuance of new shares under

RERDFEER  the Pre-IPO and Post-IPO

g BT Share Option Schemes

B (BHEE()) (Note (i) 157 15 2,137 214
WA R AR Issuance of new shares upon

HRBETHRG conversion of PCSs (Note (i)

GELD) 27,000 2,700 - -
RIEEITAR (5 —  Issuance of new shares under

BIEAKATERE  bonus issue (with PCSs as an

BH)BITHRD  alternative) (Note (i)

GELD) - - - -
N+=—A=+—H At31 December 1,412,733 141,273 1,385,576 138,558
LARFEE AR BRI R E K& The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
fRE WHERARARNE LRE declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
RGO IE—F AR RNBTE at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

EmE A SERIZEERSH - regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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(RS AHEHEIN

(Expressed in Hong

30 R4S - EERRE

LAETTEIR)

Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

=

(43
("5 )

(o) KA (&)

Wi
0

(i)

BE-_ZT—h&E+-_A=+—HBLHE
B BERARESABRETEET
157,0001% (== — )\ 4 : 455,0001%)
BREREAAABERERES
BETHE(ZF—/\F : 1,681,500
7)) BREEITE  URBEARQA
157,000 % (== — )\ : 2,136,500
&) Limak - REH B AERR1.7807%
T (ZZE—N\F:1.7808 T * 2.264
77T~ 3.300/8 7T ~ 2.796/8 T) E AR
FRO010BITL (ZFT—/\F : 0108
T0) B AR - 8RB AIET A RS 5=
B ° 632,000 (Z T — \F :
3,011,000 7T) B R # BT 5% 2(v)(i)
g BRERAEEERERNG

A -

REARAR -_ZE—=FAA+AA
BITHRREFRIAE @B T AR
mEARFECRESRADRRNDE
R AR S M AR T AR 1 O B R =
T—=FRA_FTHA(CHEH) &
Bl 1 B AR 3R A AT ) BRCR B AT ALRR
i 7% 5 % R 4 R R ABIUK A BT # i
EH AR EZ 3D A ARACEE o

KA BRRE S RIE LT R A ER -
EL P B 2 MR N R K A R SR AR R
FAEABRBKATMRRES LBR
55 (7] 15 5 £ O £ 028 40K A RIS AR AR 3
B T R A AR R B T AT AU ER
AL BB MR t) o AR B A E &
BRREREEFARESBRERDIK B
ARRIERKAFTRBESFFEA
DIKAEFSBENRSR LK

RZE—=FA=+H BHHE
8 &3 BR %8 15,036,560 78 7T & 75 S
2 £ 150,365,600 A% & i% B {£0.10
FETTE L BARAR SR - W MR R FAL
% T If 4 388 42 U B K A AT R AR 75 55 9
AR AC S BT RS HR R = Lo -
AR A ) 3R 12 U EUK A AT R 75 25 /)
[i% B8 2% 17 & {& 25,092,080 7% 7T K 5k A
AR E S - MR —BERRG EE
IRIEE AL - 1EREIT KA TR E
FETEARFEE -

ARREE TR CHREASES
RARBENRERAHBEERER
REETEIHR L B AR 1T (8 R MR 1T
FEHEUARRBEE X ABBEEFRG
SREDET B TR L A SREV AR5 1E I A
(RMF=E30(@@) ~ (b) & (0) °

BT KA TR B HFTEENRER
R mBEREEARL  BERKEK
AR BRI FEHBBEITHRG - ZFEE
EERRIE R F R M RITER KA TR
BHEECE -HE-_T—NFE+=A
=+—H1EFE 27,000,000k 5K A
AR EFEKATRRESZAA
HpALRAR(ZTE—N\F &) -

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(c) Share capital (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 157,000 (2018: 455,000) share
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Nil (2018: 1,681,500)
share options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised to
subscribe for 157,000 (2018: 2,136,500) ordinary shares of the Company at
a consideration of HK$1.780 (2018: HK$1.780, HK$2.264, HK$3.300 and
HK$2.796) per share respectively, of which HK$0.10 (2018: HK$0.10) per
share was credited to share capital and the balance was credited to the share
premium account. HK$632,000 (2018: HK$3,011,000) has been transferred
from the capital reserve to the share premium account in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in Note 2(v)(ii).

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company held on 15 May 2013, bonus shares were made
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 24 May 2013, the record date, on the basis of two new shares
credited as fully paid for every five shares held, with an option to elect to
receive PCSs in lieu of all or part of their entitlements to the bonus shares.

The PCSs are unlisted and irredeemable but have conversion rights entitling
the holders of PCSs to convert into an equivalent number of shares as the
number of bonus shares which the holders of PCSs would otherwise be
entitled to receive under the bonus issue had the shareholder not elected
for the PCSs. Should the Company make any cash dividends or distributions
to its ordinary shareholders, the Company should also distribute the same
amount of cash dividends or distributions to the holders of the PCSs.

On 20 June 2013, an amount of HK$15,036,560 standing to the credit of
the share premium account was applied in paying up in full 150,365,600
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each which were allotted and issued as fully
paid to the shareholders who were entitled to those bonus shares and
did not elect to receive the PCSs. In addition, the PCSs in the amount of
HK$25,092,080 were issued to shareholders who elected to receive the
PCSs, and the same amount was capitalised from the share premium
account as reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs.

Upon completion of the bonus issue, adjustments were made to the exercise
price and outstanding number of share options and awarded shares granted
pursuant to the Group’s Pre-IPO and Post-IPO Share Option Schemes and
Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (see Notes 30(a), (b) and (c)).

Reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs was capitalised from the share
premium account for the purpose of issue of new shares upon conversion of
the PCSs. This reserve balance represents the aggregate amount of the PCSs
outstanding at the year end. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
27,000,000 PCSs were converted into ordinary shares by the holders of PCSs
(2018: Nil).
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(d) fEBMERMAR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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REE AARRAERBRE
XA IR SR AR BEEA
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(@

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or dividends to
equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of awarded shares and unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in Note 2(v)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(z).
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30 RA - HEERKRE @)
d BEEERAZ®G)
(V) HEEEEE

(v)

TEOEERBEE —RERE -
EEBBRBIEERSESE

—RE

—REEBTT DK - EREZ
FEEAEREESRET AR
ERFERETE - — KRBT
REFARREFIH AR A AR
HREFBBERIEMEAR

VETE BB 1

BREPEARE NEEMNF
BB AR (TREIELE)
AEE10%BRBRERRN (R
BREEERERE) BAX
ERHBMHE BERREER
EEHFEMERKS0% B LE o
EREZFHANRRR K
I B RIAETT ©

EE MR R BRI AR
EHEE (mE)  LaEB
BECRB BRI AR H 31T
R £ 348 N AR ZR B Al AT AR
R EEE R BB - EBTT
BESRITINEMELHN
25% °

VB fhi#E
MEBGHFHED TRY LR
B2 T ST BREIE -

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) PRC statutory reserves

(v)

PRC statutory reserves include general reserve, statutory surplus
reserve and statutory public welfare fund.

General reserve

The general reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this
reserve is determined by the board of directors in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. This reserve
can be used to offset accumulated losses and increase capital
upon approval from the relevant authorities.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC subsidiaries
of the Group (excluding foreign investment enterprises) are
required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of their registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the
shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after
such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Property revaluation reserve
Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2()).
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5 ENRERZEHE
RRFREFHE FRZHE

SRS E & EE T
BRARIMEMO DM S
ERREBEZEHERR
ARENFE Z ER =58

RBREBERMK - R
BEANTREE M
P KRER RN
BERAR - BEXKAERR
A -EREEARAAR
Fortune Mega International
Limited #)E & ©

REEHER DB R
Fr Em T EEREE
SERBRATELMZUR °

SR — PR AE (R
—E-FEL-AMAR
A-EREERES) K
RS -
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vi) Other reserve
The other reserve represents:

(M

The difference between the consideration received and
the net book value of Joinbest Enterprises Limited (“JEL")
and its subsidiaries for the deemed disposal of partial
interests in JEL. The deemed disposal was resulted from
the issuance of 1 ordinary share of JEL at premium upon
conversion of convertible notes held by a third party on
18 June 2006.

The differences between the consideration paid and the
net book value of certain subsidiaries for the acquisition
of additional interests in these subsidiaries from non-
controlling shareholders.

The differences between the consideration received and
the net book value of certain subsidiaries for the disposal
of the partial interests in these subsidiaries by the Group.

The deemed contributions from the ultimate shareholder
for the transfer of investment costs in JEL, Le Leman
International (Yuhang) Limited, Glory Wise Limited,
Fullshine Group Limited and Fortune Mega International
Limited at nil consideration pursuant to a reorganisation.

The amount arising from the reorganisation to rationalise
the group structure in preparation for the listing of the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange.

The waiver of repayment of amount due to a related
company beneficially owned by a shareholder of the
Company in December 2010.
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(e) EEUTDIREE

(f)

RZE—NAF+ZA=+—H &
ANE AR D IR T AR A = IR R A
FEEEE(RERSEESQARERDN
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2,198,096,0007% 7T) o TR & Hi M 4
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B 85 7 0 B 5 PR R I 4R LIS 6
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Distributability of reserves

(f)

At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Company’s memorandum and articles
of association, was HK$4,692,054,000 (2018: HK$2,198,096,000).
After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a final
dividend of 2 cents (2018: HK6 cents) per ordinary share, amounting
to HK$30,586,000 (2018: HK$ 91,757,000) (Note 30(b)). This
dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total equity at the end of the reporting period. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, convertible bonds, bonds payable and amounts due
to non-controlling interests (interest-bearing) less restricted and
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities for almost all
leases previously accounted for as operating leases as from 1 January
2019. However, the impact on the gearing ratio is not significant.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period and at
the date of transition to HKFRS 16 was as follows:

—EF-NEF
—HA—B
(B )

1 January
2019 (Note)
FHET
$'000

—E-)N\F
+=-B=+—8
(B &)

31 December
2018 (Note)
FHET

$'000

N
+=A=+-H

31 December
2019

TER

$'000

REEE Current liabilities
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 4,141,798 3,322,635 3,322,635
R EE Lease liabilities 31,604 19,609 -
AR E Convertible bonds = 1,461,691 1,461,691
FERES Bonds payable 500,355 783,150 783,150
JE 5 S5 4 25 FRIE Amounts due to non-controlling
(5t 8) interests (interest-bearing) = 233,442 233,442
4,673,757 5,820,527 5,800,918
kRBEME Non-current liabilities
RITRHMEE Bank and other borrowings 4,925,476 5,403,679 5,403,679
AR EH Lease liabilities 48,613 57,309 -
e iiiiiiiiiiiiii......... . 974089 5460988 ! 5,403,679
BEBE Total borrowings 9,647,846 11,281,515 11,204,597
W ZIRH M IERTER  Less: Restricted and pledged
deposits (2,612,642) (2,565,681) (2,565,681)
RehReEEHEE Cash and cash equivalents (2,115,129) (5,488,739) (5,488,739)
BXFE Net debt 4,920,075 3,227,095 3,150,177
REBE Total equity 9,840,173 10,696,056 10,696,056
a&Et = Gearing ratio 50.0% 30.2% 29.5%

M : AREERBEETERENLE
REBMBREENF 165 WA
BR-_ZF-—NEF—A—BNEFENE
B AR EARBEE G ER
BRI BREEHEEHNEE
BE - REWTE LBREHTTE
5l o RPFFE2(c) °

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is
not restated. See Note 2(c).
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from movements in its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade debtors and other debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

WER
—E-hF
2019
FEHEEE FREAAE BERE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $'000 $°000
1F AR Within 1 year 1.99% 85,655 1,702
BiB1E Over 1 year 100% 47,105 47,105
132,760 48,807
—ZT-N\F
2018
T B 1E X FRE&E B R
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $'000 $'000
1F AR Within 1 year 1.55% 83,410 1,290
i1 F Over 1 year 100% 36,408 36,408
119,818 37,698

BHEBERXIREBEMFHELR
BREREN - ZFHLRERHEMN
J2 Bk Ui 2 568 1 B HA TR 0 B AR A R
W BRI AROR R AN £ B S WK IR
BRFHANKERRNEIRZZME
WER -

ME=ZFTRENERZEUZES
SR ENYERKREEERR R
HEHKR ZEERSROESE
AR (Bt T AR BEERmaER
TYARZEERNE 2GRNSR
F19 - EL2WIBEE IR DOMER
ZE-NFF+ZA=+—HBEZE
—\FF+ZA=+—HBHFEFHE -
REBRE ZEERELENER
[ B (A 5 VR4 4 o O 4 3 I AR R T
ANERIE o

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past 2 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The loans to the third parties are fully secured by properties and
equity interests held by the third parties. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of the loans at the end of the reporting period,
without taking into account the collateral, and the key terms of
the loans are disclosed in Note 19. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from the loans is significantly mitigated by the
properties and equity interests held as collateral, with reference to
the estimated market value of the properties at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018.
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31 IBEREERERESBITEZD 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE @ VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) EHER S (a) Credit risk (Continued)

FE Uk B 5 B % EL A B WORR R ()
HREMEKHKIATNS AEEEH
RPEMERKEETEREER
B AEEREFNEBHRIEAEN
AT Y5 [ 1 3 A S P R B PR = AR
FrASR B RRERRRIES S MB
ARREFMEN SR REENKRE
B BEtE T HMEBURFIBELS
TEREREIARRABRATREAE A ES1E -

B P 3 33 T 8K e AN 5= (81 4F th /O BF 7%
RN NEEY ERE A E M
B AEEAREERRRNE
R-ZEVBERNBEHREE
B B RS A RBR A RE 33 R EE -

F A EWE 5 IR E b B YRR
MEEREREBNT

Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

For other debtors, regular review and follow-up actions are carried
out on long-aged other receivables, which enable management to
assess their recoverability and to minimise exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The specific impairment losses have been made
for the certain other receivables to reflect the relevant ECL.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as set out in
Note 33, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 33.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and other debtors during the year is as follows:

i = Rl =K=0F3 Balance at 1 January 177,298 402,082
FARLODEER Reversal to profit or loss during the year - (248,374)
FREBRBEEE Impairment losses recognised during the
year 28,462 352,452
FRE I ERIRE R AGTE  Amounts transferred out upon the
BRI RS ) S 5 derecognition of receivables measured
at amortised cost during the year - (319,171)
MEHZR Exchange difference (4,266) (9,691)

R+—A=+—B84&s Balance at 31 December 201,494 177,298
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31 iIBEREERESBEIT ALY 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
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REEETHERMNEA ﬂéﬁiaﬁ
BEEVSEESH (BEEEER
ERTEER S FRK) - EARE $
AEETENHE AEBENBR B
EHEQ_* EEHT&%E\HJ%//ILEQ@HHI
METBETERLE BREFR
HESHBEBARETES BB EA
REFZREREE  UEMEEH
EBERHARSHEST K -

TRFNAEESRABNRESR
FEEJ?%QE?EIE’J%‘H%.:“’J R =B E
BHRBERASRE (BEIAEHF
TY(ZZDE/;L_)&#&E;@FEEJ%%
EHONERFENMEMNK) RAE
ERFEKAHLY

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

“E-hE
2019
ENRBRRLR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—Fas BEA-F HEWMEF
EEXREE ELRAWE BIREFE HBBLF | HREE

Within  More than  More than
1year 1year 2 years
oron but less butless More than Carrying

demand than 2 years than 5 years 5 years amount

T T Fr T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 i $'000

RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings
HiMEBE (M) Other lease liabilities (Note)
FEfIES Bonds payable

FER R R IE Jr%ﬁ% Creditors and accrued charges
JER IR AR AR R Amounts due to non-

controlling shareholders

4,288,699 1974526 2,188,980 1,712,801 10,165,006 9,067,274

35,258 13,223 18,275 33,229 99,985 80,217
542,432 = - - 542,432 500,355
632,354 = - - 632,354 632,354

1,092,459 - = - 1,092,459 1,092,459

6,591,202 1,987,749 2,207,255 1,746,030 12,532,236 11,372,659
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31 iIBEREERESBE T ALY 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) RBELRR (&) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

—E-N\F
2018
BRRERRESR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BR—F  HAME
EBLRAFE EIRAF HBBREF 85 ARME

More than ~ More than

1 year 2 years
but less butless  More than Carrying
than 2 years  than 5 years 5 years amount
T T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 3,782,985 1,729,838 3,109,053 1,570,579 10,192,455 8,726,314
FERTES Bonds payable 858,659 - - - 858,659 783,150
BRES Convertible bonds 1,461,891 - - 1,461,891 1,461,691
JENEER LRt ER  Creditors and accrued charges 717,318 - - 717,318 717,318
JERS IR R AR R Amounts due to non-

controlling shareholders 1,170,569 - -

1,170,569 1,157,996

7,991,422 1,729,838 3,109,053 1,570,579 14,400,892 12,846,469

Bist : REBEBCEBRBITAWEN SR Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
RAEAMEREENFE 165 A A approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
BR-_ZE-NEF-RA-—BNFNLE lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
% NERERREE B ER leases under HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is
BN BALEHESENTEE not restated. See Note 2(c).

BiE - BERITA  LBRENTTE
51« RHHEE2() -
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HERTANDABEIRRRS
B B )RR o AN 5 B A A K
RETERNRERESFEER
ERBIREERFERIEREER -

rEBEBEY BekBEEEHEESR
B R R R B R B AR T & F 5
EAYE  RERBHETERA
ETE LR AREE -

BRAKENRITREMEBEERNEX
KB FRHRM T 24K E - REE Y
BEREUETEPERE IR AN X ER -

BBEDN
R=ZZT—AFE+=—A=+—8 "
FiBEEMEHEZTIE  HEFI=X
B H TR 100EED, - AER
RBR T BB RIR B & A #E Lt
MR EH TRmMERRD
8 HN4769,298,000/8 7t (Z & — N\
£ 160,792,000/ 7T) °

FHlBREESNTRT R AEE
RESHEEARENEEIITE
TEMELMNASRENXERMm
5 HAREERBRRIEERER (RRE
) BB E RN R E(CH M E
MXHWANFEZE - SR
T \FAERERET -

E¥ER
AEBEETFRAEREESHHETH
AET BEABOIRZAARK
AE-HRAKRERTENKRER
ETRERTBRAXUAREMEER
R (HEx)) =L (TEx)) &
BT (DR &% WAEBEHER
ARE LB TTE R KE S| B IMNE
R\ o g SN AR¥E T B BT
RO MABARE LB RING
785 P B KT 78 4 9 SN EE B I AR B
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged deposits and
borrowings issued at variable rates.

The Group does not anticipate significant impact to cash and
cash equivalents and the restricted and pledged deposits because
the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank and other
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 24. The Group does
not carry out any hedging activities to manage its interest rate
exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s loss after tax
and retained profits by approximately HK$69,298,000 (2018:
HK$60,792,000) in response to the general increase/decrease in
interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates that in respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2018.

Currency risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB
against Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") as a result of its investment
in Mainland China and the settlement of certain general and
administrative expenses and other borrowings in HKD, United States
dollars (“USD") or Australia dollars (“AUD"). In addition, RMB is
not freely convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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31 iIBEREERESBE T ALY 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE®@® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) E¥ER(®) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) E¥EK (i) Exposure to currency risk

TERFIRSREHNHELEER The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of
RASBRERNEBHEDES each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
BANEE A ENERREE assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
LEBEMEAZHEERR - 5t functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
2HmME - FEXRBR SN presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are shown
BHR - WIRA S REEHE in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end of each
EEHRMRNEERKBE - reporting period.

B RHEVEREEI Cash, restricted and pledged

2% deposits 143,964 31,772 9,664
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (934,680) = =
NREFH Corporate bonds (500,355) = -
EHEREERBE Net exposure arising from
EX8FRR recognised assets and
liabilities (1,291,071) 31,772 9,664

B RHEREIEI Cash, restricted and pledged

T3 deposits 1,727,459 2,042 9,610
HRITREMEER Bank and other borrowings (1,018,095) - -
AR E S Convertible bonds (1,461,691) - -
NGITEE Corporate bonds (783,150) - -

EHEREEREE Net exposure arising from
EXEeFRR recognised assets and
liabilities (1,535,477) 2,042 9,610
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31 iIBEREERESBEIT ALY 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE®E VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) E¥EEE) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) BREDN (i) Sensitivity analysis

TERETRRERBEEBAR
& @5 & KR B H) S B BE R
FE) (R FTA H MR R
BRI R AEERKRTRE
BB (RREBEF) HAIE
B HBFEAT BREETEH
HEBmERZEH TG EHB
TLERSE T 2 FA B B E RE A
BAXE HAKEWEQA
B UETHENSE S &%
45,820,000 T (ZF — )\ F :
B\ BRI BEHRINEEEB A A
R#& o

e usb
BIT AUD
BT HKD

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s loss/profit after tax (and retained profits) that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had
changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained
constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected
by any changes in movement in value of the USD against other
currencies, other than cash balances of HK$45,820,000 (2018:
nil) denominated in USD held by a subsidiary of the Group, of
which the functional currency is RMB.

—E-1E —E-N\F
2019 2018

HEER HERBABER SMNEER  HERBIEBN R
tH/(TE) RERANE EH/(TR) RERFIOEZ
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss after (decrease) profit after
in foreign EVENT in foreign tax and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates profits rates profits

T Fr

$'000 $'000

5%/ 2,291 5%/ -

(5%) (2,291) (5%) -

5%/ 1,589 5%/ 102
(5%) (1,589) (5%) (102)

5%/ 483 5%/ 431
(5%) (483) (5%) (481)

SMEBRE ST T IRIB A K B
RS B H e = B 50 E F BT
H(RRTFRERBENET
ABTLRRITEARE MIFHE
ERFAEMNRITHBTEXRE
B5%) HBRHERER B R
REBNOTESE ETE
BRI EBNI BRI IRE
BARE2INEEMELENE

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based on
the major net foreign currency exposure of the Group as at the
reporting date, assuming 5% change of USD, HKD and AUD
held by PRC entities against RMB and AUD held by non-PRC
entities against HKD on the loss/profit after tax and retained
profits and excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group’s presentation currency.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments held for trading and non-trading purposes (see Note
17). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes, all
of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong and are included in the Hang Seng Index. Decisions
to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of
the performance of individual securities compared to that of the
Index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry distribution, in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed against
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group, together with an assessment of
their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease)
of 5% (2018: 5%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments) or the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
loss after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

[ B B 12 A 1R (AR B A1) 38
AT

—F-hF
2019
HERBLE
BRRRE
B
Effect on

loss after
tax and
retained
profits
F
$'000

HERAEREREE Change in the relevant

—N\F
2018

HIRTIE
BARIRE
BAMM T E

Effect on
profit after
tax and
retained
profits
Tt
$'000

HEE : equity price risk variable:
8 Increase 5% 8,333 5% 9,438
B Decrease (5%) (8,333) (5%) (9,438)

FRED TR BRBEHE A
F A BREMISEBECE AR R E R
BEEREY HREEPANE
MAEAEERN RS AREREEER
< B HERAESRRN S
BITEAMSIBAKREGRREER (X
% BAM) RS HEEEE B A
BED- AEBRRKAKRERNEE
MARBEBSREAEKRENSE
203 AH B R e S B0 R R AR B R MR
mEe)  BFrAHMEEERFTE -
—E - \EFERDITIRAREEETT -

) ZBAOARBEUNIRENEHE
EREEANEE
IS5 B R P AN ok SH AR AR B BR Y &
MEERAERAEE BER_-F
—NFER_ZE-NF+=—A=+—
BNAABETESAEZE -

(f)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group's loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2018.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2018 and 2019.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement

(@

Fair value hierarchy

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager
performing valuations for the financial instruments, including
unlisted equity securities which are categorised into Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement is
prepared by the team at each interim and annual reporting
date, and reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with the chief
financial officer and the audit committee is held twice a year,
to coincide with the reporting dates.
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DAEBEER(E)

BEHEDNAEE  Recurring fair value
i Measurements
BE: Assets:

~RETEEAB - Receivables from the

EWE=RME  thid parties
~FREEERFE - Unlsted equity
rigAEs securities not held
for trading
~BARBEE - Hybridfinancal
investments
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products
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(@

HALEE
Fair value

December

tr
§'000

Fair value measurements as
at31  at31December 2019 categorised into at3]

F18
2019 Level 1

§000

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

AZE-hE+=F=1-H

DMEBHENEA INEER
Fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2018 categorised into
EAF E
Level 1

Fair value

24
Level 2

38 December

Level 3 201 EB Level 3

Level 2

T tr fr T T T T

§'000 §'000 §000 §/000 §000

1,166,943 = - 1166943 163994 - - 163994
100,701 = = 100,701 101,410 - - 101410
135,190 - - 135,190 - - - -

5,931 = 5,931 = 44135 - 44135 -
44,935 44,935 - - 42,084 42,084 - -
15,092 = 15,092 = 1139 - 1,139 -

E_T-NERZE-NF
TZA=+—HIEFE  #1
ERE2HR BN EERE TS
ABEIZNBBAREL - K
SENBEREEREENRE
HHEAEANAREBESERZ
MHER -

F2RARBEFEREAN
RETERBARE
LREEBFREESEUNLR
BEAREEAEMEBLTE
RETE °

BREMNALEBERLAEE
RIBEWEE B LT REAA
R U HR ) 8 55 T B E R O (AT
TH

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occurred.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of units in private security investment funds is
determined by invested portfolio and the underlying listed
price.

The fair value of wealth management products is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive to sale wealth
management products at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates.
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EEREEREMIARN
REE®@
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(i) BAEFEIRAAEBEFENE
#
FEWE=FRERNAAEET
FEAKRERRGHFESRE
MmE  ERFERFEHEERRN
D7 [ R B ik (B sk B E 2
ﬁﬁ@mm%ﬁﬂW$ME$
EZEINBRGTEEEE K
EETRRARITEE125%E
14.6% (ZE—\F : 125% =
13.1%) - KRG RERER
BRTIHB A AMEAE - At
EEEMBERERHESBED

=/ 80
FE o

BAESBMRENAREEREA
A EIRREFT RS RERIT
WRI122%ME °

FETRATANAABETD
BEBEAELR FHARIMNTE
R E - B KRBT %R @ T
WMARA25% (ZFT—\F -
25%)° AL EE ERRER
7/7J_/I\L Eﬁfﬁg\*ﬁ%ﬁ"

HHW FIR/ANEETEN
REEREEIT

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(iii)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of receivables from the third parties is
determined using future estimated cash flows to be recovered
which takes into account projects progress presumed or
operation forecast and discount rate from 12.5% to 14.6%
(2018: 12.5% to 13.1%) based on the average borrowing cost
plus a risk premium of the Group or weighted average cost of
capital relating to the specific business. The future estimated
cash flows reflect potential impacts of adjustments on the
projects’ capacity building areas, land use index and tax related
compensation, etc..

The fair value of hybrid financial investments is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered and discount
rate by 12.2%.

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments is determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of marketability discount at 25% (2018:
25%). The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to
the discount for lack of marketability.

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3 fair
value measurements is as follows:

n—A—8 At 1 January 1,741,374 91,271

i Additions 143,637 1,875,620
RIER PR FERE Net loss recognised in profit or loss (418,014) (179,509)
wE e Settlement/disposal (37,536) (38,649)
EH =% Exchange difference (26,627) (7,359)
W+=—A=+—8© At 31 December 1,402,834 1,741,374
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32 &IE
(@ RtT-—A=+—8BXETAERRAE
FEPEHEANBENE AN EER
™

32 COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not provided for
in the Group’s financial statements were as follows:

BET4 Contracted for 2,280,818 3,331,063
BEREERTH Authorised but not contracted for 1,408,362 1,188,948
3,689,180 4,520,011

BAAEIRAAREERTYE
MERAXEAKEIREBBEK
KER -

b)) RZZE-—NF+_A=+—H ' &
SEREBETARBEEEHEHENAR
N SERERIBLREMNT

Capital commitments mainly related to development expenditure for the
Group's properties under development and acquisition cost of the Group’s
projects.

(b) At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

UES

Properties

T
$'000

—FR" Within 1 year 27,230

—FRERFAN

After 1 year but within 5 years 30,641

hEE After 5 years 47,905

105,776

ANEEBARBERENZEES THE
SR 5 R 28 At D AR B TE B YK
A %EHELHBEESET
HAF17TRDERICEME - K&
EEEASEITENEaNEASR
B IS MEERIF 1658 - RIBI S
EoAEBERAER-_ZT—HNF— A
—BWMEYES ARREZER
EEANHEERRE(RIE20) - B
—ZT-NAF—B—Bi REWE
2m) BT MO BR SR - R R A& 5 5%
B RPERAAERRE B
BAEERKRBENKOFEBRW
FE25HE o

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and
items of plant and machinery and office equipment held under
leases which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to these leases (see Note 2(c)). From 1 January 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in
the statement of financial position in accordance with the policies
set out in Note 2(m), and the details regarding the Group's future
lease payments are disclosed in Note 25.
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33 HZAEE 33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

BYPREEMEERNIZBE B Guarantees given to financial institutions

&M M€ E M E R R for mortgage loan facilities granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties 412,197 592,070
3 EXBABAERS 34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@ BRUBHRENHEHBEHRBNOARS (@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
RSN REBFRNEF M T3 the financial statements, major related party transactions entered by
EWN R the Group during the year are follows:

FER IR TS Interest expenses to shareholders (i) 142,891 45,389
JEY—FRIEE S Interest income from a joint
A EMA venture (ii) 8,225 9,176
JE U — & AR 3R AR 7 A Service income from a shareholder (i) 5,087 -
JEY—RIEE S Service income from a
AR 75 4 A joint venture (ii) 3,341 2,093
JEA FERRR AR R F S F L Interest expenses to non-
controlling shareholders 1,977 13,061
FEU — [ EE & A7) Interest income from an associate
FEMA - 48,304
JE U IEFE RS A A B YR A Interest income from non-
controlling shareholders - 6,448
FEU — B AR R A B A Interest income from a shareholder = 13,493
B 5 Notes:
() FEAREFRLRNEESFFE (i) Interest expenses to shareholders were charged at a fixed interest rate of
13% 8% 14% (=ZF — )\F : 11.5% * 13% or 14% (2018: 11.5%, 12.29%, 13% or 14%) per annum.

12.29% ~ 13% 5 14%) 5t 8. °

iy BW—MEAELELEFRNSUWALEEF (i) Interest income from a joint venture was charged at fixed interest rates of
REF6.5%3:,58% (=T — \F: 6.5% or 5.8% (2018: 6.5%) per annum.

6.5%) &M 8 °

(i) MPEUR—BREREWALEK —HEE (iii)  Service income from a shareholder and service income from a joint venture
LHERBURABDEESIELBRS were property management consulting services income.

WA o
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

Remuneration of key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest
paid employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

HHEERF Short-term employee benefits 28,400 28,109
RIKEET Post-employment benefits 101 123
28,501 28,232

HFM@eE ATE TRA] (R
7(b)) °

HEARREERBRITHRA B M
BRNBEB TR SEBK ETRANE
TUAERENRER S - A ZFE
RHEHRRET ETRANE14AE
BTERH RERBIRRAAD
FE e

HARNARTEEREAE (BERSK
TTBABERSN) Zr i A B &9 BB 5 22
SUTEETHRUNEVVAEZERRTE
MBAER S HIFERERS -

MisE24 B BB EMEE - Wi
26 FTE AN RN RIBITA R ES T —
ZRERE Pt E— A EDER
HIWAEK ERAFELAERE
MEERFIBFERER S - LT
RABUAEMAEMNBEBRSNE
EgREE(EERS] -

_F 3t B R 220i) BT ek A R R A5 SRR R
RERENEE X ZEK TR
BIEUAZERTEMNBER HHIFE
FER S - A RIE EmHRAE
14A.9016 HRZER FIRIEF 5k
BEMEEGRRETATENLASE
EEEEET BhEREETLE
MHRBIE 4AZNHEERTE -

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 7(b)).

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
directors and chief executive of the Company constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
these transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of key
management personnel (other than directors and chief executive)
of the Company did not fall under the definition of connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The secured other borrowings as set out in Note 24, the convertible
bonds issued to a shareholder of the Company as set out in
Note 26 and the service income from a joint venture as set out
above constitute connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided
in section headed “Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions in respect of amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders as set out in Note 22(iii) constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However those
transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as they are conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and not secured by the assets of the
Group under Rule 14A.90.



282 HREEBEBMERAE _—TNFR

REMBHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

35 AEIBEEMBMRRE

POSITION

—F-hf
+=—B=+—H
31 December
2019

T
$'000

—F-NF
—A—H
1 January

2019

Q)
(Note)
Tr
$'000

35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

—E—N\F
+=A=+—8§
31 December
2018

(MF5E)

(Note)

Frx

$'000

ERBEE Non-current asset
RITBRRINIEE Investments in subsidiaries 220,022 220,186 220,186
HimE - BE R Other property, plant and
B4 equipment 994 4,954 -
221,016 225,140 220,186
REBEE Current assets
H b UL FR B Other receivables 11,883,978 8,918,620 8,918,620
ReKIIBELEEBAE  Cash and cash equivalents 250,319 1,258,309 1,258,309
HEt e &E Other financial assets 44,935 42,084 42,084
12,179,232 10,219,013 10,219,013
REBERE Current liabilities
RITEFLHEMEE  Bank loans and other
borrowings 1,291,918 781,290 781,290
HEARE Lease liabilities 1,020 4,954 -
Hh e )08 Other payables 5,773,628 5,076,414 5,076,414
AR E Convertible bonds = 1,461,691 1,461,691
ERHES Bonds payable 500,355 783,150 783,150
e 7,566,921 8,107,493 . 8,102,545
REBEERE Net current assets 4,612,311 2,111,514 2,116,468
BWEERABEE Total assets less current
liabilities 4,833,327 2,336,654 2,336,654
EEZFE NET ASSETS 4,833,327 2,336,654 2,336,654
BARRHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 30(a)
& A Share capital 141,273 138,558 138,558
(Gt Reserves 4,692,054 2,198,096 2,198,096
EEEE TOTAL EQUITY 4,833,327 2,336,654 2,336,654

M : ARRAER=_F-hF-A-BRALE

FEWMEN S RRAERBMBMELRE 16
e MU A LBREABATES - R

MisE2(c) ©

Note: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not

restated. See Note 2(c).
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36 LB BIE
AEBEERGETENEAR TN

ﬂgi

A—BHEXREREEMBRSEA

F165% BIBMITE  LBEHTTESY
R0

37

(a)

(b)

FARBEHRREE

RZE_EFVEBEENAERES
% ([COVID-19% & ]) & F BB
BEEE— X TEM REEE N -
COVID- 19 BER BB AT R &
YETETREELYEA4EHE
MR EEE - flan - AJaeE
A RS ETIE R ABRGE
[ B8 9NMET £ I B R B S 8 BORK AN 3
m-UEREMEZERZSRWER
BEESERS REEKFE B
MEHERARKLEYER S I
AR SRIEE - REBREEE
COVID-19%& [FH Lt g2 & - A -
AREE BRI ERCOVID-19ZER
BERHEFE WEEEETIHERA
- WAERREUE E 1A o

RBEWEEAE EFRBEN
KIS, - 2 — 5 5 R M 5 3000)
-
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36 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. See Note 2(c).

37

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(@)

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19
Outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been continually implemented across the PRC.
The negative impact brought upon by the COVID-19 Outbreak in
short term has affected the business and economic activities of
the Group to a certain extent. For example, it may lead to increase
of costs incurred by additional hygiene and epidemic prevention
requirements when rendering property management and related
services, as well as decrease or delay of revenue from sales of
properties and rental income from investment properties due to
various level of restrictions and controls over property development
activities and property investment activities. The Group is not yet
able to quantify the aforesaid influence of the COVID-19 Outbreak.
However, the Group will pay close attention to the development of
the COVID-19 QOutbreak and its impact and will continue to perform
relevant assessments and take proactive measures as appropriate.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in Note 30(b).
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SHBHRATIEEE - HESHE
%W%?F@i_v NE+F=
A=+ —BUEFEHRERARZEM
BWMRLERANE T RN ELR
BUHBREERNFEITRMERRAX] < &
ERREE TN AEERNEEEFENE
7] BRI o

_\A
ng

BEMBRE

BEGFENF 1R REES

AEBEEFEZEERBHAYERER
HENZE - BB ALAS  RAZS
EATAARHEEUBRRELEAN
TE-

RERNEIRIER]  EHAEE

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

FHERIE 8SRIEE] - EAAIEZE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

38 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17,
Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2019 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

RTESBRHHZ%&
MBS EEXR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

—E-TF—-H—H
1 January 2020

—E-TF—-H—H
1 January 2020

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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melsER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BEt-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
“E-N\FE —E—+t& —T—RE
2018 2017 2016
Tr T Tr
$000 $'000 $000
A Revenue 719,246 619,712 1,836,705 5,558,731 10,519,689
BRKA Direct costs (291,238) (279,768)  (1,266,053)  (4,548,121)  (7,324,878)
E5 Gross profit 428,008 339,944 570,652 1,010,610 3,194,811
BEMERHEAEE  Valuation gains on investment properties
HENREMENRG and investment properties classified as
Bl held for sale 197,409 292,344 172,934 436,025 458,981
N Other revenue 153,819 710,087 156,322 191,122 233,361
Hig (B518) Wz FE  Other net (loss)income (380,640) 256,948 7,480,450 735,933 (121,260)
HEREHAZ Selling and marketing expenses (51,619) (30,373) (114,014) (182,533) (243,960)
TEB X Administrative expenses (421,149) (320,462) (1,018,344) (750,868) (658,953)
ZHREMEWZIES  Impairment loss on trade and other
WEEE receivables (28,462) (104,078) (369,086) - -
BRI TRRIRE A AR Loss arising from the derecognition
HECREEEL of financial assets measured at
o) g amortised cost = (116,529) - - -
REEBEEN (Loss)/profit from operations
(B#R) /B7 (102,634) 1,027,881 6,878,914 1,440,289 2,862,980
BB Finance costs (323,353) (533,574) (655,530) (679,414) (509,340)
B EAREE Share of losses of associates (2,621) (76,317) (20,160) (6,037) (49,820)
EEEELEEBE Share of losses of joint ventures (15,781) (7,839) (754) (474) (6,997)
BrBiA (F5R) /BR (Loss)/profit before taxation (444,389) 410,151 6,202,470 754,364 2,296,823
gt Income tax (85,539) (282,352)  (1,592,912) 149,221 (1,243,072)
£E (F8) /BR (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585 1,053,751
BAT AT RS - Attributable to:
ARRERRE Equity shareholders of the Company (582,939) 102,610 4,642,246 866,428 773,443
FERER Non-controlling interests 53,011 25,189 (32,688) 37,157 280,308
FE(FR) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585 1,053,751
BEREX(BE)/ Basic (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BF (k) (0.38) 0.07 3.23 0.61 0.55
EREE(BR) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BF () (0.38) 0.02 2.61 0.42 0.54

M ARBER_Z—-NF—A-RLTEBEEHM

BREEMNEIFRFBH B RELERNFE 155
YHR=E-NF-A—-—BNFRABTEHBRE
HRIE165 - IBIFULTTE - LREHMTTED -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018 and HKFRS 16
at 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach respectively. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated.
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mERXEWER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

BE+-A=1+-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
“E-N\F ZE+F ZEZE-R%E

2018 2017 2016
T T Tt
$'000 §'000 $'000

FE(FB) /BR (Loss)/profit for the year (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585 1,053,751

FEHMZEKE (BRF  Other comprehensive income for the
REFPERER) year (after tax and reclassification

adjustments)
RATNERENDER Items that may be reclassified subsequently
E=MER : to profit or loss:
HEMBRARKHEE  Exchange differences on translation of
OB EEREEN reclassified to profit or loss upon
ELER disposal of subsidiaries (6) (2,450) (263,781) (25,015) -
BEBINEBARM Exchange differences on translation
BBREREELR of financial statements of foreign
B ERE subsidiaries (236,178) (530,189) 1,064,518 (941,173) (577,436)
[EEBARRIRASNE  Share of other comprehensive income
¥MHEMREKR of associates and joint ventures (6,851) (48,071) 81,016 (23,022) (20,125)
FEXEKRARH Total comprehensive income
for the year (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311 (85,625) 456,190
BT AL : Attributable to:
ARRERBRE Equity shareholders of the Company (815,551) (470,179) 5,442,801 (42,338) 249,150
FEE R Non-controlling interests 42,588 17,268 48,510 (43,287) 207,040
FERXEKRRAR Total comprehensive income
for the year (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311 (85,625) 456,190

s : AEEER-Z—N\FE—A—B¥LEBAEEY  Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018 and HKFRS 16

BREENE IR REBMBREERFE 155 - at 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach respectively. Under this
WHRZZT—NF—A—RBOSERAEEMBRS approach, the comparative information is not restated.

RIS 165 o BIFULTTE - LREHTTED -
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EFHBERE
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mEMBEARR T CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
ot S “2-\f 2 -2-% -5-1f
2019 2018 2015

r n r R T T S T T

§/000 $/000 §1000 000 000 $000 §1000 000 000 §1000
FRBEE Non-current assets
VI Investment propertis 6,207,551 5,704,379 4,837,896 6,046,160 7,116,034
H’M% “FiER  Other property, plant and

equipment 199,049 154,004 153,680 303,408 362,090

&
NAEHAEREER  Interests in leasehold land held
HEETiER for own use under operating

leases - - - 3391 3,881
6,496,600 5,858,473 4,991,576 6,352,959 7,482,005
EVEE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769 - - -
g Goodwill 40,736 40,736 - - -
REENENES Interest in associates 8739 11,558 1,385,817 87,118 21,095
RASOEMES  Interest in joint ventures 423597 479,29 533,571 2582 230,580
EeREE Other financial assets 1,338,322 1487235 151,309 246,318 24143
HWW%E Other receivables 210,027 - 1441512 - -
SRARCHEABR  Restricted and pledged deposis - - - - 11,939
}JEU}UE EE Deferred tax assets 75212 24,170 307,752 44,444 545,727
8,597,002 8,105,231 8,811,537 7,337,761 8,315,489
HBEE Current assets
BEREMADKAE  Inventories and other
contract costs 9,921,176 10,040,990 1,641,881 9,019,239 15,752,308
EhspAE Other finandil asses 130470 341,497 - 47979 253,701
ESFEREIEE  Tradeand other receiables 1,553,629 1,849,598 9,699,088 2,623,876 2,496,253
TEﬁWE Prepaid tax 20891 BN 51,703 133,295 283,132
RRELCABET  Restricted and pledged deposits 2,612,642 2,565,681 2,071,706 2,488,695 1,847,879
fﬁ%&%%ﬁlﬁa Cash and cash equivalents 2,115,129 5,488,739 4,599,697 3,713,086 3,789,854
\ . 16,353,937 20,309,676 18,064,075 18,026,170 24423127
ABBBELED  Investment propertes classified as
RENE held for sale 64,683 104,539 106,274 663,104 1,216,821
16,418,620 20414215 18,170,349 18,689,274 25,639,948
THEE Current liabilities
EHREMERTE  Trade and other payables 3,646,717 4,117,258 2730975 6,710457 10,042,749
EREE Contract liabilties 58,577 155,479 - - -
BITRAMES Bank and other borrowings 3,947,660 3,322,635 2921827 3,013,730 6,615,267
fHEaR Lease liabilities 31,604 - - - -
TERES Convertible bonds = 1,461,691 - - -
TSI Derivative financial instruments - - 22478 155,273 -
I Note payable - - 1,183,283 - -
JEfiiE Tax payatle 716,509 1,516,734 2213830 2,286,283 4,830,203
JEfT1ES Bonds payable 500,355 783,150 1,171,920 - -
Provision - 24,408 8923 - -
8,901,422 11,381,355 10,473,236 12,165,743 21488219
RHEEFE Net current assets 7,517,198 9,032,860 7,697,113 6,523,531 4151729

BEEFRHER  Total assets less current
liabilities 16,114,200 17,138,091 16,508,650 13,801,292 12,467,218




288 KEEREEARAFN T NEH

LEMBRE
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SREMBRRR @ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

Rt=A=t-H
ZE-AF “E-\F
w9 a8 .
T r r I T r
$/000 $/000 $/000 §/000 $/000 $/000 $/000 §/000 $/000 $/000
FhaaE Non-current liabilities
BIREMES Bank and other borrowings 5,119,614 5,403,679 2,663,521 2,152,264 2938677
EaES Convertible bonds = - 1,299,330 1,384,699 -
BELEER Loans from joint ventures = - - - _
E[TE% Bonds payable = - - 1275239 -
ENEE Note payable - - - 1,097,035 1,167,406
I Lease liabilties 48,613 - - - -
ELHEER Deferred tax iabilties 1,105,800 1023450 889,842 1,116,909 1,058,260
B Provision - 14,906 13048 - -
62140 6,442,035 4,895,741 7,026,146 5,164,343
EEFE NET ASSETS 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909 6,835,146 730,875
RARGE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
R Share capital 141,273 138,558 138,344 118,378 118,143
1 Reserves 9,542,968 10,443,721 11,312,202 5,780,518 6,107,708
KOABRREEL  Total equity attributable to
BEAE equity shareholders of the
Company 9,684,241 10,582,279 11,450,546 5,898896 6,225,851
FERESR Non-controlling interests 155,932 13,777 162,363 936,250 1,077,024
ERaE TOTAL EQUITY 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909 6,835,146 7,302,875

M : AEEER-T—N\F—A—B¥LEAEEY  Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018 and HKFRS 16

BREERNFBIRREBYHREERIFE 155 at 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach respectively. Under this
WHRZZE-—NF-A-—BOLSEAETBMBRE approach, the comparative information is not restated.
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